
 
 

WA529 Committee Meeting 
Thursday, November 12, 2020 

 
 
Zoom Meeting 
Registration Link: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZcsfuihpjgoHtCRQI6vKGdtBGed2iX5WIHJ  
2:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
 

AGENDA 
 

Call to Order: Welcome & Member Introductions 
 

• Approval of the September 9, 2020 Minutes    ACTION 
 

• Approval of the 2021 WA529 Committee Meeting Calendar  ACTION 
 

• Program Updates        INFORMATION 
Luke Minor, WA529 Director 
Sally Riefenstahl, Sumday Administration 
 

• WA529 Outlook – 2020 and beyond      DISCUSSION 
Committee Discussion 
 

• 2020 GET Actuarial Valuation Report     INFORMATION 
Sarah Baker and Michael Harbor, Office of the State Actuary 
Marc Webster, WSAC Director of External Affairs 
 

• Legislative Report Review      INFORMATION 
Luke Minor, WA529 Director 

 
• Public Comment 

 
• Adjournment 

 
 

 
Next Regularly Scheduled Meeting 

TBD 
(Pending Committee Approval of 2021 Meeting Calendar) 

https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZcsfuihpjgoHtCRQI6vKGdtBGed2iX5WIHJ


WA529 Committee Meeting 
Thursday, November 12, 2020 

 
 

Committee Member Packet Contents – Index 
 

 
Agenda Item & Presentation Location Background Materials 

Approval of the September 9, 2020 
Minutes 
(Slide 2) 

1 - 09.09.20 WA529 Committee Meeting Minutes 

Approval of the 2021 WA529 
Committee Meeting Calendar 
(Slide 3) 

2 - 2021 Proposed WA529 Committee Meeting Calendar 

Program Updates 
(Slides 4-25) 
 

3 - GET 2020 Third Quarter Committee Report 

4 - GET Q3 2020 Investment Report (WSIB) 

5 - DreamAhead 2020 Third Quarter Committee Report 
(Sumday) 

6 - DreamAhead Investment Advisory Report Q3 2020 
(Lockwood) 

WA529 Outlook – 2020 and beyond 
(Slides 26-30) See Main Meeting Deck Slides 

2020 GET Actuarial Valuation Report 
(Slides 31-44) 7 - Draft.2020.GAVR 

Legislative Report Review 
(Slides 45-48) 

8 - DRAFT WA529 FY20 Rollover Report 
9 - DRAFT DreamAhead FY20 Fee Report 

 



11/6/2020

1

Adjournment

Committee Meeting
November 12, 2020

Action

2

Approval of the September 9, 2020 
WA529 Committee Meeting Minutes 

1

2



11/6/2020

2

Action

3

• January 20, 2021*
• May 6, 2021
• September 15, 2021
• November 17, 2021
*Expected to be virtual via video conference

Approval of the 2021 Committee 
Meeting Calendar

Notes: All meetings scheduled for 2‐4pm on the 
Capitol Campus in Olympia, WA unless noted. 
Special meetings may be added as necessary.

Program Updates

Luke Minor

Director, WA529

Sally Riefenstahl

Account Executive, Sumday Administration

4

3

4



11/6/2020

3

Program Updates

Agenda

WA529 Marketing Update

GET Update

• General update

• Investment update

DreamAhead Update

• General update

• Investment update

5

Program Updates

6

WA529 Marketing Update

• New WA529 website

• Launched October 26

• Consolidated three websites into one

• ‘One‐stop‐shop’ for families to learn about and compare 
GET & DreamAhead, enroll, and access online accounts

• Paid Advertising Campaign update

• DreamAhead media began mid‐August

• Added GET media Nov. 2; ramped up Nov. 4

• Digital, social, radio, television

• Targets: parents & grandparents of school age children

• News programming, news seekers on web, &
appointment viewing

5

6



11/6/2020

4

Program Updates

7

WA529 Marketing Update

• Newborn Enrollment Promotion
• All new accounts with beneficiaries under 

18 months of age receive a WA529 baby 
onesie

GET Updates

8

• Enrollment opened on November 1 with a unit price of $133

• Enrollment closes May 31; unit price expires June 30

• Up to the minute enrollment figures (as of November 12, 2020):

• Applications

• New Custom Monthly accounts

• New Lump Sum accounts

• Total units sold since November 1

7

8



11/6/2020

5

Account Owner Age Trends

Notes: Data‐as‐of 8.24.20

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

55%

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2017 2018 2019

Account Owner Age at Time of Enrollment
24 Years or Under 25‐34 Years 35‐44 Years 45‐54 Years 55‐64 Years 65 Years or Older

En
ro

llm
en

t 
C

lo
se

d

Average Age of Student Beneficiary 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average Beneficiary Age at Time of Enrollment

En
ro

llm
en

t 
C

lo
se

d

Notes: Data‐as‐of 10.19.20. Includes all active and inactive accounts. 

9

10



11/6/2020

6

‐$15M

‐$10M

‐$5M

$0M

$5M

$10M

$15M

$20M

$25M

Q4 2019 Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020

Distributions and Contributions

Payments to Schools Reimbursements    Electronic payments    Paper checks    Gift payments    Payroll deduction

Notes: Data‐as‐of 10.12.20

Distributions vs. Contributions 
by Quarter

Prepaid 529 Plan Comparison

Notes: Data‐as‐of 6.30.20. Source: Strategic Insight

 $‐

 $2,000

 $4,000

 $6,000

 $8,000

 $10,000

 $12,000

 $14,000

 $16,000

FL MA MD MI MS NV PA Private TX WA AL IL KY OH SC TN TX VA WV

Open Closed

2Q 2020 Assets (in $M)

11

12



11/6/2020

7

Prepaid 529 Plan Comparison

Notes: Data‐as‐of 6.30.20. Source: Strategic Insight

 ‐

 100,000

 200,000

 300,000

 400,000

 500,000

 600,000

FL MA MD MI MS NV PA Private TX WA AL IL KY OH SC TN TX VA WV

Open Closed

2Q 2020 Number of Active Accounts

Prepaid 529 Plan Comparison

 $‐

 $5,000

 $10,000

 $15,000

 $20,000

 $25,000

 $30,000

 $35,000

 $40,000

 $45,000

 $50,000

FL MA MD MI MS NV PA Private TX WA AL IL KY OH SC TN TX VA WV

Open Closed

2Q 2020 Average Account Size

Notes: Data‐as‐of 6.30.20. Source: Strategic Insight

13

14



11/6/2020

8

Prepaid 529 Plan Comparison

Notes: Data‐as‐of  6.30.20. Payout data for current and legacy MS plans are combined. Payout data unavailable for MA, TN, WI, and WV. 

 $‐

 $1

 $2

 $3

 $4

 $5

 $6

FL MD MI MS NV PA Private TX WA AL IL KY OH TX VA

Open Closed

$ Paid Out Since Inception (in $B)

GET Q3 Investment Update

Source: GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarterly Report – September 30, 2020, WSIB

15

16



11/6/2020

9

GET Q3 Investment Update

Source: GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarterly Report – September 30, 2020, WSIB

GET Q3 Investment Update

Source: GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarterly Report – September 30, 2020, WSIB

17

18



11/6/2020

10

2020 Third Quarter

Committee Report
November 12, 2020

Information Classification: Public20

Sumday COVID‐19 update

Fund Event 
• Fund swap scheduled to occur 12/1
• Account owner notification
• Program Details Booklet: Supplement
• Website

Morningstar Bronze Ranking 

19

20



11/6/2020

11

Information Classification: Public21

Overview for the Current Quarter

• $793,509,010 in AUM 

• 25,886 Funded Accounts

• 488 New Accounts

• 5,054 Accounts with Zero Dollar Balance

• Market Performance of ‐$2,695,023

• Contributions of $7,548,289

• Distributions of $31,781,967

Information Classification: Public22

Asset growth shows strong return of market performance 

Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020

Net Flow ($31,699,866) ($27,100,668) ($22,401,217) ($4,931,076) ($24,233,678)

Total AUM $823,237,487 $817,837,100 $753,172,897 $798,829,765 $793,509,010

Market Performance $7,716,822 $21,700,281 ($45,262,724) $50,587,944 ($2,695,023)

Previous AUM $847,220,531 $823,237,487 $817,837,100 $753,172,897 $798,829,765

$823,237,487  $817,837,100  $753,172,897 
$798,829,765 

$793,509,010 

$847,220,531
$823,237,487 $817,837,100

$753,172,897

$798,829,765 

($100,000,000)

$100,000,000

$300,000,000

$500,000,000

$700,000,000

$900,000,000

A
U

M

Net Asset Growth in Dollars

Net Asset Growth

21

22



11/6/2020

12

Information Classification: Public23

Contributions & Distributions

$6,829,055  $7,947,842  $8,982,869  $7,899,633  $7,548,289 

($38,528,921)
($35,048,510)

($31,384,086)

($12,830,709)

($31,781,967)

($50,000,000)

($40,000,000)

($30,000,000)

($20,000,000)

($10,000,000)

$0

$10,000,000

$20,000,000

Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020
Contributions Distributions

Distributions are back near trend, but trailing same quarter in 2019, possibly affected by COVID‐19.

Information Classification: Public24

Cumulative Account Growth – Last Twelve Months

Oct
'19

Nov
'19

Dec
'19

Jan
'20

Feb
'20

Mar
'20

Apr
'20

May
'20

Jun
'20

Jul
'20

Aug
'20

Sep
'20

 Total Funded Accounts 25,56025,75026,01925,35625,56925,797 25,41 25,59 25,93 25,47 25,68 25,88

 GET Rollover 3 1 ‐ ‐ ‐ ‐ 3 4 7 2 6 3

New Accounts 197 190 269 301 213 228 209 179 340 157 173 158

 ‐

 50

 100

 150

 200

 250

 300

 350

 400

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

To
ta

l  G
ET &

 N
e

w
 

A
cco

u
n

ts

23

24



11/6/2020

13

Information Classification: Public25

DreamAhead Investment Update

Q3 Investment Performance

• All Static and Year of Enrollment portfolios have met their respective benchmarks 
in Q3 2020, year‐to‐date, and trailing 12 month period. 

• No remedial action is necessary. 
• There are no funds on the Watch List. All funds have performed as expected.

**Review “Investment Advisory Report – Second Quarter 2020” for more details**

Strategic Planning discussion

Building a roadmap to help more 
Washington families save more 
money for future education 
expenses

26

WA529 Outlook
2020 and Beyond

25

26



11/6/2020

14

Key Outcome for November and January: 

 Determine WA529’s mission/purpose

Considerations:

• Fully develop high‐level strategy before diving into tactics

• Consider WA529’s fit within and support of WSAC Strategic Framework

• This state sponsored program should be more than just passing along a federal tax 
benefit

• Explore new programs/initiatives/features to add value for Washingtonians and 
better serve underrepresented communities

27

WA529 Outlook
2020 and Beyond

Key themes from September Committee Meeting

• State not just offering avenue to a federal tax benefit – greater public policy purpose

• Put 529 plans into framework of how to make college more affordable for more 
families and help boost college accessibility and attendance of disadvantaged groups

• Help WA residents save for various needs and take full advantage of plans flexibility

• Take a holistic approach/view, with a focus on equity and diversity

• Determine how to distinguish our plans from others, determine where we are 
competitive and where are we not, and better understand the market

• Look at case studies/best practices from other states, especially where it has led to 
better outcomes for students and families

• Consider a joint meeting with council and consider WA529’s role in the WSAC 
strategic framework

28

WA529 Outlook
2020 and Beyond

27

28



11/6/2020

15

29

Key focus 
area for 
WA529

WSAC Strategic Framework

WA529 Outlook
2020 and Beyond

Next steps

Begin developing strategic framework

• Continue discussion to define mission/purpose

• Develop preliminary goals and measures

• Begin developing a more detailed timeline for development and 
implementation

• Identify resource needs (e.g. should we create any workgroups or 
subcommittees?)

Review progress on WA529 data dashboard development

• Settle on key measurement areas and inputs

30

WA529 Outlook
2020 and Beyond

29

30



11/6/2020

16

2020 GET Actuarial
Valuation Report Overview

31

Sarah Baker

Michael Harbour

Office of the State Actuary

Marc Webster

WSAC Director of External Affairs

Office of the State Actuary
“Supporting financial security for generations.”
Office of the State Actuary

2020 GET Actuarial Valuation Report Overview

Presentation to: WA529 Committee

November 12, 2020

Michael Harbour, ASA, MAAA, Actuary
Sarah Baker, Actuarial Analyst

31

32



11/6/2020

17

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

33

Today’s Presentation

• Summary of the updated actuarial analysis to help evaluate plan health
• Key assumptions used in the actuarial analysis
• Significant factors in this year’s valuation

2020 GET Actuarial Valuation Results

• Risk inherent in actuarial measurements
• Historical funded status and tuition growth
• Sensitivity of results to assumptions and methods

Interpretation of 2020 Results

• GET Experience Study
• External factors that may impact actuarial analysis

Factors That May Influence 2021 Results

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

34

Summary of Contract Data and Key Assumptions

Tuition growth assumptions updated to reflect adopted tuition growth rates 
for 2020-21 academic school years; OSA best estimate, unchanged from last 
year, thereafter

Contract Summary

2020 2019
Number of Current 
Contracts

67,153 67,215 

Number of Units 
Outstanding

10,289,070 10,418,088 

Key Assumptions

Investment Return
All Years 4.75%Notes: 
Tuition GrowthNotes: 

Notes: 
2020-21 2.4%
2021-29 5.5%
2029-31+ 5.0%

Notes: Target asset allocation: 
40% global equities; 60% fixed 
income.

Notes: Notes: Academic school year.

Lowered assumed rate of investment 
return from 5.25% to 4.75% based on the 
new asset allocation, WSIB’s 2019 CMAs, 
simulated returns over a 15-year period, and anticipated long-term market 
impacts from the current recession

33

34



11/6/2020

18

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

35

Funded Status Summary

June 30, 2020, actuarial valuation results compare to roll-forward results of 
132% and $375 million for the funded status and reserve respectively
Please see the June 30, 2020, GET Actuarial Valuation Report for all 
supporting information

Funded Status Summary

(Dollars in Millions) 2020 2019
Present Value of Future Obligations $1,190 $1,108 
Present Value of Fund $1,559 $1,456 
Funded Status  131.0% 131.3%
Reserve/(Deficit) $369 $347 

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

36

Summary Comments on 2020 Results

Significant factors for this year’s valuation include the following
Reduction to the prospective assumed rate of investment return from 
5.25 percent to 4.75 percent (decrease to funded status)
Investment returns of 7.40 percent exceeding the expected 5.25 percent for 
the plan year ending June 30, 2020 (increase to funded status)
The addition of new units purchased after last year’s actuarial valuation
See gain/loss analysis in full report for further details

35

36



11/6/2020

19

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

37

Risks Inherent in Actuarial Measurements

Caution should be exercised when reaching conclusions or taking actions 
based on a single, point-in-time measurement
Changes to assumptions, or experience that plays out differently than 
expected, can lead to significant changes in the measurements
Higher likelihood short-term experience will deviate from our assumptions 
in 2021

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

38

Funded Status and Tuition Growth History

-15%

-10%

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

160%

Tu
it

io
n

 G
ro

w
th

F
u

n
d

ed
 S

ta
tu

s

37

38



11/6/2020

20

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

39

Sensitivity of Funded Status to Asset Valuation Method

Funded status also sensitive to the asset valuation method
Best estimate funded status based on the market value of assets
We show the funded status under an actuarial (or smoothed) value for 
comparison

Sensitivity to Market Fund Value

Closed ProgramNotes: 

(Dollars in Millions)
Best 

Estimate
Actuarial 

Fund Value
PV of Fund $1,559 $1,538 
PV of Obligations $1,190 $1,190 
Reserve/(Deficit) $369 $348 
Funded Status 131% 129%
Note: PV means Present Value.
Notes: Based on current contracts only, no future unit 
sales.

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

40

Sensitivity of Results to Key Assumption Changes

Results sensitive to changes in assumed rates of tuition growth and 
investment return (“return”)
Table above illustrates how the results of our “best estimate” change when 
we vary the assumed rates of tuition growth and investment return

Sensitivity of Results to Key Assumptions (Closed ProgramNotes: )

Tuition Growth Investment Return

(Dollars in Millions)
+1% 

Tuition
Best 

Estimate
-1% 

Tuition
-2% 

Return
-1% 

Return
Best 

Estimate
+1% 

Return
PV of Fund $1,559 $1,559 $1,559 $1,568 $1,564 $1,559 $1,555 
PV of Obligations $1,263 $1,190 $1,124 $1,364 $1,272 $1,190 $1,117 
Reserve/(Deficit) $297 $369 $436 $205 $291 $369 $439 
Funded Status (as of June 30) 123% 131% 139% 115% 123% 131% 139%
Notes: Based on current contracts only, no future unit sales.

39

40



11/6/2020

21

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

41

Factors That May Influence 2021 Results

A new GET Experience Study where we take a deep dive into key assumptions 
including

Tuition growth
Investment return
New entrant profile

The results of the experience study, 2021 actuarial valuation, and price-
setting analysis for the 2021-22 enrollment period may be influenced by

Updated Capital Market Assumptions 
2021-23 Biennium tuition policy

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

42

Questions?

41

42



11/6/2020

22

Office of the State Actuary
“Supporting financial security for generations.”

Thank You

Questions?  Please Contact: The Office of the State Actuary

leg.wa.gov/OSA; state.actuary@leg.wa.gov

360-786-6140, PO Box 40914, Olympia, WA 98504

Michael Harbour and Sarah Baker

O:\GET\2020\2020GAVROverview-11.12.20.pptx

November 12, 2020

O
ffice of the State A

ctuary

44

Funded Status Details

Program Obligations include the 
present value of administrative 
expenses; administrative 
expenses provided by GET 
program staff
Fund Value includes the present 
value of monthly contract 
receivables

2020 Funded Status
(Dollars in Millions)

Obligations
a)Present Value of Unit Redemptions $1,161 
b)Present Value of Administrative Expenses $30 
c)Present Value of Obligations (a+b) $1,190 

Market Fund Value
d)Assets $1,458 
e)Present Value of Monthly Contract Receivables $102 
f)Present Value of Fund (d+e) $1,559 

Calculation of Funded Status
g)Present Value of Fund (f) $1,559 
h)Present Value of Obligations (c) $1,190 
i)Ratio of Market Fund Value to Obligations (g/h) 131.0%
j)Reserve / (Deficit) (g-h) $369 

43

44



11/6/2020

23

Legislative Report Review

45

Luke Minor

Director, WA529

FY2020 Rollover Report

• RCW 28B.95.045 requires the Committee to report out annually on rollover activity in and out 
of DreamAhead.

• 84% of the rollovers from DreamAhead to out‐of‐state plans were for accounts that originally 
rolled over from GET as part of the incentive program offered by Senate Bill 6087 (2018).

**See “DRAFT Washington College Savings Plans Rollover Report” 
in meeting materials.**

46

GET and DreamAhead Rollovers – State Fiscal Year 2020

Rollover Type Number of Accounts

Incoming Rollovers From Out‐of‐State Plans
Rollovers into GET 63
Rollovers into DreamAhead 61

Outgoing Rollovers to Out‐of‐State Plans
Rollovers from GET 68
Rollovers from DreamAhead 558

Rollovers between GET and DreamAhead
Rollovers from GET to DreamAhead 28
Rollovers from DreamAhead to GET 29

45

46



11/6/2020

24

DreamAhead Fee Report

• RCW 28B.95.087(3) limits annual fees to participants for any 
investment option to 50 bp (0.5%).

• Effective December 1, 2020, total annual asset‐based fees vary from 
0.254% to 0.333%, depending upon the Portfolio(s) a participant 
chooses.

• Since this report was last updated in December 2019, DreamAhead 
has again been able lower asset‐based fees for participants. The 
most notable decreases occurred in the more conservative 
investment options, primarily due to a change in the underlying 
money market fund (e.g. Cash Preservation portfolio fees were 
lowered by 7 bps).

47

DreamAhead Fee Report

• DreamAhead received a “Bronze Medal” in Morningstar’s 2020 529 
plan ratings. As part of this rating, Morningstar determined that 
DreamAhead’s fees were “Below Average,” which garnered a 
“Positive” rating in their “Price” pillar. 

• DreamAhead continues to be rated highly by savingforcollege.com, 
based on their “5‐cap” rating system. As of November 1, 2020, 
DreamAhead was rated 5 out of 5 caps for in‐state residents and 4.5 
out of 5 caps for out‐of‐state residents, with a “Fee Score” of 4.5 out 
of 5.

**See “DRAFT DreamAhead College Investment Plan Program Fees
Report” in meeting materials.**

48

47

48



11/6/2020

25

Public Comment

Process

• Submit written comment or request 
to provide verbal comment via 
Zoom comment window or ‘Raise 
Hand’ feature.

• You can submit written comments 

• Send to GETInfo@wsac.wa.gov
and include the subject line: 
“GET Committee Statement.”

49

Share Your Thoughts

Next Regular meeting

50

January 20, 2021
2:00 pm – 4:00 pm

Location TBD
(Expected to be virtual via Zoom)

49

50



11/6/2020

26

Adjournment

Adjournment

51



WA529 Committee Meeting Minutes 
September 9, 2020 

GoTo Webinar  
Virtual Meeting 

 
WSAC/WA529 Staff in Attendance: 
Luke Minor, Christina Crawford, Daniel Payne, Betsy Hagen, Rodger O’Connor, Don Bennett, 
Kari Clark, Diana Hurley, Melissa Huster, Jackie Ferrado, Jennifer Dyck, Wendell Jopson, Kim 
Porter. 
 
Presenters in Attendance: 
Sally Riefenstahl, Sumday/BNY Mellon 
Matt Smith and Graham Dyer, Office of the State Actuary 
Nick Procyk and Matt Forester, Lockwood Investments/BNY Mellon 
Chris Phillips and Chris Hanak, Washington State Investment Board 
 
Guests in Attendance: 
Rick Brady, Attorney General Office 
Sarah Baker and Katie Gross, Office of the State Actuary 
Kate Henry, Michele Alishahi, Steven Ellis and Megan Mulvihill, Washington State Legislature 
Breann Boggs, Office of Financial Management 
Mike Bay, Nate Shaw, and Scott Chisa, TVW 
 
WELCOME  
Mike Meotti, Chair of the WA529 Committee, called the meeting to order at 2:04 p.m. The other 
WA529 Committee members in attendance were Brenda Snyder, proxy for Treasurer Duane 
Davidson, Director of the Office of Financial Management (OFM), David Schumacher, citizen 
member, Linden Rhoads and citizen member, Touk Sinantha. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE SEPTEMBER 09, 2020 MINUTES                                                                      
Rhoads moved to approve the minutes. Seconded by Snyder. Four ayes by Meotti, Snyder, 
Rhoads and Sinantha. Motion carries and minutes approved as presented.   
 
PROGRAM UPDATES 
Luke Minor, WA529 Director, and Sally Riefenstahl, Sumday Account Executive, provided GET 
and DreamAhead program updates.  
 
In response to the COVID-19 crisis, the WA529 and Sumday teams have been working remotely 
since mid-March. Phone hours have been reduced for both programs, but full support remains for 
emails and support tickets. Customer feedback has been generally positive during this transition.  
 
Since stay at home orders have gone into effect, GET program enrollments, contributions, and 
customer inquiries have generally been down. Minor noted that GET enrollments closed for the 
2019-20 enrollment year 15 percent behind last year, with a total of 3,381, but unit sales did hit 
the statutory goal of 500,000, coming in at 502,902.  
 



Minor noted GET projects in process including a partnership with the Tacoma Housing Authority 
(THA) on children’s savings accounts (CSAs), an enhanced scholarship platform, EFT 
distributions to customers, and a tax reporting interface overhaul. Sinantha asked how many assets 
Tacoma Housing Authority (THA) has with the program.  Minor replied that he would like to get 
permission from THA before sharing that information but that they have close to 200 participants. 
Meotti noted that the partnerships will tie in strategically with other work that the council does. 
 
Minor gave a second quarter GET investment update noting that as of June 30, 2020, the GET 
fund was at $1.46 billion with asset allocations remaining within the new target ranges put into 
effect last December.  There was a 12% return for the quarter and 7.4% for the one-year period. 
Rhoads asked what the assumptions were for the target annual return for the total portfolio and 
how often that is refreshed.  Chris Phillips and Chris Hanak with the Washington State 
Investment Board (WSIB), replied that 5.55% was the midpoint average annual return for the 
modeled portfolio in the 2019 asset allocation study. This was based on long term capital market 
assumptions from 2019, which will be refreshed in 2021. Phillips offered to provide more detailed 
capital market assumption information to the committee.  
 
Riefenstahl provided a DreamAhead update. She noted that the Sumday team received instruction 
from their CEO that they will remain working in a remote environment through the end of the 
calendar year 2020.  DreamAhead enrollment and contribution activity and call center volume has 
been a bit slower but remained steady. Riefenstahl provided a second quarter DreamAhead 
investment update, noting that all portfolios met their respective benchmarks year-to-date and for 
the trailing 12-month period, that no remedial action is necessary. Riefenstahl also highlighted the 
work to submit an RFI to 529 plan ratings outlet, Morningstar, and recent program changes, 
including: year of enrollment fund exchanges and additions as directed by the committee in the 
May meeting; more flexible withdrawal options for customers; and security enhancements.  In the 
face of the pandemic and market strains, people are still enrolling in DreamAhead.  
 
Minor shared that staff continues to monitor market activity and any possible state and federal 
budget and policy changes that would impact the programs, including a bill at the federal level 
that would temporarily allow expanded, private K-12 expenses.    
 
Minor provided an update on the development of customer surveys, strategic partnerships, and a 
WA529 data dashboard to help inform committee members and stakeholders how the program is 
tracking compared to its goals. The dashboard framework is currently being built and is targeting 
a phase one launch by January 2021. 
 
Minor gave an overview of 529 marketing efforts. In response to COVID-19, funds have been 
directed to more digital, social and TV news programming. Community outreach efforts have 
adapted to the COVID-19 impacts and continue with a major shift to virtual learning sessions.  
WA529 is working to strengthen partnerships with other financial literacy and educational 
groups, including plans to launch a refreshed web presence that will bring DreamAhead and 
GET under one umbrella.    
 
 
 



WA529 OUTLOOK-2020 AND BEYOND 
Meotti led the kickoff to an extended strategic planning conversation among committee members 
about the future of WA529. Meotti started with a timeline for the next year and key questions for 
the committee to answer. Key questions before the committee in this discussion are: what are our 
goals; what is the plan to achieve those goals; how is progress measured; how often should the 
goals be revisited; and how do we keep equity at the center of our work?  
 
Sinantha asked if the committee should be looking for a vision for GET and DreamAhead 
together or separately.  Meotti noted this was a good question and that he recommended the 
committee look at what the market is for these programs and also what a good form of measure 
is. For example, is the ideal measure the amount of savers, the amount of assets under 
management, or something different? 
 
The committee discussed their goal to spread awareness of the plans broadly, the tax benefits and 
the options available for use in education, not just for Universities, while increasing the 
competitiveness of the plans as far as fees and performance. 
   

• Snyder emphasized the need to look at all the ways that 529 plans can be used, various 
family needs and opportunities, and take a holistic view that a family can save for child’s 
future, no matter what it looks like.  

• Sinantha said we should focus on what makes our plans competitive and best in class – 
customers can shop among different 529 plans. For DreamAhead, she noted, the 
Morningstar review will be a good first indicator of where we are competitive and where 
we can improve. 

• Rhoads expressed interest in helping residents take full advantage of the plans’ 
flexibility, looking for case studies and best practices from other states, and helping boost 
college access and attendance to disadvantaged groups. 

 
Meotti concluded with sharing that the Committee will want to consider how 529 plans fit into 
the broader college affordability framework for the state and that a joint meeting with WSAC 
council members may be beneficial. He stated that during the November meeting, the committee 
will take a deeper dive and set up a road map to inform the Committee’s work for 2021. Meotti 
invited Committee members to submit points of discussion they want to focus on in advance of 
the next meeting. 
 
FISCAL YEAR 2021 BUDGETS 
Minor highlighted the Fiscal Year 2020 (FY20) Budget vs. Actual spending.  The approved 
FY20 budgets were $5.55 Million for the GET Program and $992,500 for DreamAhead.  The 
actual expenditures were about 10% under budget with GET at $4.9 Million and DreamAhead at 
$889,900.  The primary reasons for these variances were salary savings, lower than anticipated 
indirect and COVID-19 impacts.  The proposed budget for Fiscal Year 2021 (FY21) is 
$5,427,485 for the GET Program and $990,895 for DreamAhead. 
 
Rhoads moved to approve the Fiscal Year 2021 Budgets.  The motion was seconded by Sinantha.  
Five ayes from Snyder, Rhoads, Meotti, Sinantha and Schumacher. Motion approved as 
presented. 



2020-21 GET UNIT PRICE SETTING 
State Actuary, Matt Smith and Graham Dyer with the Office of the State Actuary presented the 
2020-21 GET unit price-setting and risk analysis to the committee.  The Program is currently 
132% funded with a $375 million reserve as of June 30, 2020.  The best estimate unit price range 
for the next enrollment period is $129-$147.  Reserve levels ranging from 10%-20% were 
analyzed and the current 15% reserve policy remains reasonable.  The rate of assumed 
investment return was lowered from 5.25% to 4.75% . Tuition growth assumptions anticipate a 
2.4% increase next year, 5.5% annual growth for the following eight years, and 5% annual 
growth in years thereafter. Smith reviewed components of the unit price and different scenarios 
detailing higher than expected tuition growth or lower than expected returns.  The best estimate 
unit price for the 2020-21 enrollment period is $137.  
 
Rhoads asked at a $137 unit price, how the premium would compare to past years.  Smith 
answered that he remembers the premium being as high as 40% during the great recession and at 
11.6% last year. Rhoads asked how sensitive the purchaser is to the premium when purchasing 
units.  Smith deferred to Minor, but noted purchasers may not be as concerned with the premium 
as compared to the overall “break even” point and guarantee. Minor answered there is some price 
sensitivity and that this is more likely for existing, rather than new customers, but that customer 
behavior is also significantly influenced by tuition growth.   
 
Rhoads voiced her concern about the premium of the proposed unit price of $137 during a rough 
environment.  There is a struggle between schools raising tuition as a result of lost funds during 
the pandemic vs. parents feeling like a tuition increase is unwarranted, as the schools are offering 
less value to the students during remote education.  Sinantha agreed, adding that she believes that 
a unit price of $137 is high given the assumptions and would feel more comfortable with the 
lower end of the best estimate range.  Snyder added that while we need to keep in mind the 
customers responses, we also need to make sure that the price selected won’t be detrimental to 
the program in the future. Smith reiterated that the biggest change in the price from last year to 
this year was the change in the rate of return, which was a result of the change to the asset 
allocation. Sinantha stated that the rate of return being lower than the expected tuition growth is 
a concern overall for the program that needs to be addressed. Meotti stated that the primary 
function of the fund is to protect the state tax payers from having to pay college expenses for 
account owners if the guarantee was ever triggered.  Over the last few years the committee has 
made conservative choices that ended up with a higher reserve.  Meotti stated that at this time he 
would be more inclined to go with the lower end of the best estimate range, possibly in the lower 
$130’s.  Schumacher reminded the committee that this is a price that gets changed every year 
and that if something significant changes, they have the ability to course correct . Rhoads agreed 
with this statement. 
 
Schumacher moved to select a unit purchase price of $133.  The motion was seconded by 
Sinantha.  Five ayes from Snyder, Rhoads, Sinantha, Meotti and Schumacher.    
 
GET PROGRAM DETAILS BOOKLET UPDATES 
Minor stated that the updates include clarifying certain processes, incorporating all new federal 
provisions, adding new qualified higher education expenses, updating investment policy sections 
to reflect newly adopted standards and adding COVID-19 provisions to hours of operations.  



 
Rhoads moved to approve the changes.  The motion was seconded by Schumacher.  Five Ayes 
from Snyder, Rhoads, Sinantha, Meotti and Schumacher.  
 
DREAMAHEAD FUND CHANGE 
Nick Procyk, Lockwood Advisors, gave an overview of a proposed underlying fund change.  
Lockwood proposes replacing the money market fund used in all DreamAhead portfolios to a 
lower cost option.  Specifically, the JPMorgan U.S. Government Money Market Fund Capital 
Shares would be exchanged with the Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund Investor Shares.  
This fund change would reduce the money market fund expense ratio from 0.18% to 0.11%.  
Both are government money market funds appropriate for 529 plans.   
 
Sinantha asked if the Vanguard fund had any gates or redemption fees.  Procyk answered that it 
does not.   
 
Sinantha asked if this change is made if other cash options can be pursued in the future.  Procyk 
answered that yes, they can.  
 
Rhoads moved that the fund be changed as proposed.  The motion was seconded by Snyder.  
Five Ayes from Snyder, Rhoads, Sinantha, Meotti and Schumacher.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comment. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Rhoads motioned to adjourn meeting at 4:00 p.m. The motion was seconded by Snyder. Five 
ayes from Meotti, Snyder, Rhoads, Sinantha and Schumacher. Meeting adjourned. 



P.O. Box 43450 
Olympia, WA 98504-3450 
1.800.955.2318 (GET) 
1.844.529.5845 (DreamAhead) 
www.wastate529.wa.gov 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Washington College Savings Plans is governed by the Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College Savings   
and is supported and administered by the Washington Student Achievement Council. 

 
 
 
 

2021 Proposed Committee Meeting Schedule 
 
 

Background 
 

As outlined in RCW 28B.95.030, WAC 14-104-010, the GET Committee shall hold  
regular meetings as needed.  Additional special meetings may be scheduled if needed. 

The following is the proposed meeting schedule for the 2021 calendar year. 
 
 

 

DATE TIME PLACE 

Wednesday, 
January 20, 2021 2:00 – 4:00 p.m. Location/Format TBD 

Thursday,  
May 6, 2021 2:00– 4:00 p.m. Location/Format TBD 

Wednesday, 
September 15, 2021 2:00 – 4:00 p.m. Location/Format TBD 

Wednesday, 
November 17, 2021 2:00 – 4:00 p.m. Location/Format TBD 

http://www.get.wa.gov/


11/6/2020

1

Adjournment

GET 2020 Third Quarter 
Committee Report

A program of:

Total Accounts by Type

• Total number of active 
accounts: 66,101
• Custom Monthly: 17,262
• Lump Sum: 48,839

Notes: Data‐as‐of  10.12.20

Lump Sum
74%

Monthly –
Still Owing

14%

Monthly –
Paid in Full

12%

Active Accounts

1

2



11/6/2020

2

• Total Remaining Purchased Units 
(Custom Monthly and Lump Sum): 
9,467,210

• Total Remaining Unpurchased 
Custom Monthly Units 
Contracted: 648,912

Units by Account Type (Active Accounts)

Notes: Data‐as‐of  10.12.20

Units Not 
Distributed

94%

Unpurchased 
CM Units 

Contracted
6%

Active Custom Monthly Plans

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

5500

50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500 550 600 650 700 750 800

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
A

cc
o

u
n

ts

Unit Increment

PIF Still Owing

Notes: Data‐as‐of  10.12.20

3

4



11/6/2020

3

Notes: Data‐as‐of 10.12.20

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

$700,000

$800,000

$900,000

$1,000,000

Q4 2019 Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020

Rollover Contributions

Rollover Payments

Incoming Rollover Contributions by Quarter

Account Owner Age Trends

Notes: Data‐as‐of 8.24.20

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

55%

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2017 2018 2019

Account Owner Age at Time of Enrollment
24 Years or Under 25‐34 Years 35‐44 Years 45‐54 Years 55‐64 Years 65 Years or Older

En
ro

llm
en

t 
C

lo
se

d

5

6



11/6/2020

4

Average Age of Student Beneficiary 

Notes: Data‐as‐of 10.19.20. Includes all active and inactive accounts. 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average Beneficiary Age at Time of Enrollment ‐ All Accounts

En
ro

llm
en

t 
C

lo
se

d

Average Age of Student Beneficiary 

Notes: Data‐as‐of 10.19.20. Based on student listed on account at time of enrollment and student’s age at time of enrollment. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Average Age of Student Beneficary ‐ Active Accounts Only

Avg Bene Age as of Enrollment Date Avg Bene Age Today

En
ro

llm
en

t 
C

lo
se

d

7

8



11/6/2020

5

Notes: Data‐as‐of 10.12.20

Distributions vs. Contributions 
by Quarter

‐$15M

‐$10M

‐$5M

$0M

$5M

$10M

$15M

$20M

$25M

Q4 2019 Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020

Distributions and Contributions

Payments to Schools Reimbursements    Electronic payments    Paper checks    Gift payments    Payroll deduction

Contact Center 

Statistics

Q1 

2020

Q2 

2020

Q3 

2020

Incoming Calls: 2464 2008 2388

Calls Answered: 2398 1961 2220

Average Speed of 

Answer:
:46 1:54 2:43

Average Talk Time: 4:56 6:51 6:02

Outgoing Calls: 912 1203 1329

Secure Messages 

Sent:
1138 1358 1340

Emails Received in 

GETInfo:
376 558 529

Outgoing Emails: 251 124 141

Notes: Data‐as‐of 10.12.20. 

GET Contact Center Statistics

9

10



11/6/2020

6

Prepaid 529 Plan Comparison

Notes: Data‐as‐of 6.30.20. Source: Strategic Insight

 $‐

 $2,000

 $4,000

 $6,000

 $8,000

 $10,000

 $12,000

 $14,000

 $16,000

FL MA MD MI MS NV PA Private TX WA AL IL KY OH SC TN TX VA WV

Open Closed

2Q 2020 Assets (in $M)

Prepaid 529 Plan Comparison

Notes: Data‐as‐of 6.30.20. Source: Strategic Insight

 ‐

 100,000

 200,000

 300,000

 400,000

 500,000

 600,000

FL MA MD MI MS NV PA Private TX WA AL IL KY OH SC TN TX VA WV

Open Closed

2Q 2020 Number of Active Accounts

11

12



11/6/2020

7

Prepaid 529 Plan Comparison

 $‐

 $5,000

 $10,000

 $15,000

 $20,000

 $25,000

 $30,000

 $35,000

 $40,000

 $45,000

 $50,000

FL MA MD MI MS NV PA Private TX WA AL IL KY OH SC TN TX VA WV

Open Closed

2Q 2020 Average Account Size

Notes: Data‐as‐of 6.30.20. Source: Strategic Insight

Prepaid 529 Plan Comparison

Notes: Data‐as‐of 6.30.20. Payout data for current and legacy MS plans are combined. Payout data unavailable for MA, TN, WI, and WV. 

 $‐

 $1

 $2

 $3

 $4

 $5

 $6

FL MD MI MS NV PA Private TX WA AL IL KY OH TX VA

Open Closed

$ Paid Out Since Inception (in $B)

13

14



  Washington State Investment Board 

GET Prepaid College Tuition Program 

Quarterly Report – September 30, 2020 

 

Portfolio Size, Allocation, and Assets Under Management ..................................................................... 2 

Performance ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Market Environment ................................................................................................................................ 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



            GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarter Ended September 30, 2020

Total $1,502,149,381

Cash $4,843,607

Fixed Income $888,822,668

Equity $608,483,106

Note: Allocation changed in January 2020. It was previously 40% Fixed Income and 60% Equity and changed to 60% Fixed Income and 40% Equity

Assets Under Management

Actual Asset AllocationPortfolio Size 

‐5.1 ‐12.5
‐18.0 ‐21.8 ‐30.9

‐82.9 ‐84.4
‐77.1

‐884.8

‐1.7 ‐15.4

1,485
1,709 2,113 2,371 2,572 2,431

2,156 2,163

1,245 1,363 1,502

‐1,000
‐900
‐800
‐700
‐600
‐500
‐400
‐300
‐200
‐100
0
100
200
300
400
500

‐10,000
‐9,000
‐8,000
‐7,000
‐6,000
‐5,000
‐4,000
‐3,000
‐2,000
‐1,000

0
1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
5,000

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s 

in
 M

ill
io

n
s

A
ss

e
t 

Si
ze
 in

 M
ill

io
n

s

Net Contributions

Growth of Assets

Fixed 
Income
59.17%

Equity
40.51% Cash

0.32%

55.0%

35.0%

0.0%

65.0%

45.0%

5.0%
Allocation

Fixed Income Public Equity Cash

Actual Allocation

Sept. 2019
Sept. 2020

2
0

2
0
 R

an
ge

Page 2 of 4



            GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarter Ended September 30, 2020

Equity Return *

Fixed Income Return *

Total Return *

*  The return numbers above are net of manager fees and other expenses that can be directly debited from the account for portfolio 

management but do not include the WSIB management fee.

Benchmark: Bloomberg Barclays Intermediate Credit and a historical blended return

Benchmark: MSCI ACWI IMI w/U.S. Gross and a historical blended return

8.10% 
9.39% 

6.62% 

10.32% 
8.99% 8.18% 

9.91% 

6.79% 

10.32% 
8.96% 

3rd Qtr. 2020 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Equity Equity Benchmark

4.12%

11.01%

6.59%

8.19%

7.17%

4.03% 

9.99% 

6.35% 

7.88% 
6.99% 

1.97%

4.66%
5.08% 5.09% 5.02%

3rd Qtr. 2020 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

GET College Tuition Program Passive Benchmark CPI (inflation) + 3.25%

1.65% 

7.54% 

5.41% 
4.85% 

4.24% 

1.24% 

6.49% 

4.96% 
4.33% 

3.82% 

3rd Qtr. 2020 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Fixed Income Fixed Income Benchmark

Page 3 of 4



            GET Prepaid College Tuition Program Quarter Ended September 30, 2020

Market Environment

Quarter 9.23%

Quarter 5.64%

Quarter 8.11%

Quarter 0.62%

Quarter 1.24%

1 Year 15.16%

1 Year 1.10%

1 Year 9.57%

1 Year 6.98%

1 Year 6.49%

3 Year 11.75%

3 Year 0.73%

3 Year 6.47%

3 Year 5.24%

3 Year 4.96%

5 Year 13.78%

5 Year 5.60%

5 Year 9.97%

5 Year 4.18%

5 Year 4.33%

10 Year 13.56%

10 Year 4.65%

10 Year 8.47%

10 Year 3.64%

10 Year 3.90%

MSCI U.S. IMI
(U.S.)

MSCI World ex U.S. IMI
(Non‐U.S. Developed)

MSCI ACWI IMI
(Global)

Bloomberg Barclays
Aggregate Index

Bloomberg Barclays
Intermediate Credit

 Despite growing worries surrounding a second wave of COVID‐19, global equity markets enjoyed a strong third 
quarter, albeit with a wide range of returns. 

 
 The MSCI World Developed IMI index returned 7.9% in the third quarter. 

 The U.S. equity market returned 9.1 %. 
 
 Sector performance varied widely: Energy returned ‐12.4% and is down about 43% for the calendar year. 

 Consumer Discretionary returned 17.6%. 
 Information Technology returned 12.3% and for the calendar year, it’s up nearly 25%. 

 
 Interest rates are expected to remain low for an extended period. 

 The Fed announced its willingness to allow inflation to run above target in today’s environment. 
 
 U.S. 10 year Treasuries ended the quarter with a yield of 0.7%, broadly flat over the quarter but down from 1.9% at 

the start of the year. 
 
 Fixed income returns were driven by narrowing of credit spreads, so credit‐heavier indexes outperformed. 

 Bloomberg’s Credit index was up 1.5% for the quarter compared to the High Yield index at 4.6%. 
 
 Oil prices took a step back in September, dropping 9.6%, breaking a streak of five consecutive monthly gains. 
 

Page 4 of 4



2020 Third Quarter

Committee Report
November 12, 2020

Information Classification: Public2

Covid – 19 Update

Morningstar Ranking

Fund Event 

Agenda



Information Classification: Public3

Sumday COVID-19 update

Fund Event 
• Fund swap scheduled to occur 12/1
• Account owner notification
• Program Details Booklet: Supplement
• Website

Morningstar Bronze Ranking 

Information Classification: Public4

Overview for the Current Quarter

• $793,509,010 in AUM 

• 25,886 Funded Accounts

• 488 New Accounts

• 5,054 Accounts with Zero Dollar Balance

• Market Performance of -$2,695,023

• Contributions of $7,548,289

• Distributions of $31,781,967



Information Classification: Public5

Asset growth shows strong return of market performance 

Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020

Net Flow ($31,699,866) ($27,100,668) ($22,401,217) ($4,931,076) ($24,233,678)

Total AUM $823,237,487 $817,837,100 $753,172,897 $798,829,765 $793,509,010

Market Performance $7,716,822 $21,700,281 ($45,262,724) $50,587,944 ($2,695,023)

Previous AUM $847,220,531 $823,237,487 $817,837,100 $753,172,897 $798,829,765

$823,237,487 $817,837,100 $753,172,897 

$798,829,765 
$793,509,010 

$847,220,531
$823,237,487 $817,837,100

$753,172,897

$798,829,765 

($100,000,000)

$100,000,000

$300,000,000

$500,000,000

$700,000,000

$900,000,000

A
U

M

Net Asset Growth in Dollars

Net Asset Growth

Information Classification: Public6

$0

$5,000,000

$10,000,000

$15,000,000

$20,000,000

$25,000,000

$30,000,000

$35,000,000

$40,000,000

$45,000,000

$50,000,000

1
9

8
0

1
9

8
1

1
9

8
2

1
9

8
3

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
5

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
7

1
9

8
8

1
9

8
9

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

Distributions by Beneficiary’s Year of Birth

Q3 Distribution Amount Since…

Bene Year of Birth

Distributions by Age Since Plan Inception
Total Plan Distributions Since Inception: $231,011,144 as of 9/30/2020 

Q2 2020 Threshold



Information Classification: Public7

Contributions & Distributions

$6,829,055 $7,947,842 $8,982,869 $7,899,633 $7,548,289 

($38,528,921)

($35,048,510)

($31,384,086)

($12,830,709)

($31,781,967)

($50,000,000)

($40,000,000)

($30,000,000)

($20,000,000)

($10,000,000)

$0

$10,000,000

$20,000,000

Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020

Contributions Distributions

Distributions are back near trend, but trailing same quarter in 2019, possibly affected by COVID-19.

Information Classification: Public8

$5,506,657

$12,445,757

$2,948,958

$12,569,677

$1,829,895

$3,766,615

$0

$2,000,000

$4,000,000

$6,000,000

$8,000,000

$10,000,000

$12,000,000

$14,000,000

Q2 2020 Q3 2020

Total Distributions to Account Owners, Schools and Beneficiaries

To Account Owners To Schools To Beneficiaries

Distributions by Recipient



Information Classification: Public9

Cumulative Account Growth – Last Twelve Months

Oct '19 Nov '19 Dec '19 Jan '20 Feb '20 Mar '20 Apr '20 May '20 Jun '20 Jul '20 Aug '20 Sep '20

 Total Funded Accounts 25,560 25,750 26,019 25,356 25,569 25,797 25,419 25,598 25,938 25,475 25,689 25,886

 GET Rollover 3 1 - - - - 3 4 7 2 6 3

New Accounts 197 190 269 301 213 228 209 179 340 157 173 158

 -

 50

 100

 150

 200

 250

 300

 350

 400

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

To
ta

l A
cc

o
u

n
ts G

ET &
 N

ew
 A

cco
u

n
ts

Information Classification: Public10

$0

$20,000,000

$40,000,000

$60,000,000

$80,000,000

$100,000,000

$120,000,000

$140,000,000

$160,000,000

$180,000,000

W
A

C
1

8

W
A

C
2

0

W
A

C
2

2

W
A

C
2

4

W
A

C
2

6

W
A

C
2

8

W
A

C
3

0

W
A

C
3

2

W
A

C
3

4

W
A

C
3

6

W
A

C
3

8

W
A

C
EC

W
A

M
1

8

W
A

M
2

0

W
A

M
2

2

W
A

M
2

4

W
A

M
2

6

W
A

M
2

8

W
A

M
3

0

W
A

M
3

2

W
A

M
3

4

W
A

M
3

6

W
A

M
3

8

W
A

C
EM

W
A

A
1

8

W
A

A
2

0

W
A

A
2

2

W
A

A
2

4

W
A

A
2

6

W
A

A
2

8

W
A

A
3

0

W
A

A
3

2

W
A

A
3

4

W
A

A
3

6

W
A

A
3

8

W
A

C
EA

C
as

h
 P

re
s.

In
co

m
e

In
co

m
e 

&
 G

ro
w

th

B
al

an
ce

d

C
o

n
s.

 G
ro

w
th

M
o

d
. G

ro
w

th

G
ro

w
th

AUM by Investment Type

Total Dollar Balance  - Q3 2020

Risk Based

Growth

Moderate

Conservative

Investment Distribution



Information Classification: Public11

Cash Flow by Investment Portfolio Q3 2020

-$10,000,000

-$8,000,000

-$6,000,000

-$4,000,000

-$2,000,000

$0

$2,000,000

$4,000,000

W
A

A
1

8

W
A

A
2

0

W
A

A
2

2

W
A

A
2

4

W
A

A
2

6

W
A

A
2

8

W
A

A
3

0

W
A

A
3

2

W
A

A
3

4

W
A

A
3

6

W
A

A
3

8

W
A

C
1

8

W
A

C
2

0

W
A

C
2

2

W
A

C
2

4

W
A

C
2

6

W
A

C
2

8

W
A

C
3

0

W
A

C
3

2

W
A

C
3

4

W
A

C
3

6

W
A

C
3

8

W
A

M
1

8

W
A

M
2

0

W
A

M
2

2

W
A

M
2

4

W
A

M
2

6

W
A

M
2

8

W
A

M
3

0

W
A

M
3

2

W
A

M
3

4

W
A

M
3

6

W
A

M
3

8 G
r

B
al

In
c 

&
 G

r

C
as

h
 P

re
s

C
o

llg
e 

En
rl

l -
 G

ro
w

C
o

llg
e 

En
rl

l -
 C

o
n

s

C
o

llg
e 

En
rl

l -
 M

o
d

M
o

d
 G

r

In
c

C
o

n
s 

G
r

NetFlow Market Performance

Information Classification: Public12

Fund Exchange Report Q3 2020

-$1,000,000.00

-$800,000.00

-$600,000.00

-$400,000.00

-$200,000.00

$0.00

$200,000.00

$400,000.00

$600,000.00

$800,000.00

$1,000,000.00

W
A

C
1

8

W
A

C
2

0

W
A

C
2

2

W
A

C
2

4

W
A

C
2

6

W
A

C
2

8

W
A

C
3

0

W
A

C
3

2

W
A

C
3

4

W
A

C
3

6

W
A

C
3

8

W
A

C
EC

W
A

M
1

8

W
A

M
2

0

W
A

M
2

2

W
A

M
2

4

W
A

M
2

6

W
A

M
2

8

W
A

M
3

0

W
A

M
3

2

W
A

M
3

4

W
A

M
3

6

W
A

A
3

8

W
A

C
EM

W
A

A
1

8

W
A

A
2

0

W
A

A
2

2

W
A

A
2

4

W
A

A
2

6

W
A

A
2

8

W
A

A
3

0

W
A

A
3

2

W
A

A
3

4

W
A

A
3

6

W
A

M
3

8

W
A

C
EA

C
as

h
 P

re
s.

In
co

m
e

In
co

m
e 

&
 G

ro
w

th

B
al

an
ce

d

C
o

n
s.

 G
ro

w
th

M
o

d
. G

ro
w

th

G
ro

w
th

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

2200

2400

2600

2800

3000

3200

Gross Dollar Amount

# Accounts

AMOUNT ACOUNTS

# Accounts: 1,826
$ GDA: -$47,664,428

# Accounts: 1,300
$ GDA: -$52,388,579

# Accounts: 176
$ GDA: -$3,535,107

# Accounts: 229
$ GDA: -$6,694,361

# Accounts: 553
$ GDA: -$13,075,701

# Accounts: 1066
$ GDA: -$38,371,787

# Accounts: 3,132
$ GDA: $100,071,186

# Accounts: 1,626
$ GDA: $50,671,395

# Accounts: 409
$ GDA: $10,178,624



Information Classification: Public13

Tuition Distributions Q3 2020

0

50

100

150

200

250

 $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,400,000

 $1,600,000

 $1,800,000

 $2,000,000

Washington
state

University

University of
Washington

Gonzaga
University

Western
Washington
University

University of
Portland

Central
Washington
University

Whitman
College

SEATTLE
UNIVERSITY

WHITWORTH
UNIVERSITY

Seattle Pacific
University

Top 10 Schools Receiving Distributions*

Amount Payments

ACCOUNTS

Information Classification: Public14

Number of Accounts by County Q2 2020
The one account in Ferry County closed in Q2



Information Classification: Public15

Net Change in Average AUM by County Q3 2020g y y Qg y y Qg g y y

Information Classification: Public16

Call Center Statistics
Customer Service

Q3 2020’s most common customer inquiries to the Call Center:

• Assistance with accessing account online

• Assistance with completing a financial transaction

• Assistance with opening accounts

Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020

Calls Offered 2300 1896 1728 1039 2319

Calls Answered 2285 1870 1702 1035 2255

ASA 0:10 0:24 0:17 0:09 0:33

0:00

0:07

0:14

0:21

0:28

0:36

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Calls Offered & Average Speed of Answer 
# CALLS SECONDS



Information Classification: Public17

APPENDIX

Information Classification: Public18

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

$1,400,000

Apr '20 May '20 June '20 Jul '20 Aug '20 Sep '20

ACH Gift Recurring GET Rollover Other

Contributions by Source Q3 2020

* Contribution sources are mutually exclusive
* ”Other” represents Checks, Non-GET Rollovers and Payroll Deductions



Information Classification: Public19

Gifting Activity – Contributions by Transaction Type Q3 2020

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

$200,000

$250,000

$300,000

$350,000

$400,000

Q4 2019 Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020

Debit Card ACH Check

Information Classification: Public20

0-10 11-20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 61-70 71-80 81-102

Q3 2020 0.05% 0.69% 2.12% 10.62% 32.22% 37.73% 11.50% 4.07% 1.01%

0%

20%

40%

% of Account Owners by Age Group

Q3 2020

Account Owner Demographics Q3 2020

0-10 11-20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 61-70 71-80 81-100+

Q3 2020 $22,151.17 $54,898.55 $16,101.83 $8,874.50 $30,680.02 $33,787.02 $29,267.25 $28,948.89 $30,012.70

$0

$20,000

$40,000

$60,000

Average Account Owner Assets by Age Group

Q3 2020



Information Classification: Public21

0-3 4-7 8-11 12-15 16-19 20-30 31-40 41-50 51-100+

Q3 2020 5.46% 6.15% 13.08% 20.23% 26.93% 25.92% 1.03% 0.62% 0.57%

0%

20%

40%

% of Beneficiaries by Age Group

Q3 2020

Beneficiary Demographics Q3 2020

0-10 11-20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-60 61-70 71-80 81-100+

Q3 2020 $12,753.98 $38,490.76 $23,535.74 $15,065.38 $29,787.30 $20,534.01 $17,168.09 $7,945.52 $0

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

Average Beneficiary Assets by Age Group

Q3 2020

Information Classification: Public22

Google Analytics Q3 2020
User activity ranked by city



Information Classification: Public23

Google Analytics Q3 2020
Site data on users activity by top locations. Users more than doubled from Q2 2020.

Online Users

Information Classification: Public24

DISCLOSURES

BNY Mellon is the corporate brand of The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation and may be used as a generic term to reference the 
corporation as a whole and/or its various subsidiaries generally. Products and services may be provided under various brand names in 
various countries by duly authorized and regulated subsidiaries, affiliates, and joint ventures of The Bank of New York Mellon 
Corporation.

This material, which may be considered advertising, is for general information purposes only and is not intended to provide or be 
construed as legal, tax, accounting, investment, financial or other professional advice on any matter.
The information contained in this material is for use by wholesale/professional clients only and is not to be relied upon by retail clients. 
Any discussion of tax matters contained in this material is not intended to be used, and cannot be used, for the purpose of avoiding tax 
or penalties under any applicable law or regulation or promoting, marketing or recommending to another party any transaction or 
matter.

This material may not be reproduced or disseminated in any form without the express prior written permission of BNY Mellon. 
Trademarks, service marks, logos and other intellectual property marks belong to their respective owners.

© 2017 The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation. All rights reserved.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Investment Advisory Report 
Third Quarter 2020 
 

Washington Student Achievement Council 
Prepared by Lockwood Advisors, Inc. 
 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

2 

Contents 
Executive Summary .................................................................................................................................................... 3 

WIN ............................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Whip Up Some Inflation Now ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

The Biden Plan ........................................................................................................................................................... 7 

The Trump Plan .......................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Wartime Footing ......................................................................................................................................................... 8 

How to Cut Debt ......................................................................................................................................................... 8 

No Fiscal Discipline .................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Monetary Policy: At Zero Until Next Presidential Election Cycle ................................................................................ 8 

Currency Volatility ..................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Rough September .................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Unusual Technical and Volatility Market Setup ........................................................................................................ 11 

COVID-19 Is Global .................................................................................................................................................. 11 

U.S. ........................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Need Immediate Money ........................................................................................................................................... 12 

Performance Review ................................................................................................................................................ 13 

Static Portfolio Review .............................................................................................................................................. 14 

Conservative Year of Enrollment Portfolio Review................................................................................................... 16 

Moderate Year of Enrollment Portfolio Review ........................................................................................................ 18 

Growth Year of Enrollment Portfolio Review ............................................................................................................ 20 

DreamAhead College Investment Plan Mutual Fund Evaluations ........................................................................... 22 

Fidelity Emerging Markets Index Fund (FPADX) ..................................................................................................... 23 

Fidelity International Index Fund (FSPSX) ............................................................................................................... 36 

Fidelity Total Market Index Fund (FSKAX) ............................................................................................................... 50 

Fidelity U.S. Bond Index Fund (FXNAX) .................................................................................................................. 64 

Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund® (SWTSX) ................................................................................................. 79 

Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund (SWRSX) ................................................................. 93 

Vanguard Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund Institutional Shares (VGIVX) .................................. 106 

Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund (VMFXX) .................................................................................................. 119 

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund Institutional Shares (VLGIX) ............................................................. 123 

Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Institutional Plus Shares (VBMPX) ...................................................... 136 

Important Disclosures ............................................................................................................................................. 151 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

3 

Executive Summary 
Plan-specific highlights, with brief discussion of broader market activity to provide context. 
 

DreamAhead College Investment Plan Highlights  
• All Static and Year of Enrollment portfolios have met their respective benchmarks in Q3 2020, year-to-date, 

and trailing 12 month period.  
• No remedial action is necessary.  
• There are no funds on the Watch List. All funds have performed as expected. 

 

Broad Market Macroeconomic Highlights 
Five Trends to Consider 

1. The Need for Inflation 
Disinflation has ruled the roost for decades, but now we find ourselves in need of a little inflation to ease 
our sizable federal, corporate and personal loan burdens. A small dose of inflation might help reduce the 
real, inflation-adjusted burden of debt for current debt holders, at least for fixed (not adjustable) debt. It 
would also help wage earners add a little to their paychecks. 

2. The Candidates Have Spoken 
Democratic nominee and former Vice President Joe Biden has issued a detailed plan that begins to cut the 
national debt, but only in the years beyond 2030 and only after significant tax hikes. These tax hikes 
would, if enacted, likely lower GDP (gross domestic product) growth in the intermediate time frame, 
bringing deficit reduction into question. On the other side, President Trump has offered a middle-class tax 
cut, hinted at a capital gains tax cut and proposed tax breaks for those companies returning manufacturing 
to the U.S. He also proposes a payroll tax break for the pandemic period. 

3. No Fiscal Discipline 
Unfortunately, neither party seems remotely interested in anything akin to fiscal prudence during this 
election process. Granted, this may be understandable given that we still need to heal from the destruction 
of capital and labor that resulted from the coronavirus recession. Even if GDP recovers in several years, it 
may take much longer than that for employment and small business to regain pre-COVID-19 levels. 

4. Monetary Policy at Zero 
The Federal Reserve has signaled that it intends to keep the federal funds policy rate extremely low, 
effectively at the zero bound, until 2024. This underscores the dramatic monetary policy support that has 
been underpinning the market recovery this summer, but also sends a sign of concern about the amount 
of damage COVID-19 and forced lockdowns have had on the U.S. economy. 

5. It Was a Rough September 
Capital markets had a rough September, reversing many of the previous trends that we have seen  
since the troughs in risk assets in the spring. So far, the consensus view is that the markets just need a 
breather, a correction, a small, sharp pullback from the exhaustive and heady summer exuberance.  
There is an assemblage of near-term temporal concerns that markets must overcome. We face a wickedly 
contested election with a heightened prospect for violence and confusion. Volatility futures predict a 
marked possibility of market disruption after the election.  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

4 

WIN 
It was 1974 and inflation was a runaway train. WIN, short for “Whip Inflation Now,” was a policy effort on the 
part of the Gerald Ford administration to attempt to rein in spiraling inflation by encouraging savings and 
curtail inflationary spending habits.  

This photo is of a genuine red 1974 Whip Inflation Now- pin, one of a whole bag your author collected as an 
impulse purchase. If you can believe it, there were WIN sweaters, bags, balls, stickers and earrings.  

 

The WIN policy appeared somewhat successful, at least at first. Inflation, measured by headline consumer prices, did 
decline from an annual pace of 12.3% in late 1974 to 4.9% by late 1976, but spiked again to reach an all-time peak of 
14.8% by March 1980. Anti-inflationary policy didn’t really begin to succeed until some months after the Federal 
Reserve, under Chairman Paul Volcker, jacked up interest rates dramatically to slow money supply growth and the 
economy in October 1979. This was the so-called “Volcker Slam.” 

Whip Up Some Inflation Now 
We’re almost at a polar opposite point today. Disinflation has ruled the roost for decades, but now we find ourselves in 
need of a little inflation to help ease our sizable federal, corporate and personal loan burdens. A small dose of inflation 
might help reduce the real, inflation-adjusted burden of debt for current debt holders, at least for fixed (not adjustable) 
debt. It would also help wage earners add a little to their paychecks. A little inflation would be good. A large dose of 
inflation might make things a lot worse by ratcheting up interest rates enough to slow an interest rate-sensitive 
economy too much.  
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

5 

Market Overview 
Index Returns (%) as of September 30, 2020  

Index 3Q 2020  1 Yr.  3 Yr. ^ 5 Yr. ^ 2019 2018 2017 2016 

S&P 500  8.9  15.1  12.3  14.1  31.5  (4.4) 21.8  12.0  

MSCI USA Small Cap 5.6  0.2  3.5  8.9  27.4  (10.0) 17.3  19.8  

MSCI EAFE (net of taxes) 4.8  0.5  0.6  5.3  22.0  (13.8) 25.0  1.0  

MSCI Emerging Markets (net of taxes) 9.6  10.5  2.4  9.0  18.4  (14.6) 37.3  11.2  

Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond 0.6  7.0  5.2  4.2  8.7  0.0  3.5  2.6  

Bloomberg Barclays Global Aggregate ex-US 4.1  5.5  3.1  3.6  5.1  (2.1) 10.5  1.5  

S&P GSCI Crude Oil 2.4  (25.6) (8.0) (2.3) 34.5  (24.8) 12.5  45.0  

S&P GSCI Gold 3.6  25.4  12.4  10.0  18.0  (2.8) 12.8  7.7  

Bloomberg Commodity 9.1  (8.2) (4.2) (3.1) 7.7  (11.2) 1.7  11.8  

Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 6–9 Month 0.1  1.7  1.9  1.3  2.6  1.8  0.7  0.5  

Inflation § 1.5  1.3  2.0  1.8  2.3  1.9  2.1  2.1  

^3 year and 5 year returns are annualized 
Sources: MSCI; Bloomberg Barclays; Standard and Poor's (©2020, S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC. All rights reserved); Bureau of Labor Statistics.  
§ Inflation data through August 2020. Visual created by Lockwood Advisors, Inc. For additional information regarding the indices shown, please refer 
to the Important Disclosures at the end of this document. Indices are unmanaged and are not available for direct investment. Past performance is 
not a guarantee of future results.  
 

Let’s look at U.S. federal debt. Before we vote in the election on November 3, we will experience Halloween in 
whatever form the pandemic allows. You don’t need to wait for your seasonal horror fix. Right now, you can read a hot-
off-the-press September release of a 74-page graphic horror novel. It’s called “The 2020 Long-Term Budget Outlook” 
by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO). This annual report, available free to the public at cbo.gov, offers proof that 
reality is as spooky as anything Hollywood can dream up. This document shows what happens when governments fail 
to take responsible measures to balance their checkbooks over multiple business cycles and several administrations.  

“The American Republic will endure until the day Congress  
discovers that it can bribe the public with the public's money.” 

– Alexis de Tocqueville (1835) 

The CBO presents a bleak picture of national debt rising for the next 30 years, and projects federal debt to rise to 
195% of GDP (gross domestic product) by 2050. That would dwarf the previous peak of 106% just after World War II 
when the country was on a wartime footing. For reference, our pre-virus federal debt to GDP ratio was 79% in 2019 
and 31% in 1974, when they issued our WIN pin. The pandemic alone is forecast to raise our debt to GDP ratio to 
108% by 2023. We may surpass the previous historical high by the end of 2020, depending perhaps on whether the 
raucous politicians will stop dithering and agree on additional pandemic stimulus. In the longer-term forecast, driving 
the debt acceleration are expenditures on net interest on the debt as well as major health care programs, attributable 
in part to an aging population and overall health care cost increases. 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

6 

 
Source: Congressional Budget Office (CBO.gov). Data as of September 30, 2020 

Pointedly, the U.S. is now at a debt to GDP ratio that has served as a threshold or tipping point where, historically, 
many nations’ debt management has failed to recover. The U.S. may have additional fiscal space, or room to increase 
the ratio above 100%, but we’re close or at a dangerous point that has led to trouble for many nations in the past. 

 
Source: Congressional Budget Office (CBO.gov). Data as of September 30, 2020 

“If something cannot go on forever, it will stop.”  
– Herbert Stein, U.S. Economist (1976) 

Granted, these estimates are based on current enacted law that will most likely change over the course of the 30-year 
time horizon envisioned in the report. They also rely on a set of assumptions about interest rates and health care 
expenditures that could prove unrealistic. Nonetheless, they present a picture of a republic whose spending has gone 
seriously awry. They also project a federal debt to GDP ratio that alarms many economists, as examined in well-known 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

7 

historical studies of financial crisis like Kenneth Rogoff and Carmen Reinhart’s This Time is Different: Eight Centuries 
of Financial Folly (2011).  

Both parties and COVID-19 have been complicit in getting us to these dire fiscal straits. Both major candidates for the 
U.S. presidency have presented policy proposals that do little to nothing to mitigate debt acceleration before the next 
presidential election in 2024. 

The Biden Plan 
Democratic nominee and former Vice President Joe Biden has issued a detailed plan that begins to cut the national 
debt, but only in the years beyond 2030 and only after significant tax hikes. These tax hikes would, if enacted, likely 
lower GDP growth in the intermediate time frame, bringing deficit reduction into question. According to Penn Wharton’s 
Budget Model, the Biden platform would raise $3.375 trillion in new tax revenue while spending an additional $5.37 
trillion over the 2021-2030 period. Wharton estimates the plan will begin to reduce national debt by 2050 and even 
then only by about 6%. Biden’s tax plan would raise top rates on ordinary income from 37% to 39.6%, repeal tax cuts 
embedded in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) for high-income filers, eliminate the stepped-up cost basis for estate 
tax calculation, limit itemized deductions, raise the corporate tax rate from 21% to 28%, impose a minimum corporate 
tax, raise tax on foreign subsidiary income (from 10.5% to 21%), eliminate fossil fuel and real estate subsidies and 
loopholes, and impose sanctions on foreign countries that facilitate corporate tax avoidance.  

Wharton estimates that the Biden plan’s largest impact on revenues would derive from the corporate rate hike ($1.23 
trillion), foreign subsidiary profit tax hike ($310 billion), minimum corporate tax ($212 billion) and eliminating the 
stepped-up basis ($163 billion). For individual filers, Penn Wharton estimates that individual filers with incomes over 
$400,000 will see an average 17.7% decline in after-tax income, not least in part due to a 12.4% Social Security tax 
hike for taxpayers in that category. There are tax credits for electric vehicles, residential energy efficiency, seniors, 
informal caregivers, solar and child care facilities. No matter your political views, this is one of the largest tax plans and 
expansions of the federal government proposed in U.S. history. If enacted, Biden’s proposal could spur some inflation 
because of the large injection of federal spending. 

The Trump Plan 
President Trump has issued few details about his proposals for a second term and has issued somewhat vague 
descriptions of policy goals. We have only about one page worth of policy prescriptions and they appear to focus on 
tax credits and outright tax cuts. For example, he has offered a middle-class tax cut, hinted at a capital gains tax cut 
(20% to 15%) and proposed tax breaks for those companies returning manufacturing to the U.S. He also proposes a 
payroll tax break for the pandemic period. There are few, if any, spending cuts that seem to be implied by his general 
policy goals.  

“Politics…has always been the systematic organization of hatreds.” 
– Henry Adams, The Education of Henry Adams (1918) 

These are very different visions of future fiscal policy priorities. Whether any of these prescriptions, in whole or in part, 
can materialize remains to be seen. Both visions are constrained by macroeconomics and tactical politics, such as 
who controls the United States Senate next January. The House may initiate money bills, but the party in control of the 
Senate will be the key to determining whether many of these policy proposals come to pass. They may also be 
constrained by geopolitical realities, as the U.S. will need to continue to fund an effective and expensive military 
deterrent regardless of political social spending wish lists. 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

8 

Wartime Footing 
The U.S. has passed 7 million COVID-19 infections and 200,000 deaths, as of September 25, 2020. The virus has put 
both the U.S. fiscal and monetary policies on something akin to a wartime footing. We mean that the emergency policy 
stances in play now are similar to the control over capital markets that were enacted during and after World War II. As 
mentioned above, that period marks the previous peak in federal debt to GDP of around 106%. In 2021, or sometime 
after we have begun to control the virus or adapted to it, the United States could begin to chip away at the enormous 
bill we’ve rung up from these emergency stimulus measures.  

How to Cut Debt 
Theoretically, there are three ways to reduce a debt overhang: 1) austerity – cut spending and/or raise taxes to reduce 
deficits and debt; 2) grow faster – grow your way out in real, inflation-adjusted terms; or 3) inflate it away – use the 
central bank to print money and monetize the debt and reduce the cost of debt in real, inflation-adjusted terms. Of 
course, there is a fourth option: default.  

After World War II, the U.S. economy took option #2 and grew the economy out of a massively indebted position. 
Several tailwinds to the U.S. economy contributed to our ability to manage the debt at that time. Real growth (non-
inflationary growth) was higher than real interest rates, and demographics contributed as birth rates rose dramatically. 
Very importantly, productivity growth rates stayed high. Sentiment also remained elevated, not surprising after the end 
of a major global conflict. Also, since the U.S. had not been in an excessively indebted position prior to the War, it was 
easier to adjust to a one-time spike in debt. Moreover, and somewhat akin to Japan today, we were able to finance 
most of our debts internally.  

These beneficial conditions are not present now and this will make working our way out of this predicament more 
difficult. We rely extensively on foreign lenders to fund our spending; the demographic picture is alarming, while 
productivity growth has slowed dramatically from the post-WWII period. A little bit of inflation might make our debt 
predicament easier to bear.  

No Fiscal Discipline 
Unfortunately, neither party seems remotely interested in anything akin to fiscal prudence during this election process. 
Granted, this may be understandable given that we still need to heal from the destruction of capital and labor that 
resulted from the coronavirus recession. Even if GDP recovers in several years, it may take much longer than that for 
employment and small business to regain pre-COVID-19 levels. So, it may be too early to begin to fret about near-term 
increases in debt while we work our way out of this morass. Still, the worrying trend is that neither party seems very 
interested in the long-term budget dynamic at this time and has not seemed worried for several decades.  

So, if politicians have disregarded the federal debt and deficits and their impacts, why should investors care?  

U.S. bond and foreign currency markets appear to be pricing in or poised to price in some of these longer-term effects. 
Markets are always long-term discounting mechanisms, but they could soon dramatically reevaluate U.S. interest 
rates, future inflation and the pricing of the dollar versus international currencies. Deficit hawks have been sounding 
the alarms for many decades. While many have downplayed the effects of sizable federal debt and deficits while they 
grew incrementally, markets will not be able to ignore very large changes in prescriptions from both monetary and 
fiscal policy. For example, markets responded to the Volcker Fed’s abrupt policy shift by putting interest rates on a 
general path lower for four decades.    

Monetary Policy: At Zero Until Next Presidential Election Cycle 
The Federal Reserve has signaled it intends to keep the federal funds policy rate extremely low, effectively at the zero 
bound, until 2024. This underscores the dramatic monetary policy support that has been underpinning the market 
recovery this summer, but also sends a sign of concern about the amount of damage COVID-19 and forced lockdowns 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

9 

have had on the U.S. economy. So far, the Federal Reserve has resisted the lure of negative nominal interest rates. 
Even so, a large swath of the government curve, in the U.S. and the around the world, is already in a negative real rate 
posture.  

The Federal Reserve has also disclosed it intends to change how it thinks of its inflation target. Previously, the Fed 
thought of meeting an inflation target point estimate. Now, it will think of the inflation target as an average over time. 
This means it will allow inflation to run hotter than the target of 2% on core personal consumption expenditure deflator 
(Core PCE), the Federal Reserve’s preferred measure of inflation, for some indeterminate period of time and will not 
necessarily reflexively raise policy interest rates once inflation begins to rear its head. The Federal Reserve has faced 
criticism in the past for raising interest rates when wages begin to rise. As we’ve mentioned, some wage inflation now 
would help U.S. workers recover. 

 
Source: Bloomberg. Visual created by Lockwood Advisors, Inc. Data as of September 30, 2020.  

The Federal Reserve has been playing a large role in the U.S. debt markets in order to provide liquidity to stressed 
markets. In combination with its inflation stance, this implies that real interest rates could not only remain low but also 
actually fall. Low real interest rates will likely support equity prices. The Fed will also likely boost precious metals prices 
that have a high correlation with lower real rates. It also means that investors, like the mythological Sisyphus who 
pushes his rock up the hill again and again, will remain on the never-ending quest for something resembling a positive 
real yield on their investments.  

Interestingly, the Federal Reserve has been actively calling for additional fiscal stimulus to support the economy. In 
most circumstances, the Federal Reserve cajoles legislators for their profligate and spendthrift stance on fiscal policy, 
and has consistently labeled U.S. fiscal policy as unsustainable. This time, though, the Federal Reserve acknowledges 
that its arsenal to provide support to the economy is running thin. Central banks are all in and enormously stimulative. 
It’s worth pointing out, however, that support for the corporate bond market has been sharply curtailed since August. 
Nonetheless, the Fed’s policy stance underscores its concern in the near-term around additional damage from COVID-
19 and weak domestic economic conditions. 

1973 1974 1975 1976 1977 1978 1979 1980
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

Inflation and Federal Funds Policy Rate: 1973–1981 

CPI-U:  Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers,
YOY%
Federal Funds Rate (Effective, %)

Annual Rate (year over year %) 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

10 

Overall, the Federal Reserve would like to see inflation approach or even surpass its 2% target to help debt burdens 
and workers find their way out of current economic fragility. It doesn’t mean the Federal Reserve will get additional 
inflation but, like in the late 1970s, it may take some time for changes in policy prescriptions to have the desired effect.  

Currency Volatility  
Many of these long-term concerns may be showing up in currencies. Some of the recent currency volatility can be 
traced to investors reassessing Federal Reserve policy changes and the lack of fiscal discipline. The Dollar Index, a 
measure of the value of the dollar compared to other major world currencies, peaked on March 20 at an index value of 
nearly 103. Since then, it slid to under 92 in early September, a value it had not seen since its ascendance in the 2014-
2015 period when the U.S. economy was firmly entrenched in an economic recovery and benefiting from pronounced 
energy weakness. More recently, it has bounced off the marks from early September and ended the month at 93.886. 
This small backup in dollar values has roiled markets. It’s still too early to determine whether the 12-year bullish run in 
the dollar is over, but expansive monetary and fiscal policy will put more dollars in circulation around the globe. Most 
valuation measures, such as PPP (purchasing power parity) have shown the dollar in an overvalued state for several 
years. The dollar has shown a strong degree of global investor caution, but it may be hard to sustain these values in 
the face of overwhelming stimulus from monetary and fiscal authorities. If the Federal Reserve wants more inflation 
and ultimately gets it, the U.S. dollar will react negatively.  

 
Source: Bloomberg. Visual created by Lockwood Advisors, Inc. Data as of September 30, 2020.  

Rough September  
Capital markets had a rough September, reversing many of the previous trends that we have seen since the troughs in 
risk assets in the spring. So far, the consensus view is that the markets just need a breather, a correction, a small, 
sharp pullback from the exhaustive and heady summer exuberance. There is an assemblage of near-term temporal 
concerns that markets must overcome. We face a wickedly contested election with a heightened prospect for violence 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
70

80

90

100

110

U.S. Dollar Index: 2008–Present 

U.S. Dollar Index Value (against major world currencies)

Index Value 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

11 

and confusion. Volatility futures predict a marked possibility of market disruption after the election. There has been no 
resolution about continued fiscal support for the economy as we enter the fourth quarter while heated partisanship over 
a Supreme Court nominee flares tempers and makes compromise more difficult. Lack of additional stimulus brings into 
open question the possibility of a fiscal cliff that could emerge for workers and businesses impacted by the virus. 
Lastly, as mentioned, recent dollar strength puts some recent market trends into reversal.  

Unusual Technical and Volatility Market Setup 
Technically, it’s unusual for a market correction to begin from such high levels of volatility (measured by the VIX 
Index). Most major market reversals take place when volatility is low and markets are complacent when faced with a 
shock. Does it imply that more market volatility is ahead?  

Volatility (VIX) at Previous Market Peaks 
Date S&P 500 VIX 
3/24/2000 1527.46 23.31 
10/11/2007 1554.41 18.88 
5/2/2011 1361.22 15.99 
5/21/2015 2130.82 12.11 
9/21/2018 2929.67 11.68 
2/19/2020 3386.15 14.38 
9/30/2020 3363.00 26.37 

 
VIX is the ticker symbol for the Chicago Board Options Exchange (CBOE) Volatility Index, which shows the market's expectation of 30-day volatility. 
It is constructed using the implied volatilities of a wide range of S&P 500 index options. This volatility is meant to be forward looking, is calculated 
from both calls and puts, and is a widely used measure of market risk, often referred to as the "investor fear gauge.“  
Source: Bloomberg. Data as of September 30, 2020. Visual created by Lockwood Advisors, Inc. 

 

We predicted last quarter that volatility would remain well above 2019 levels and that has remained true, never dipping 
below 20 on the VIX since the virus crisis began. The high levels of implied volatility show high levels of investor 
caution. However, that could set the stage for calmer markets once we get through the near-term concerns listed 
above. Lower implied volatility is usually the path when we have extraordinary monetary stimulus.  

COVID-19 Is Global 
Concerns about the long-term fiscal health of many nations are coming to the forefront as a result of COVID-19. It’s 
exacerbating slow growth and demographic trends that were already in place, and taxing monetary authorities to their 
limits. Many countries might prefer more inflation now. The World Bank, in its June 2020 Global Economic Prospects, 
says that the global economy will shrink 5.2%, making this year the worst recession since World War II. It also expects 
a global rebound of 4.2% in 2021, but the damage wrought in 2020 will leave deep scars on the global outlook. 
Moreover, of the countries that the World Bank tracks, a higher percentage than ever are currently experiencing their 
worst decline in per capita output since 1870. For reference, the U.S. is projected to decline 7% and rebound 4% in 
2021. COVID-19 has left particularly deep impressions on Europe and Latin America.  

The virus itself will continue to play a large role in the shape of the recovery. In the United Kingdom, Spain, India, parts 
of Latin America and several U.S. states, we’re seeing a dreaded second wave of infections. The question is whether it 
spreads to other parts of the U.S. and other nations around the world. Also, will authorities react differently when faced 
with opposition to widespread lockdowns? Has the virus mutated and, if so, how? There are four coronavirus vaccines 
in late-stage clinical studies. A breakthrough on that front will be sorely welcome, but will still need manufacturing 
prowess and widespread acceptance to succeed on a broad scale. Many asset managers appear to base their 
optimistic forecasts on a successful virus vaccine emerging over the next several quarters.  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

12 

U.S.  
There are multiple developments besides a vaccine that could prove to be positive catalysts for equity markets. Yes, 
we’re getting a recovery and the U.S. GDP growth in the third quarter will be strong. However, we still won’t get back to 
pre-COVID-19 levels of output for at least several years. The employment damage, while steadily improving, will 
progress at a slower pace than it has this summer. As we noted in last quarter’s commentary, Americans have put 
substantial savings away since the virus started. That cash could get put back to work at some point. Corporations 
have amassed an impressive cash hoard as well and those funds could go to support stock buybacks, but that positive 
outcome seems conditional on politics that would block a sizable increase in the corporate tax rate. 

U.S. equity markets look extremely expensive on very suppressed earnings, so we expect that markets will continue to 
be extraordinarily sensitive to the direction and pace of earnings estimates far into the future. There has been a shift in 
2020 towards relying on much longer-run valuation measures. Disappointingly, S&P 500 Index earnings estimates for 
2021 continue to come in. They have declined about $5 in the past month on top of a $30 decline in the estimate since 
the beginning of the year. That is a disconnect. Right now, markets are giving corporate results a pass and expecting 
much better results soon, but estimates continue to be under pressure. High valuations give fundamental buyers 
pause and makes equity markets vulnerable to disappointing news. Credit also looks like it has regained a very 
expensive posture relative to history.  

Need Immediate Money 
Last but not least, the equity markets continue to bask in extremely stimulative monetary policy. “Don’t Fight the Fed” 
is a worn out cliché, but formed the basis for the markets’ complete recovery over 2020. The extreme stimulus 
measures from monetary policy makers in the U.S. and around the world is one of the reasons asset allocators have 
not gotten too worked up over recent market gyrations. It’s been made clear, again, that enough Federal Reserve 
stimulus can bolster markets. The question for markets in the years ahead is whether the Fed can also whip up some 
inflation.  

We still believe that current market conditions and high valuations, overall, warrant a cautious and protective stance for 
client assets at this juncture. 

Of course, if you turn the red WIN pin upside down it becomes NIM. At the time, jokesters opined that the 
policy acronym meant “No Immediate Miracles” or “Need Immediate Money.” Given that the markets appear 
disappointed without additional fiscal stimulus packages or additional measures from the Fed, these may be 

appropriate messages for markets today. 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

13 

Performance Review 
• All Static and Year of Enrollment portfolios have met their respective benchmarks in Q3 2020, year-to-date, 

and trailing 12 month period.  
• No remedial action is necessary.  
• There are no funds on the Watch List. All funds have performed as expected. 

  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

14 

Static Portfolio Review 

 
Source: SumDay Administration, LLC, a BNY Mellon Company. SumDay is an affiliate of Lockwood Advisors, Inc.  
Portfolio allocations as of 9/30/2020 

Static Portfolio Underlying Fund Allocations 

 

Source: SumDay Administration, LLC, a BNY Mellon Company. SumDay is an affiliate of Lockwood Advisors, Inc.  
Portfolio allocations as of 9/30/2020 

 
  

Asset Category Fund Ticker

Cash 
Preservation 

Portfolio

Income 
Portfolio

Income and 
Growth 

Portfolio

Balanced 
Portfolio

Conservative 
Growth 

Portfolio

Moderate 
Growth 

Portfolio

Growth 
Portfolio

U.S. Large Cap Blend Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund FSKAX 0 0 10 13 16 21 25
U.S. Large Cap Blend Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund® SWTSX 0 0 10 13 16 21 25
Foreign Large Blend Fidelity® International Index Fund FSPSX 0 0 15 18 21 29 37
Diversified Emerging Mkts Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund FPADX 0 0 5 6 7 9 12

Intermediate-Term Bond Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund FXNAX 0 30 24 20 15 6 0
Intermediate-Term Bond Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Institutional Plus Shares VBMPX 0 30 24 20 15 6 0
Long Government Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund Institutional Shares VLGIX 0 5 4 3 3 2 0
Inflation-Protected Bond Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund SWRSX 0 8 5 4 4 3 0
Emerging Markets Bond Vanguard Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund Institutional Shares VGIVX 0 2 2 2 2 2 0

Cash Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund Investor Shares VMFXX 100 25 1 1 1 1 1

Equity 0 0 40 50 60 80 99
Fixed Income 0 75 59 49 39 19 0

Cash 100 25 1 1 1 1 1

Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

15 

 
Please see Blended Benchmark Definitions in the Important Disclosures section at the end of this report.  
 
Performance as of 9/30/2020. 
 
Source: SumDay Administration, LLC, a BNY Mellon Company. SumDay is an affiliate of Lockwood Advisors, Inc.  
 
Performance is calculated using a time and asset-weighted Modified Dietz methodology. The Gross of Fees Return shown reflects the deduction of 
fees and expenses associated with the underlying mutual funds held in the portfolio (the “Underlying Fund Fee”). The Net of Fees Return shown 
reflects the deduction of the Underlying Fund Fee, Service Fee, and State Administrative Fee (together, the “Total Annual Asset-Based Fee”). The 
returns shown do not reflect account maintenance fees or other account level service-based fees (e.g., returned check fees, statement delivery fees, 
etc.).  
 
Past performance is not a guarantee of future results. Current performance may be lower or higher than the performance data quoted. The 
investment return and principal value of an investment will fluctuate, so that an investor’s assets, when sold, may be worth more or less than their 
original cost.  

Indices are unmanaged and are not available for direct investment. 

  

Growth Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Income & Growth Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 7.51 0.19 9.09 Gross of Fees Return 3.52 5.63 9.28
Net of All Fees Return 7.45 0.03 8.85 Net of All Fees Return 3.46 5.46 9.04
Blended Benchmark 7.48 -0.15 8.82 Blended Benchmark 3.55 5.01 8.77
Excess Return -0.03 0.18 0.03 Excess Return -0.09 0.45 0.27

Moderate Growth Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Income Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 6.32 2.34 9.63 Gross of Fees Return 0.61 6.06 6.06
Net of All Fees Return 6.26 2.17 9.38 Net of All Fees Return 0.56 5.89 5.83
Blended Benchmark 6.31 1.86 9.21 Blended Benchmark 0.68 5.99 6.11
Excess Return -0.05 0.31 0.17 Excess Return -0.12 -0.10 -0.28

Conservative Growth Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Cash Preservation Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 5.00 4.39 9.91 Gross of Fees Return 0.01 0.37 0.78
Net of All Fees Return 4.94 4.21 9.67 Net of All Fees Return -0.04 0.20 0.55
Blended Benchmark 4.98 3.66 9.25 Benchmark 0.03 0.52 0.96
Excess Return -0.04 0.55 0.42 Excess Return -0.07 -0.32 -0.41

Balanced Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 4.25 5.02 9.64
Net of All Fees Return 4.19 4.85 9.40
Blended Benchmark 4.25 4.27 8.97
Excess Return -0.06 0.58 0.43



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

16 

Conservative Year of Enrollment Portfolio Review 

Conservative Year of Enrollment Portfolio Underlying Fund Allocations 

 
Source: SumDay Administration, LLC, a BNY Mellon Company. SumDay is an affiliate of Lockwood Advisors, Inc. 
Portfolio allocations as of 9/30/2020. 
  

Asset Category Fund Ticker
YoE 
2038

YoE 
2036

YoE 
2034

YoE 
2032

YoE 
2030

YoE 
2028

YoE 
2026

YoE 
2024

YoE 
2022

Enrolled

U.S. Large Cap Blend Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund FSKAX 15 13 12 9 7 4 3 2 0 0
U.S. Large Cap Blend Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund® SWTSX 14 13 11 9 6 4 2 1 0 0
Foreign Large Blend Fidelity® International Index Fund FSPSX 19 18 16 12 8 5 4 2 0 0
Diversified Emerging Mkts Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund FPADX 7 6 6 5 4 2 1 0 0 0

Intermediate-Term Bond Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund FXNAX 17 20 21 26 29 26 26 18 20 20
Intermediate-Term Bond Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Institutional Plus Shares VBMPX 18 20 22 26 30 27 27 18 21 21
Long Government Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund Institutional Shares VLGIX 3 3 4 4 5 4 4 3 3 3
Inflation-Protected Bond Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund SWRSX 4 4 5 6 8 6 6 4 4 4
Emerging Markets Bond Vanguard Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund Institutional Shares VGIVX 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cash Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund Investor Shares VMFXX 1 1 1 1 1 20 25 50 50 50

Equity 55 50 45 35 25 15 10 5 0 0
Fixed Income 44 49 54 64 74 65 65 45 50 50

Cash 1 1 1 1 1 20 25 50 50 50

Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

17 

 
 
Please see Blended Benchmark Definitions in the Important Disclosures section at the end of this report.  
 
Performance as of 9/30/2020. 
 
Source: SumDay Administration, LLC, a BNY Mellon Company. SumDay is an affiliate of Lockwood Advisors, Inc.  
 
Performance is calculated using a time and asset-weighted Modified Dietz methodology. The Gross of Fees Return shown reflects the deduction of 
fees and expenses associated with the underlying mutual funds held in the portfolio (the “Underlying Fund Fee”). The Net of Fees Return shown 
reflects the deduction of the Underlying Fund Fee, Service Fee, and State Administrative Fee (together, the “Total Annual Asset-Based Fee”). The 
returns shown do not reflect account maintenance fees or other account level service-based fees (e.g., returned check fees, statement delivery fees, 
etc.).  
 
Past performance is not a guarantee of future results. Current performance may be lower or higher than the performance data quoted. The 
investment return and principal value of an investment will fluctuate, so that an investor’s assets, when sold, may be worth more or less than their 
original cost.  

Indices are unmanaged and are not available for direct investment. 

  

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2036 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Conservative Year of Enrollment 2026 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 4.34 4.24 9.35 Gross of Fees Return 1.48 5.78 7.22
Net of All Fees Return 4.28 4.07 9.12 Net of All Fees Return 1.42 5.60 6.99
Blended Benchmark 4.25 3.62 8.77 Blended Benchmark 1.33 4.99 6.51
Excess Return 0.03 0.45 0.35 Excess Return 0.09 0.61 0.48

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2034 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Conservative Year of Enrollment 2024 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 3.97 4.90 9.54 Gross of Fees Return 0.97 5.24 6.20
Net of All Fees Return 3.91 4.73 9.30 Net of All Fees Return 0.91 5.07 5.97
Blended Benchmark 3.94 3.96 8.64 Blended Benchmark 0.79 4.72 5.78
Excess Return -0.03 0.77 0.66 Excess Return 0.12 0.35 0.19

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2032 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Conservative Year of Enrollment 2022 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 3.35 5.70 9.37 Gross of Fees Return 0.53 3.74 4.36
Net of All Fees Return 3.29 5.53 9.13 Net of All Fees Return 0.47 3.57 4.13
Blended Benchmark 3.28 4.74 8.48 Blended Benchmark 0.45 3.46 4.14
Excess Return 0.01 0.79 0.65 Excess Return 0.02 0.11 -0.01

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2030 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Conservative Year of Enrollment Enrolled Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 2.73 6.25 9.03 Gross of Fees Return 0.42 NA NA
Net of All Fees Return 2.67 6.07 8.79 Net of All Fees Return 0.37 NA NA
Blended Benchmark 2.64 5.43 8.29 Blended Benchmark 0.45 NA NA
Excess Return 0.03 0.64 0.50 Excess Return -0.08 NA NA

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2028 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 1.93 6.18 8.09
Net of All Fees Return 1.88 6.00 7.85
Blended Benchmark 1.75 5.32 7.29
Excess Return 0.13 0.68 0.56



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

18 

Moderate Year of Enrollment Portfolio Review 

Moderate Year of Enrollment Portfolio Underlying Fund Allocations 

 

Source: SumDay Administration, LLC, a BNY Mellon Company. SumDay is an affiliate of Lockwood Advisors, Inc. 
Portfolio allocations as of 9/30/2020. 
  

Asset Category Fund Ticker
YoE 
2038

YoE 
2036

YoE 
2034

YoE 
2032

YoE 
2030

YoE 
2028

YoE 
2026

YoE 
2024

YoE 
2022

Enrolled

U.S. Large Cap Blend Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund FSKAX 24 24 21 18 16 13 9 5 3 0
U.S. Large Cap Blend Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund® SWTSX 23 23 21 18 16 13 9 5 2 0
Foreign Large Blend Fidelity® International Index Fund FSPSX 33 33 29 26 21 18 12 7 4 0
Diversified Emerging Mkts Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund FPADX 10 10 9 8 7 6 5 3 1 0

Intermediate-Term Bond Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund FXNAX 3 3 6 10 15 20 24 27 27 27
Intermediate-Term Bond Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Institutional Plus Shares VBMPX 2 2 6 10 15 20 25 28 28 28
Long Government Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund Institutional Shares VLGIX 1 1 2 3 3 3 4 5 5 5
Inflation-Protected Bond Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund SWRSX 2 2 3 4 4 4 5 8 8 8
Emerging Markets Bond Vanguard Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund Institutional Shares VGIVX 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cash Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund Investor Shares VMFXX 1 1 1 1 1 1 5 10 20 30

Equity 90 90 80 70 60 50 35 20 10 0
Fixed Income 9 9 19 29 39 49 60 70 70 70

Cash 1 1 1 1 1 1 5 10 20 30

Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

19 

 
Please see Blended Benchmark Definitions in the Important Disclosures section at the end of this report.  
 
Performance as of 9/30/2020. 
 
Source: SumDay Administration, LLC, a BNY Mellon Company. SumDay is an affiliate of Lockwood Advisors, Inc.  
 
Performance is calculated using a time and asset-weighted Modified Dietz methodology. The Gross of Fees Return shown reflects the deduction of 
fees and expenses associated with the underlying mutual funds held in the portfolio (the “Underlying Fund Fee”). The Net of Fees Return shown 
reflects the deduction of the Underlying Fund Fee, Service Fee, and State Administrative Fee (together, the “Total Annual Asset-Based Fee”). The 
returns shown do not reflect account maintenance fees or other account level service-based fees (e.g., returned check fees, statement delivery fees, 
etc.).  
 
Past performance is not a guarantee of future results. Current performance may be lower or higher than the performance data quoted. The 
investment return and principal value of an investment will fluctuate, so that an investor’s assets, when sold, may be worth more or less than their 
original cost.  

Indices are unmanaged and are not available for direct investment. 

 

 
  

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2036 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Moderate Year of Enrollment 2026 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 6.85 1.43 9.58 Gross of Fees Return 3.67 4.67 9.31
Net of All Fees Return 6.79 1.27 9.34 Net of All Fees Return 3.61 4.50 9.07
Blended Benchmark 6.95 0.89 9.10 Blended Benchmark 3.23 3.25 7.90
Excess Return -0.16 0.38 0.24 Excess Return 0.38 1.25 1.17

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2034 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Moderate Year of Enrollment 2024 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 6.49 0.78 8.88 Gross of Fees Return 2.67 5.45 8.70
Net of All Fees Return 6.43 0.62 8.65 Net of All Fees Return 2.61 5.28 8.46
Blended Benchmark 6.31 0.30 8.45 Blended Benchmark 2.19 4.14 7.45
Excess Return 0.12 0.32 0.20 Excess Return 0.42 1.14 1.01

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2032 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Moderate Year of Enrollment 2022 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 5.85 1.82 9.08 Gross of Fees Return 1.73 6.05 7.91
Net of All Fees Return 5.79 1.65 8.84 Net of All Fees Return 1.67 5.87 7.67
Blended Benchmark 5.61 1.19 8.49 Blended Benchmark 1.40 5.11 7.04
Excess Return 0.18 0.46 0.35 Excess Return 0.27 0.76 0.63

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2030 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Moderate Year of Enrollment Enrolled Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 5.24 3.18 9.55 Gross of Fees Return 0.63 NA NA
Net of All Fees Return 5.18 3.01 9.31 Net of All Fees Return 0.58 NA NA
Blended Benchmark 4.98 2.12 8.53 Blended Benchmark 0.66 NA NA
Excess Return 0.20 0.89 0.78 Excess Return -0.08 NA NA

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2028 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 4.54 4.03 9.53
Net of All Fees Return 4.48 3.86 9.29
Blended Benchmark 4.25 2.95 8.50
Excess Return 0.23 0.91 0.79



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

20 

Growth Year of Enrollment Portfolio Review 

Growth Year of Enrollment Portfolio Underlying Fund Allocations 

 

Source: SumDay Administration, LLC, a BNY Mellon Company. SumDay is an affiliate of Lockwood Advisors, Inc. 
Portfolio allocations as of 9/30/2020. 
  

Asset Category Fund Ticker
YoE 
2038

YoE 
2036

YoE 
2034

YoE 
2032

YoE 
2030

YoE 
2028

YoE 
2026

YoE 
2024

YoE 
2022

Enrolled

U.S. Large Cap Blend Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund FSKAX 25 25 24 24 22 21 18 13 8 3
U.S. Large Cap Blend Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund® SWTSX 24 24 23 23 22 21 18 13 7 2
Foreign Large Blend Fidelity® International Index Fund FSPSX 35 35 33 33 31 29 26 18 11 4
Diversified Emerging Mkts Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund FPADX 11 11 10 10 10 9 8 6 4 1

Intermediate-Term Bond Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund FXNAX 1 1 3 3 3 6 10 20 28 24
Intermediate-Term Bond Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Institutional Plus Shares VBMPX 1 1 2 2 4 6 10 20 28 24
Long Government Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund Institutional Shares VLGIX 1 1 1 1 2 2 3 3 4 4
Inflation-Protected Bond Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund SWRSX 0 0 2 2 3 3 4 4 7 6
Emerging Markets Bond Vanguard Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund Institutional Shares VGIVX 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cash Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund Investor Shares VMFXX 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 30

Equity 95 95 90 90 85 80 70 50 30 10
Fixed Income 4 4 9 9 14 19 29 49 69 60

Cash 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 30

Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

21 

 

Please see Blended Benchmark Definitions in the Important Disclosures section at the end of this report.  
 
Performance as of 9/30/2020. 
 
Source: SumDay Administration, LLC, a BNY Mellon Company. SumDay is an affiliate of Lockwood Advisors, Inc.  
 
Performance is calculated using a time and asset-weighted Modified Dietz methodology. The Gross of Fees Return shown reflects the deduction of 
fees and expenses associated with the underlying mutual funds held in the portfolio (the “Underlying Fund Fee”). The Net of Fees Return shown 
reflects the deduction of the Underlying Fund Fee, Service Fee, and State Administrative Fee (together, the “Total Annual Asset-Based Fee”). The 
returns shown do not reflect account maintenance fees or other account level service-based fees (e.g., returned check fees, statement delivery fees, 
etc.).  
 
Past performance is not a guarantee of future results. Current performance may be lower or higher than the performance data quoted. The 
investment return and principal value of an investment will fluctuate, so that an investor’s assets, when sold, may be worth more or less than their 
original cost. Indices are unmanaged and are not available for direct investment. 

 

  

Growth Year of Enrollment 2036 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Growth Year of Enrollment 2026 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 7.19 0.37 8.88 Gross of Fees Return 5.91 2.08 9.38
Net of All Fees Return 7.13 0.21 8.64 Net of All Fees Return 5.85 1.92 9.14
Blended Benchmark 7.24 0.37 8.99 Blended Benchmark 5.61 1.19 8.49
Excess Return -0.11 -0.16 -0.35 Excess Return 0.24 0.73 0.65

Growth Year of Enrollment 2034 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Growth Year of Enrollment 2024 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 7.05 0.57 9.07 Gross of Fees Return 4.57 3.84 9.35
Net of All Fees Return 6.99 0.40 8.83 Net of All Fees Return 4.51 3.67 9.11
Blended Benchmark 6.95 0.10 8.69 Blended Benchmark 4.25 2.86 8.40
Excess Return 0.04 0.30 0.14 Excess Return 0.26 0.81 0.71

Growth Year of Enrollment 2032 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Growth Year of Enrollment 2022 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 6.95 1.30 9.41 Gross of Fees Return 3.20 5.43 9.09
Net of All Fees Return 6.89 1.13 9.17 Net of All Fees Return 3.15 5.26 8.86
Blended Benchmark 6.95 0.89 9.10 Blended Benchmark 2.91 4.46 8.20
Excess Return -0.06 0.24 0.07 Excess Return 0.24 0.80 0.66

Growth Year of Enrollment 2030 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year Growth Year of Enrollment Enrolled Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 6.77 1.13 9.25 Gross of Fees Return 1.25 NA NA
Net of All Fees Return 6.71 0.96 9.01 Net of All Fees Return 1.20 NA NA
Blended Benchmark 6.65 0.62 8.80 Blended Benchmark 1.30 NA NA
Excess Return 0.06 0.34 0.21 Excess Return -0.10 NA NA

Growth Year of Enrollment 2028 Portfolio Q3 2020 YTD 1 Year
Gross of Fees Return 6.49 1.74 9.46
Net of All Fees Return 6.43 1.57 9.22
Blended Benchmark 6.31 1.08 8.84
Excess Return 0.12 0.49 0.38



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

22 

DreamAhead College Investment Plan Mutual Fund Evaluations 
Presented by Lockwood Advisors, Inc. 
The following are evaluations of the funds used in DreamAhead. The sources used are BNY Mellon Manager 
Research Group (MRG), Morningstar, and the respective fund companies. Relevant MRG research was used where 
available, supplemented with Morningstar research and fund company data. The ratings and narratives used are taken 
directly from the sources noted. MRG and Morningstar use differing scales. MRG rates Organizations as Positive, 
Satisfactory, or Negative; while Morningstar rates Funds as Positive, Neutral or Negative; or High, Above Average, 
Average, Below Average, and Low. Source dates vary based on the most recent ratings available for a particular 
category, fund, or parent company. 

The following information and opinions contained in this material are derived from proprietary and nonproprietary 
sources deemed by Lockwood to be reliable, but are not necessarily all inclusive. Opinions and ratings are subject to 
change at any time without notice. Please refer to the Important Disclosures at the end of this document.  
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

23 

Fidelity Emerging Markets Index Fund (FPADX) 

Firm Background* 

Fidelity Institutional Asset Management Trust Company (FIAM) is the US-based investment management 
subsidiary of Fidelity Management & Research (FRM). FRM is a large, privately-held, multi-service financial 
services firm founded in 1946 by Edward C. Johnson. FMR is currently under the leadership of CEO Abigail 
Johnson. Approximately 49% of FMR is owned by Ms. Johnson and other members of the Johnson family. 
51% is held by employees and former employees.  

FIAM was established in 2015 through the combination of Pyramis Global Advisors and Fidelity Financial 
Advisor Solutions, which served, respectively, institutional and retail investment management clients. The 
firm manages roughly $175 billion across fixed income (38%), multi-asset (32%), and equity (28%), with 
cash and alternatives comprising the balance.  Judy Marlinski is President of FIAM, She reports to Mike 
Dervin, Head of Fidelity Institutional at FMR. 

Organization: Satisfactory*  

FMR and, by extension, FIAM are highly complex and deeply intertwined organizations. Differences 
between functional business units and legal entities are often indistinct, but the high degree of involvement 
from the senior ranks of the FMR organization, particularly given the hands-on approach of FMR CEO 
Abigail Johnson, appear to manage this complexity effectively. FIAM is large, owing a portion of its success 
to the strong brand and distribution power of the parent company. The firm maintains a diversified client 
base and product line, as well as a strong investment culture. Senior leadership at FIAM has experienced 
some significant changes over the past two years, most notably the retirement of Charlie Morrison, FMR’s 
President of Asset Management, in December of 2018 and the departure of Scott Cuoto, President of FIAM 
in mid-2017. The President of FIAM reports into the President of Asset Management at FRM Additionally, 
the firm has experienced high profile sexual harassment claims in recent years, leading to some turnover 
among senior investment professionals. This may indicate that the firm has non-investment-related cultural 
issues, which can still damage the likelihood of success for the investment teams. However, senior 
management responded forcefully, and we will continue to monitor the organization for cultural and legal 
issues. 

Strategy** 

The Fidelity® Emerging Markets Index Fund seeks to provide investment results that correspond to the total 
return of emerging stock markets. 

Normally investing at least 80% of assets in securities included in the MSCI Emerging Markets Index and in 
depository receipts representing securities included in the index. Using statistical sampling techniques 
based on such factors as capitalization, industry exposures, dividend yield, price/earnings ratio, price/book 
ratio, earnings growth, country weightings, and the effect of foreign taxes to attempt to replicate the returns 
of the MSCI Emerging Markets Index. Lending securities to earn income for the fund. 

Summary 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Performance 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

24 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Price 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Process 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

People 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of July 2019 
** Source: Fidelity (FMR, LLC), as of 9/30/2020 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

25 

 

 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

26 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

27 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

28 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

29 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

30 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

31 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

32 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

33 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

34 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

35 

  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

36 

Fidelity International Index Fund (FSPSX) 

Firm Background* 

Fidelity Institutional Asset Management Trust Company (FIAM) is the US-based investment management 
subsidiary of Fidelity Management & Research (FRM). FRM is a large, privately-held, multi-service financial 
services firm founded in 1946 by Edward C. Johnson. FMR is currently under the leadership of CEO Abigail 
Johnson. Approximately 49% of FMR is owned by Ms. Johnson and other members of the Johnson family. 
51% is held by employees and former employees.  

FIAM was established in 2015 through the combination of Pyramis Global Advisors and Fidelity Financial 
Advisor Solutions, which served, respectively, institutional and retail investment management clients. The 
firm manages roughly $175 billion across fixed income (38%), multi-asset (32%), and equity (28%), with 
cash and alternatives comprising the balance.  Judy Marlinski is President of FIAM, She reports to Mike 
Dervin, Head of Fidelity Institutional at FMR. 

Organization: Satisfactory* 

FMR and, by extension, FIAM are highly complex and deeply intertwined organizations. Differences 
between functional business units and legal entities are often indistinct, but the high degree of involvement 
from the senior ranks of the FMR organization, particularly given the hands-on approach of FMR CEO 
Abigail Johnson, appear to manage this complexity effectively. FIAM is large, owing a portion of its success 
to the strong brand and distribution power of the parent company. The firm maintains a diversified client 
base and product line, as well as a strong investment culture. Senior leadership at FIAM has experienced 
some significant changes over the past two years, most notably the retirement of Charlie Morrison, FMR’s 
President of Asset Management, in December of 2018 and the departure of Scott Cuoto, President of FIAM 
in mid-2017. The President of FIAM reports into the President of Asset Management at FRM Additionally, 
the firm has experienced high profile sexual harassment claims in recent years, leading to some turnover 
among senior investment professionals. This may indicate that the firm has non-investment-related cultural 
issues, which can still damage the likelihood of success for the investment teams. However, senior 
management responded forcefully, and we will continue to monitor the organization for cultural and legal 
issues. 

Strategy** 

Fidelity® International Index Fund seeks to provide investment results that correspond to the total return of 
foreign stock markets. 

Normally investing at least 80% of assets in common stocks included in the Morgan Stanley Capital 
International Europe, Australasia, Far East Inde1 x, which represents the performance of foreign stock 
markets. 

Summary*** 

Fidelity International Index has a well-diversified portfolio and rock-bottom fee that should add up to strong 
category-relative performance over the long-run. It earns a Morningstar Analyst Rating of Silver. 

This fund tracks the MSCI EAFE Index. It holds large- and mid-cap stocks from 21 overseas developed 
markets. It weights them by market capitalization, an approach that benefits investors by capturing the 
market’s collective opinion of each stock’s value while keeping turnover low. 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

37 

Market-cap weighting can be tough to beat because the market tends to do a good job valuing stocks over 
the long term. Occasionally it will increase the fund’s exposure to expensive stocks when investors get 
excited about an area of the market. But this doesn’t undermine its long-term efficacy. 

The portfolio’s solid diversification mitigates the consequences of owning the worst-performing names. It 
holds more than 900 stocks and has only 12% of assets in its 10 largest names. Its regional composition 
looks modestly different from a typical fund in the category because it excludes emerging-markets stocks. 
But stocks from these regions account for about 6% of a typical peer’s portfolio, so ignoring them shouldn’t 
have a large impact on the fund’s category-relative performance. 

Performance over the past decade has been good but not great. The fund managed to beat the category 
average by 61 basis points annually over the decade ending in November 2019. But this advantage didn’t 
allow it stand out among its competitors. Its better-performing peers tended to be more conservative, 
allowing them to hold up better during market declines. Over the long run, fees tend to play a big role in 
determining category relative performance. So, this fund’s ultra-low expense ratio should provide a strong 
long-term edge. 

Performance*** 

The management team has delivered sound index-tracking performance, but the fund’s return has not stood 
out among its peers in Morningstar’s foreign large-blend category over the 10 years through November 
2019. Foreign markets performed poorly by historical standards over this period. Many of the better-
performing strategies in the category built their success through more-defensive portfolios. They tended to 
invest in relatively stable stocks or hold cash, which allowed them to better weather drawdowns than index 
tracking funds like this one. 

Stocks listed in Japan and the United Kingdom collectively account for more than 42% of this portfolio. 
Consequently, the performance of these two markets can have an outsize effect on performance. Over the 
past decade, Japanese stocks have been a tailwind while those from the U.K. were less advantageous. 

This fund does not hedge its currency risk. Over much of the past decade foreign-exchange rates have 
subtracted from its performance because the U.S. dollar has appreciated against the foreign currencies 
represented in this portfolio. Foreign-exchange rates tend to move in cycles, so an appreciating dollar will 
not always be a disadvantage. Over the long run, the impact of foreign exchange rates on total return tends 
to wash out. 

Price*** 

It’s critical to evaluate expenses, as they come directly out of returns. The share class on this report levies a 
fee that ranks in its Morningstar category’s cheapest quintile. Based on our assessment of the fund’s 
People, Process and Parent pillars in the context of these fees, we think this share class will be able to 
deliver positive alpha relative to the category benchmark index, explaining its Morningstar Analyst Rating of 
Silver. 

Process: Above Average*** 

This strategy earns an Above Average Process Pillar rating for capturing most of the overseas market 
capitalization while diversifying its stock and sector-specific risks.  

The fund’s portfolio managers use full replication to track the MSCI EAFE Index. This benchmark starts with 
all stocks listed in 21 foreign developed markets. It targets companies that land in the top 85% of each 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

38 

country’s market cap, with a buffer around that threshold to rein in unnecessary turnover. The index applies 
some additional liquidity screens to ensure its holdings are investable, and it weights its final constituents by 
their market capitalization. This approach helps control turnover and trading costs as each stock’s weight 
will adjust proportionally to price changes. The index reconstitutes semiannually in May and November with 
smaller adjustments in February and August, such as adding recent IPOs.  

The resulting portfolio captures a majority of the available foreign market capitalization. It effectively 
diversifies stock-specific risk, with only 12% of assets in its 10 largest holdings. Broad diversification causes 
the portfolio to look similar to the average of its category peers in certain ways. Sector weightings are 
comparable, with financial and industrial stocks collectively representing one-third of the fund’s assets.  

Country and regional allocations aren’t far off the category average either. The fund modestly differs from its 
peers in this regard, but the gaps don’t pose a significant threat to its category relative performance. 
Eurozone stocks represent 30% of the fund, while Japan and the United Kingdom make up an additional 
24% and 16%, respectively.  

The fund’s selection universe doesn’t include stocks listed in emerging markets and Canada. Japanese 
stocks mostly fill this gap, which is consistent with diversified, foreign developed market indexes. This 
strategy does not include small-cap names. This, combined with its market-cap-weighted approach, tilts the 
portfolio toward large-cap multinational corporations, with companies like Nestle, Toyota, and BP among its 
biggest names. 

People: Average*** 

The fund's management team is experienced and well-supported. But it earns an Average People Pillar 
rating because personnel turnover has been on the high side. 

The fund is managed by a team of five managers from Geode Capital Management, which subadvises 
Fidelity's index-tracking funds. Splitting responsibilities across several managers can reduce the impact of 
departures. However, six managers have left the fund since September 2012. Most recently, Tom Brussard 
was removed as a named manager in April 2018 and Patrick Waddell retired from Geode in April 2019. 
Payal Kapoor Gupta was added to the roster in June 2019 to fill the gap left by Waddell. She previously 
managed portfolios at State Street Global Advisors. 

Louis Bottari, Peter Matthew, Robert Regan, and Deane Gyllenhaal are the other named managers on this 
fund. Bottari is the longest tenured manager, having served since January 2009, while Matthew joined three 
years later in 2012. Regan and Gylenhaal have only been at Geode for a few years, but they previously 
worked as portfolio managers for SSGA and Hartford Investment Management, respectively. 

* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of July 2019 
** Source: Fidelity (FMR, LLC), as of 9/30/2020 
*** Source: Morningstar, Inc., as of 12/9/2019 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

39 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

40 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

41 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

42 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

43 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

44 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

45 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

46 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

47 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

48 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

49 

 

  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

50 

Fidelity Total Market Index Fund (FSKAX) 

Firm Background* 

Fidelity Institutional Asset Management Trust Company (FIAM) is the US-based investment management 
subsidiary of Fidelity Management & Research (FRM). FRM is a large, privately-held, multi-service financial 
services firm founded in 1946 by Edward C. Johnson. FMR is currently under the leadership of CEO Abigail 
Johnson. Approximately 49% of FMR is owned by Ms. Johnson and other members of the Johnson family. 
51% is held by employees and former employees.  

FIAM was established in 2015 through the combination of Pyramis Global Advisors and Fidelity Financial 
Advisor Solutions, which served, respectively, institutional and retail investment management clients. The 
firm manages roughly $175 billion across fixed income (38%), multi-asset (32%), and equity (28%), with 
cash and alternatives comprising the balance.  Judy Marlinski is President of FIAM, She reports to Mike 
Dervin, Head of Fidelity Institutional at FMR. 

Organization: Satisfactory* 

FMR and, by extension, FIAM are highly complex and deeply intertwined organizations. Differences 
between functional business units and legal entities are often indistinct, but the high degree of involvement 
from the senior ranks of the FMR organization, particularly given the hands-on approach of FMR CEO 
Abigail Johnson, appear to manage this complexity effectively. FIAM is large, owing a portion of its success 
to the strong brand and distribution power of the parent company. The firm maintains a diversified client 
base and product line, as well as a strong investment culture. Senior leadership at FIAM has experienced 
some significant changes over the past two years, most notably the retirement of Charlie Morrison, FMR’s 
President of Asset Management, in December of 2018 and the departure of Scott Cuoto, President of FIAM 
in mid-2017. The President of FIAM reports into the President of Asset Management at FRM Additionally, 
the firm has experienced high profile sexual harassment claims in recent years, leading to some turnover 
among senior investment professionals. This may indicate that the firm has non-investment-related cultural 
issues, which can still damage the likelihood of success for the investment teams. However, senior 
management responded forcefully, and we will continue to monitor the organization for cultural and legal 
issues. 

Strategy** 

Fidelity® Total Market Index Fund seeks to provide investment results that correspond to the total return of 
a broad range of United States stocks. 

Normally investing at least 80% of assets in common stocks included in the Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock 
Market Index, which represents the performance of a broad range of U.S. stocks.  
 
Summary*** 

It effectively replicates the composition of the total U.S. stock market, which has been hard to beat over the 
long term. The fund’s low fee and broad diversification set it up for success. It earns a Morningstar Analyst 
Rating of Gold.  

The fund tracks the Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index, which includes nearly all U.S. stocks and 
weights them by market capitalization. Market-cap weighting pulls the portfolio toward the largest stocks, so 
the fund lands in the large-blend Morningstar Category. This broad market-cap-weighted index accurately 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

51 

reflects the composition of the U.S. large-cap market and harnesses the market’s collective wisdom. 
Compared with funds that target specific segments of the market, this fund isn’t prone to forced buying or 
selling that is the result of stocks entering or exiting a market segment. This should mitigate transaction 
costs and turnover, which is among the lowest in the large-blend category.  

The market doesn’t always get prices right. Over short periods, investors may overreact and either drive 
prices too high or low. Market-cap weighting will increase or decrease exposure to stocks accordingly. This 
can at times lead to stock and sector level concentration. That said, the fund’s broad diversification and low-
cost advantage far outweigh these minor disadvantages.  

The fund is always fully invested, which should help it more fully capture the market’s returns over the long 
term than most of its category peers but could expose it to greater losses during market downturns. Unlike 
many of its active peers, this portfolio excludes stocks listed outside the United States. This should help the 
fund’s category-relative performance when U.S. stocks outperform foreign stocks but hurt when they lag.  

The fund charges 0.02%, which is its greatest strength. It builds on this cost advantage with low turnover, 
which helps mitigate transaction costs.  

Performance*** 

Over the trailing 15 years ended February 2020, the fund beat the category average by 151 basis points 
annualized, with slightly higher risk. Much of this outperformance can be attributed to the fund's cost 
advantage, lower-than-average cash drag, and more favorable stock exposure in the healthcare, financial 
services, and consumer defensive sectors compared with the category average.  

The fund ranked in the top half over the trailing three and five years through February 2020, consistently 
outperforming the category average while exhibiting slightly higher volatility. The fund also tended to hold up 
as well as most of its peers during downturns since inception, despite its lower-than-average cash balance.  

This portfolio is always fully invested, which helps its category-relative performance during bull markets but 
could hurt during bear markets. Most actively managed funds in the category keep larger cash balances on 
hand to meet redemptions.  

The fund has effectively tracked its index. Over the trailing five-year periods through February 2020, the 
fund trailed the Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index by 2 basis points, the amount of its expense ratio.   

Price*** 

It’s critical to evaluate expenses, as they come directly out of returns. The share class on this report levies a 
fee that ranks in its Morningstar category’s cheapest quintile. Based on our assessment of the fund’s 
People, Process and Parent pillars in the context of these fees, we think this share class will be able to 
deliver positive alpha relative to the category benchmark index, explaining its Morningstar Analyst Rating of 
Gold.  

Process: High*** 

The fund represents the entire investable U.S. equity market, effectively harnessing the market’s collective 
wisdom and diversifying risk. It earns a High Process rating.  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

52 

The fund tracks the Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index, which holds nearly every U.S. stock listed on 
a major U.S. exchange. This gives the fund lower turnover than index funds that track specific size 
segments of the market, as it is not subject to forced trade when holdings migrate up and down the market-
cap ladder. By sampling among the smallest stocks in the index, the fund can avoid trading the least-liquid 
names, which keeps transaction costs down. However, this fund’s large asset base allows it to replicate the 
index more completely than other total market funds. The fund holds about 3,450 out of 3,700 stocks in the 
index.  

The portfolio managers reinvest dividends and use derivatives to equitize cash and keep pace with the 
benchmark. The fund has historically used securities lending to generate additional income to offset 
expenses.  

The fund mirrors the composition of the large-cap market, allowing the market to dictate its stock and sector 
weightings. This allows the fund to harness the market's collective view about the relative value of each 
stock and keeps turnover low; it is among the lowest in the category.  

The fund’s top 10 holdings account for about 20% of assets and the largest holding accounts for 4% of 
assets, which effectively diversifies firm-specific risk.  

Although it has a smaller market-cap orientation than the large-blend category average, this fund is 
representative of this category. Currently, the fund is slightly underweight in financial services and 
overweight in technology compared with the category average.  

Large companies tend to have greater competitive advantages compared with smaller companies, and this 
is evident here as close to 76% of the portfolio is invested in firms with wide or narrow moats. On average, 
the fund’s constituents generate 37% of their revenue overseas.  

People: Average*** 

Since early 2002, a team of quantitative specialists from Geode Capital Management has managed this 
fund. The team is experienced, but its support infrastructure does not stand out, and the team has 
experienced some turnover. It earns an Average People rating.  

The fund's multimanager approach mitigates the impact of departures. Four listed managers have been 
removed from the fund since September 2012, but most of these shuffled internally at Geode and did not 
leave the firm. Patrick Waddell, the longest-tenured member of the current six-person team, retired in 2019. 
Payal Gupta was hired in June 2019 to replace Waddell. Louis Bottari and Peter Matthew joined this team 
as assistant portfolio managers in 2009 and 2012, respectively. Since Waddell’s retirement, day-to-day 
management of the portfolio has been undertaken by Louis Bottari. Deane Gyllenhaal joined in April 2014 
and previously served as a portfolio manager at Hartford Investment Management. The team also added 
Tom Brussard and Robert Regan in the past year. Brussard started in August 2016 and has been an 
assistant portfolio manager with Geode since 2015. Regan joined in December 2016 and previously served 
as a portfolio manager at State Street Global Advisors.  

Manager compensation is tied to index-tracking performance, which helps align their interest with investors’. 
* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of July 2019 
** Source: Fidelity (FMR, LLC), as of 9/30/2020 
*** Source: Morningstar, Inc., as of 3/17/2020 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

53 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

54 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

55 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

56 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

57 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

58 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

59 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

60 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

61 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

62 

 
 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

63 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

64 

 

Fidelity U.S. Bond Index Fund (FXNAX) 

Firm Background* 

Fidelity Institutional Asset Management Trust Company (FIAM) is the US-based investment management 
subsidiary of Fidelity Management & Research (FRM). FRM is a large, privately-held, multi-service financial 
services firm founded in 1946 by Edward C. Johnson. FMR is currently under the leadership of CEO Abigail 
Johnson. Approximately 49% of FMR is owned by Ms. Johnson and other members of the Johnson family. 
51% is held by employees and former employees.  

FIAM was established in 2015 through the combination of Pyramis Global Advisors and Fidelity Financial 
Advisor Solutions, which served, respectively, institutional and retail investment management clients. The 
firm manages roughly $175 billion across fixed income (38%), multi-asset (32%), and equity (28%), with 
cash and alternatives comprising the balance.  Judy Marlinski is President of FIAM, She reports to Mike 
Dervin, Head of Fidelity Institutional at FMR. 

Organization* 

FMR and, by extension, FIAM are highly complex and deeply intertwined organizations. Differences 
between functional business units and legal entities are often indistinct, but the high degree of involvement 
from the senior ranks of the FMR organization, particularly given the hands-on approach of FMR CEO 
Abigail Johnson, appear to manage this complexity effectively. FIAM is large, owing a portion of its success 
to the strong brand and distribution power of the parent company. The firm maintains a diversified client 
base and product line, as well as a strong investment culture. Senior leadership at FIAM has experienced 
some significant changes over the past two years, most notably the retirement of Charlie Morrison, FMR’s 
President of Asset Management, in December of 2018 and the departure of Scott Cuoto, President of FIAM 
in mid-2017. The President of FIAM reports into the President of Asset Management at FRM Additionally, 
the firm has experienced high profile sexual harassment claims in recent years, leading to some turnover 
among senior investment professionals. This may indicate that the firm has non-investment-related cultural 
issues, which can still damage the likelihood of success for the investment teams. However, senior 
management responded forcefully, and we will continue to monitor the organization for cultural and legal 
issues. 

Strategy** 

Fidelity® U.S. Bond Index Fund seeks to provide investment results that correspond to the aggregate price 
and interest performance of the debt securities in the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index.  

Normally investing at least 80% of the fund's assets in bonds included in the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. 
Aggregate Bond Index. Using statistical sampling techniques based on duration, maturity, interest rate 
sensitivity, security structure, and credit quality to attempt to replicate the returns of the Index using a 
smaller number of securities. Engaging in transactions that have a leveraging effect on the fund, including 
investments in derivatives - such as swaps (interest rate, total return, and credit default) and futures 
contracts - and forward-settling securities, to adjust the fund's risk exposure. Investing in Fidelity's central 
funds (specialized investment vehicles used by Fidelity funds to invest in particular security types or 
investment disciplines). 
 
Summary*** 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

65 

Under our new ratings framework, which places greater emphasis on fees, the fund warrants an upgrade to 
a Morningstar Analyst Rating of Gold from Silver.  

The strategy tracks the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index, which includes investment-grade 
U.S. dollar-denominated bonds with at least one year until maturity. The index is weighted by market value, 
tilting the portfolio toward the largest, most liquid issues, which are easy to obtain and cheap to trade. This 
approach also harnesses the market’s collective wisdom about the relative value of each security. That 
said, bond issuing activity influences the composition of this portfolio.  

The U.S. government is the largest debt issuer in the United States, so the portfolio maintains a larger 
position in Treasuries relative to the intermediate core bond Morningstar Category average. The strategy 
invests nearly 70% of its assets in Treasuries and agency mortgaged-backed securities, which carry AAA 
ratings, while the corresponding figure for the category average is only about 45%. While this might limit the 
fund’s return potential, its lower credit risk should offer better downside protection.  

This portfolio has minimal credit risk, which can make it a low hurdle for active managers. That does not 
make this an unattractive proposition, as risk and return are highly correlated in the fixed-income market. 
Nearly 75% of the assets in this portfolio carry a AAA rating, making it one of the more conservative options 
in the category. Like most investment-grated portfolios, interest-rate risk is the biggest drivers of this fund’s 
returns. Its average effective duration is about 5.50 years as of February 2020, generally in line with the 
category average.  

While conservative, the fund’s corporate bond sleeve maintains a tilt toward BBB rated issues. As of 
February 2020, about 20% of the fund’s assets were in corporate bonds, while just under 10% of the fund’s 
assets were rated BBB.  

Performance*** 

The fund’s performance from its inception in May 2011 through March 2020 has been solid. It beat the 
category average by 30 basis points annually, which ranked in the category’s top third, largely thanks to its 
cost advantage.  

The fund’s category-relative performance is largely related to credit spreads, given its Treasury-heavy tilt. 
The fund has tended to outperform category peers during periods of widening credit spreads, and it has 
tended to lag during periods of tightening credit spreads. For example, the strategy outperformed its 
average category peer by 1.13% during 2011, as the ICE Bank of America BBB Option-Adjusted Spread, or 
OAS, widened by 1.04%. Conversely, the fund lagged the category average by 1.41% during 2012, as the 
OAS tightened by 1.07%.  

The fund’s conservative credit risk should help it weather periods of market turmoil better than most of its 
category peers. For instance, the strategy did not decline by nearly as much as its average peer during the 
onset of the novel coronavirus economic crisis, between Feb. 20, 2020, and March 22, 2020. During that 
time, the fund fell by 2.01% while the category average fell by 3.75%.  

Over the trailing five years through March 2020, the strategy’s returns matched its index.  

Price*** 

It’s critical to evaluate expenses, as they come directly out of returns. The share class on this report levies a 
fee that ranks in its Morningstar category’s cheapest quintile. Based on our assessment of the fund’s 
People, Process and Parent pillars in the context of these fees, we think this share class will be able to 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

66 

deliver positive alpha relative to the category benchmark index, explaining its Morningstar Analyst Rating of 
Gold.  

Process: Above Average*** 

This portfolio replicates the composition of the U.S.-dollar-denominated investment-grade bond market, 
effectively harnessing the market’s collective wisdom about the relative value of each bond. This is a sound 
approach because it promotes low turnover, is cost-effective, and because the market does a decent job 
pricing these bonds. It earns an Above Average Process Pillar rating.  

The strategy employs representative sampling to track the performance of the Aggregate Index, which 
includes investment-grade U.S.-dollar-denominated bonds with at least one year until maturity. Qualifying 
bonds must have at least $300 million in outstanding face value. The index weights its holdings by their 
market value and is rebalanced monthly. This yields a conservative portfolio, which limits its return potential 
but also cuts downside risk.  

The composition of the portfolio is conservative, reflecting the size and quality of the U.S. investment-grade 
bond market. The amount of debt issued by the U.S. Treasury Department grew sharply since the global 
financial crisis, and the portfolio maintains a larger percentage of its assets in Treasury bonds as a result.  

As of February 2020, approximately 45% of the fund’s assets were in Treasury bonds, versus the category 
average of slightly less than 25%. The bulk of the fund’s remaining balance is composed of agency MBS 
and corporate debt, which represent about 25% and 22% of the portfolio’s assets, respectively. While this 
limit’s the fund’s potential for returns, it also limits potential losses.  

Although it represents only about one fifth of the portfolio, the fund’s corporate bond sleeve contains most of 
the fund’s credit risk. In addition to the growth of the Treasury bonds, the U.S. corporate bond market also 
grew in response to the global financial crisis, as companies issued debt to capitalize on low interest rates. 
As a result, BBB corporate bonds grew rapidly and now represent about half of the market value of all 
investment-grade corporate bonds. Accordingly, nearly 10% of the strategy’s assets are rated BBB.  

The strategy’s interest-rate risk is line with category peers. As of February 2020, its average effective 
duration was 5.5 years.  

People: Above Average*** 

Fidelity maintains a relatively small portfolio management team, but the team enjoys strong support from 
Fidelity’s broader fixed-income portfolio management department. As a result, it enjoys the benefits of a 
large and experienced team supported by a centralized trading desk, which mitigates key-person risk. This 
team earns an Above Average People rating.  

Brandon Bettencourt and Jay Small have managed this fund since 2014 and 2015, respectively. Prior to 
serving as portfolio managers, Bettencourt was a portfolio analyst while Small was a corporate bond trader. 
Two quantitative research analysts assist the named managers.  

The portfolio managers are primarily responsible for managing the daily operations of the fund. The quant 
analysts act as an extension of the portfolio managers, applying input from Fidelity’s research team to help 
mitigate index-tracking error. The portfolio managers benefit from the technical expertise of the quant 
analysts when identifying baskets of securities for creations or redemptions.  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

67 

Independent oversight of the fund is provided by the office of the chief investment officer, who leads a team 
that independently reviews the index portfolios and index-tracking performance. Fidelity links manager 
compensation to index-tracking performance, aligning managers’ interest with investors’.   

* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of July 2019 
** Source: Fidelity (FMR, LLC), as of 9/30/2020 
*** Source: Morningstar, Inc., as of 4/1/2020 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

68 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

69 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

70 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

71 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

72 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

73 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

74 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

75 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

76 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

77 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

78 

 
 

  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

79 

Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund® (SWTSX) 

Firm Background* 

Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc., (CSIM or the firm), was founded in 1989 as a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of The Charles Schwab Corporation (Schwab), a publicly held company. Schwab was founded in 
1971 by Charles Schwab as a full service brokerage firm. Since its founding Schwab has expanded its 
services to include investment management for retail and institutional clients, as well as traditional banking 
and lending. Initially founded to serve as the investment adviser to the Schwab Money Funds, CSIM now 
provides advisory services to proprietary mutual funds, separately managed accounts participating in wrap 
programs, exchange-traded funds, and collective trust funds. The majority of CSIM’s asset base resides in 
passive index (52%) and money market (38%) strategies. The remainder is in active and target date/asset 
allocation strategies. CSIM is headquartered in San Francisco, CA, with operations also residing in 
Colorado and California. The firm has more than 600 employees, including approximately 150 investment 
professionals.   

In 2019, the firm became part of a combined broader business unit, Schwab Asset Management Solutions 
(SAMS) that was established to unite asset management related services across Schwab. SAMS includes 
CSIM, Charles Schwab Investment Advisory, Inc. (CSIA), Asset Management Client Solutions and the 
Schwab Center for Financial Research. SAMS is led by Rick Wurster, who also serves as the CEO of CSIA. 
Effective November 1, 2019, Mr. Wurster became CEO of CSIM. All CIOs within the firm now report directly 
to Mr. Wurster, while performing their respective day-to-day investment functions. Jonathan de St. Paer 
remains in his role as the firm’s President (since October 1, 2018) responsible for the overseeing the firm’s 
product, strategy and governance groups. 

Organization: Satisfactory* 

In our view, CSIM has grown into one of the larger asset management companies in the US and is a 
substantial provider of retail index funds, money market funds, and exchange traded funds. While there 
have been changes to the firm’s senior management team since its founding, we believe the transitioning of 
leadership has been thoughtfully executed. Further, we believe the firm has effectively expanded its product 
base over time and placed adequate resources to support its strategies and business segments. We believe 
the firm’s client base is diverse, as its products have gained acceptance across both retail and institutional 
client segments. Additionally, we believe the creation of SAMS has been thoughtfully constructed to 
strengthen client services and create efficiencies in product development across the broader organization. 

Strategy** 

The investment seeks to track the total return of the entire U.S. stock market, as measured by the Dow 
Jones U.S. Total Stock Market IndexSM. The fund generally invests at least 80% of its net assets (including, 
for this purpose, any borrowings for investment purposes) in these stocks; typically, the actual percentage is 
considerably higher. It generally gives the same weight to a given stock as the index does. The fund may 
invest in derivatives, principally futures contracts, and lend its securities to minimize the gap in performance 
that naturally exists between any index fund and its corresponding index. 

Summary*** 

It effectively replicates the composition of the total U.S. stock market, which has been hard to beat over the 
long term. The fund’s low fee and broad diversification set it up for success. It earns a Morningstar Analyst 
Rating of Gold.  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

80 

The fund tracks the Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index, which includes nearly all U.S. stocks and 
weights them by market capitalization. Market-cap weighting pulls the portfolio toward the largest stocks, so 
the fund lands in the large-blend Morningstar Category. This broad market-cap-weighted index accurately 
reflects the composition of the U.S. large-cap market and harnesses the market’s collective wisdom. 
Compared with funds that target specific segments of the market, this fund isn’t prone to forced buying or 
selling that is the result of stocks entering or exiting a market segment. This should mitigate transaction 
costs and turnover, which is among the lowest in the large-blend category.  

The market doesn’t always get prices right. Over short periods, investors may overreact and either drive 
prices too high or low. Market-cap weighting will increase or decrease exposure to stocks accordingly. This 
can at times lead to stock- and sector-level concentration. That said, the fund’s broad diversification and 
low-cost advantage far outweigh these minor disadvantages.  

The fund is always fully invested, which should help it more fully capture the market’s returns over the long 
term than most of its category peers but could expose it to greater losses during market downturns. Unlike 
many of its active peers, this portfolio excludes stocks listed outside the U.S. This should help the fund’s 
category-relative performance when U.S. stocks outperform foreign stocks but hurt when they lag.  

The fund charges 0.03%, which is its greatest strength. It builds on this cost advantage with low turnover, 
which helps mitigate transaction costs. Long-term investors will likely come out ahead with this fund 
compared with more expensive options. 

Performance*** 

Over the trailing 15 years through February 2020, the fund beat the category average by 152 basis points 
annualized, with slightly higher risk. Much of this outperformance can be attributed to the fund's cost 
advantage, lower-than-average cash drag, and more favorable stock exposure in the healthcare, financial 
services, and consumer defensive sectors compared with the category average.  

The fund ranked in the top quartile over the trailing 10 and 15 years through February 2020, consistently 
outperforming the category average while exhibiting slightly higher volatility. The fund also tended to hold up 
as well as most of its peers during downturns since inception, despite its lower-than-average cash balance.  

This portfolio is always fully invested, which helps its category-relative performance during bull markets but 
could hurt during bear markets. Most actively managed funds in the category keep larger cash balances on 
hand to meet redemptions.  

The fund has effectively tracked its index. Over the trailing five-year periods through February 2020, the 
fund trailed the Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index by 3 basis points, the amount of its expense ratio. 

Price*** 

It’s critical to evaluate expenses, as they come directly out of returns. The share class on this report levies a 
fee that ranks in its Morningstar category’s cheapest quintile. Based on our assessment of the fund’s 
People, Process and Parent pillars in the context of these fees, we think this share class will be able to 
deliver positive alpha relative to the category benchmark index, explaining its Morningstar Analyst Rating of 
Gold.  

Process: High*** 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

81 

The fund represents the entire investable U.S. equity market, effectively harnessing the market’s collective 
wisdom and diversifying risk. It earns a High Process rating.  

The fund tracks the Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index, which holds nearly every U.S. stock listed on 
a major U.S. exchange. This gives the fund lower turnover than index funds that track specific size 
segments of the market, as it is not subject to forced trade when holdings migrate up and down the market-
cap ladder. By sampling among the smallest stocks in the index, the fund can avoid trading the least-liquid 
names, which keeps transaction costs down. However, this fund’s large asset base allows it to replicate the 
index more completely than other total market funds. The fund holds about 2,900 out of 3,700 stocks in the 
index.  

The portfolio managers reinvest dividends and use derivatives to equitize cash and keep pace with the 
benchmark. The fund has historically used securities lending to generate additional income to offset 
expenses.  

The fund mirrors the composition of the large-cap market, allowing the market to dictate its stock and sector 
weightings. This allows the fund to harness the market's collective view about the relative value of each 
stock and keeps turnover low, which is among the lowest in the category.  

The fund’s top 10 holdings account for about 20% of assets and the largest holding accounts for 4% of 
assets, which effectively diversifies firm-specific risk.  

Although it has a smaller market cap orientation than the large-blend category average, this fund is 
representative of this category. Currently, the fund is slightly underweight in financial services and 
overweight in technology compared with the category average.  

Large companies tend to have greater competitive advantages compared to smaller companies and this is 
evident here as close to 76% of the portfolio is invested in firms with wide or narrow moats. On average, the 
fund’s constituents generate 37% of their revenue overseas.   

People: Average*** 

The team is competent and experienced, but many of its members haven't worked together long. 
Additionally, its supporting infrastructure does not stand out, so it earns an Average People Pillar rating.  

Schwab’s passive equity funds follow a team approach under the direction of Chris Bliss, who leads the 
firm's equity index portfolio management team and is a named manager on this fund. Bliss joined Schwab in 
September 2016 after spending 12 years at BlackRock. Ferian Juwono and Sabya Sinha are also listed 
portfolio managers on the fund. Juwono joined Schwab in 2010 and became a named comanager on the 
fund in 2011. He previously spent three years as an equity index portfolio manager at Barclays Global 
Investors. Sinha joined the firm in 2015 from F-Squared investments, where he worked in product 
development. Prior to that, Sinha served as an index portfolio manager at IndexIQ from 2011 to 2014, and 
as a portfolio manager at Columbia Management from 2006 to 2010.  

These three managers are listed on most of Schwab's U.S. equity index portfolios. None of the listed 
portfolio managers are currently invested in this fund, but managers' incentives are aligned with 
shareholders' through a bonus structure that rewards managers based on index-relative performance and 
compliance with risk oversight.   
 
* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of September 2020 
** Source: Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc. (CSIM), as of 9/30/2020 
*** Source: Morningstar, Inc., as of 3/19/2020 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

82 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

83 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

84 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

85 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

86 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

87 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

88 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

89 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

90 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

91 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

92 

 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

93 

Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund (SWRSX) 

Firm Background* 

Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc., (CSIM or the firm), was founded in 1989 as a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of The Charles Schwab Corporation (Schwab), a publicly held company. Schwab was founded in 
1971 by Charles Schwab as a full service brokerage firm. Since its founding Schwab has expanded its 
services to include investment management for retail and institutional clients, as well as traditional banking 
and lending. Initially founded to serve as the investment adviser to the Schwab Money Funds, CSIM now 
provides advisory services to proprietary mutual funds, separately managed accounts participating in wrap 
programs, exchange-traded funds, and collective trust funds. The majority of CSIM’s asset base resides in 
passive index (52%) and money market (38%) strategies.  The remainder is in active and target date/asset 
allocation strategies. CSIM is headquartered in San Francisco, CA, with operations also residing in 
Colorado and California. The firm has more than 600 employees, including approximately 150 investment 
professionals.   

In 2019, the firm became part of a combined broader business unit, Schwab Asset Management Solutions 
(SAMS) that was established to unite asset management related services across Schwab. SAMS includes 
CSIM, Charles Schwab Investment Advisory, Inc. (CSIA), Asset Management Client Solutions and the 
Schwab Center for Financial Research. SAMS is led by Rick Wurster, who also serves as the CEO of CSIA. 
Effective November 1, 2019, Mr. Wurster became CEO of CSIM. All CIOs within the firm now report directly 
to Mr. Wurster, while performing their respective day-to-day investment functions. Jonathan de St. Paer 
remains in his role as the firm’s President (since October 1, 2018) responsible for the overseeing the firm’s 
product, strategy and governance groups. 

Organization: Satisfactory* 

In our view, CSIM has grown into one of the larger asset management companies in the US and is a 
substantial provider of retail index funds, money market funds, and exchange traded funds. While there 
have been changes to the firm’s senior management team since its founding, we believe the transitioning of 
leadership has been thoughtfully executed. Further, we believe the firm has effectively expanded its product 
base over time and placed adequate resources to support its strategies and business segments. We believe 
the firm’s client base is diverse, as its products have gained acceptance across both retail and institutional 
client segments. Additionally, we believe the creation of SAMS has been thoughtfully constructed to 
strengthen client services and create efficiencies in product development across the broader organization. 

Strategy** 

The investment seeks as closely as possible, before fees and expenses, the total return of the Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury Inflation-Linked Bond Index (Series-L)SM. To pursue its goal, the fund generally 
invests in securities that are included in the index. The index includes all publicly-issued TIPS that have at 
least one year remaining to maturity, are rated investment grade and have $500 million or more of 
outstanding face value. The TIPS in the index must be denominated in U.S. dollars and must be fixed-rate 
and non-convertible. 

Summary 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Performance 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

94 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Price 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Process 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

People 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc.  

* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of September 2020 
** Source: Charles Schwab Investment Management, Inc. (CSIM), as of 9/30/2020 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

95 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

96 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

97 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

98 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

99 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

100 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

101 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

102 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

103 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

104 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

105 

  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

106 

Vanguard Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund Institutional Shares (VGIVX) 

Firm Background* 

The Vanguard Group, Inc. is one of the largest providers of low-cost mutual funds and index-tracking 
products. Jack Bogle founded Vanguard in 1975 with the philosophy that low costs are crucial to generate 
consistently attractive investment performance. Vanguard was the first firm to provide widespread passive 
index products to retail investors. Over time, Vanguard expanded its product set to include various asset 
classes and actively managed funds. Vanguard’s active products are either managed internally or 
subadvised by external asset managers. Equity strategies represent more than two-thirds of firm assets, 
fixed income strategies account for approximately 25% of assets, and cash and multi-asset strategies 
comprise the balance of assets. The firm’s client mix is approximately 60% institutional and 40% retail 
investors.  

Headquartered in Malvern, PA, Vanguard employs over 17,000 people. The firm has offices around the 
world, but investment management is concentrated in a limited number of them (Malvern; Melbourne, 
Australia; and London, UK). The firm is owned by its own investment funds, which are, in turn, owned by 
their shareholders. As a result, Vanguard’s fund investors indirectly own the firm. Fund management fees 
pay for the firm’s expenses and Vanguard reinvests profits to lower future expense ratios. Effective January 
1, 2018, Tim Buckley succeeded William McNabb as Vanguard’s Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Buckley 
joined the firm in 1991 and has held a number of senior leadership positions during his tenure. Mr. McNabb 
will remain chairman of Vanguard’s board, a role he has held since 2009. 

Organization: Satisfactory (4 out of 5)* 

Vanguard has a decades-long legacy of client service and thoughtful product development that dates to its 
founding as an indexing provider. It launches funds after thorough consideration of where it believes product 
offerings are consistent with investor interests as well as the firm’s philosophy and long-term focus. In our 
view, Vanguard’s mutual fund ownership structure has both advantages and disadvantages. For instance, 
the firm’s trademark low fees provide Vanguard with a persistent return advantage over peers, which 
contributes to the strength of the franchise. These low fees are a direct result of the ownership structure, 
which has also greatly contributed to the firm’s considerable level of assets under management. On the 
other hand, a disadvantage of the firm’s ownership structure is that it does not allow employees to benefit 
from a profit sharing or equity compensation scheme; although, Vanguard does make use of deferred bonus 
compensation for key executives and investment professionals. The firm actively rotates senior employees 
across roles and disciplines. While this may result in longevity and broad perspectives, it reduces 
specialization and tenure in the roles left behind. Vanguard has experienced tremendous growth over the 
past decade to become one of the world’s largest asset managers. Along with this growth, the firm has had 
to address the issues that often accompany a significant increase in AUM. 

Strategy** 

Vanguard Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund seeks to track the performance of a benchmark 
index that measures the investment return of U.S. dollar-denominated bonds issued by governments and 
government related issuers in emerging markets countries. 

The fund employs an indexing investment approach designed to track the performance of the Bloomberg 
Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped Index. The index includes U.S. dollar-
denominated bonds that have maturities longer than one year and that were issued by emerging market 
governments and government agencies, as well as government-owned corporations. 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

107 

The fund invests by sampling the index, meaning that it holds a range of securities that, in the aggregate, 
approximates the full index in terms of key risk factors and other characteristics. All of the fund’s 
investments will be selected through the sampling process, and at least 80% of the fund’s assets will be 
invested in bonds included in the index. The fund maintains a dollar-weighted average maturity consistent 
with that of the index, which generally ranges between 10 and 15 years. 

Summary 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Performance 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Price 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Process 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

People 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc.  

* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of December 2019 
** Source: Vanguard Group, Inc., as of 9/30/2020 
 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

108 

  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

109 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

110 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

111 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

112 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

113 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

114 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

115 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

116 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

117 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

118 

 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

119 

Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund (VMFXX) 

Firm Background* 

The Vanguard Group, Inc. is one of the largest providers of low-cost mutual funds and index-tracking 
products. Jack Bogle founded Vanguard in 1975 with the philosophy that low costs are crucial to generate 
consistently attractive investment performance. Vanguard was the first firm to provide widespread passive 
index products to retail investors. Over time, Vanguard expanded its product set to include various asset 
classes and actively managed funds. Vanguard’s active products are either managed internally or 
subadvised by external asset managers. Equity strategies represent more than two-thirds of firm assets, 
fixed income strategies account for approximately 25% of assets, and cash and multi-asset strategies 
comprise the balance of assets. The firm’s client mix is approximately 60% institutional and 40% retail 
investors.  

Headquartered in Malvern, PA, Vanguard employs over 17,000 people. The firm has offices around the 
world, but investment management is concentrated in a limited number of them (Malvern; Melbourne, 
Australia; and London, UK). The firm is owned by tits own investment funds, which are, in turn, owned by 
their shareholders. As a result, Vanguard’s fund investors indirectly own the firm. Fund management fees 
pay for the firm’s expenses and Vanguard reinvests profits to lower future expense ratios. Effective January 
1, 2018, Tim Buckley succeeded William McNabb as Vanguard’s Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Buckley 
joined the firm in 1991 and has held a number of senior leadership positions during his tenure. Mr. McNabb 
will remain chairman of Vanguard’s board, a role he has held since 2009. 

Organization: Satisfactory (4 out of 5)* 

Vanguard has a decades-long legacy of client service and thoughtful product development that dates to its 
founding as an indexing provider. It launches funds after thorough consideration of where it believes product 
offerings are consistent with investor interests as well as the firm’s philosophy and long-term focus. In our 
view, Vanguard’s mutual fund ownership structure has both advantages and disadvantages. For instance, 
the firm’s trademark low fees provide Vanguard with a persistent return advantage over peers, which 
contributes to the strength of the franchise. These low fees are a direct result of the ownership structure, 
which has also greatly contributed to the firm’s considerable level of assets under management. On the 
other hand, a disadvantage of the firm’s ownership structure is that it does not allow employees to benefit 
from a profit sharing or equity compensation scheme; although, Vanguard does make use of deferred bonus 
compensation for key executives and investment professionals. The firm actively rotates senior employees 
across roles and disciplines. While this may result in longevity and broad perspectives, it reduces 
specialization and tenure in the roles left behind. Vanguard has experienced tremendous growth over the 
past decade to become one of the world’s largest asset managers. Along with this growth, the firm has had 
to address the issues that often accompany a significant increase in AUM. 

Strategy**  

Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund seeks to provide current income while maintaining liquidity and a 
stable share price of $1. 

The fund invests primarily in high-quality, short-term money market instruments issued by the U.S. 
government and its agencies and instrumentalities. Although these securities are high-quality, most of the 
securities held by the fund are neither guaranteed by the U.S. Treasury nor supported by the full faith and 
credit of the U.S. government. To be considered high quality, a security must be determined by Vanguard to 
present minimal credit risk based in part on a consideration of maturity, portfolio diversification, portfolio 
liquidity, and credit quality. The fund maintains a dollar-weighted average maturity of 60 days or less and a 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

120 

dollar-weighted average life of 120 days or less. Under the new money market reforms, government money 
market funds are required to invest at least 99.5% of their total assets in cash, government securities, 
and/or repurchase agreements that are collateralized solely by government securities or cash (collectively, 
government securities). The fund generally invests 100% of its assets in government securities and 
therefore will satisfy the 99.5% requirement for designation as a government money market fund. 

Summary 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Performance 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Price 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Process 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

People 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc.  

 
* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of December 2019 
** Source: Vanguard Group, Inc., as of 9/30/2020 
 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

121 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

122 

  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

123 

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund Institutional Shares (VLGIX) 

Firm Background* 

The Vanguard Group, Inc. is one of the largest providers of low-cost mutual funds and index-tracking 
products. Jack Bogle founded Vanguard in 1975 with the philosophy that low costs are crucial to generate 
consistently attractive investment performance. Vanguard was the first firm to provide widespread passive 
index products to retail investors. Over time, Vanguard expanded its product set to include various asset 
classes and actively managed funds. Vanguard’s active products are either managed internally or 
subadvised by external asset managers. Equity strategies represent more than two-thirds of firm assets, 
fixed income strategies account for approximately 25% of assets, and cash and multi-asset strategies 
comprise the balance of assets. The firm’s client mix is approximately 60% institutional and 40% retail 
investors.  

Headquartered in Malvern, PA, Vanguard employs over 17,000 people. The firm has offices around the 
world, but investment management is concentrated in a limited number of them (Malvern; Melbourne, 
Australia; and London, UK). The firm is owned by its own investment funds, which are, in turn, owned by 
their shareholders. As a result, Vanguard’s fund investors indirectly own the firm. Fund management fees 
pay for the firm’s expenses and Vanguard reinvests profits to lower future expense ratios. Effective January 
1, 2018, Tim Buckley succeeded William McNabb as Vanguard’s Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Buckley 
joined the firm in 1991 and has held a number of senior leadership positions during his tenure. Mr. McNabb 
will remain chairman of Vanguard’s board, a role he has held since 2009. 

Organization: Satisfactory (4 out of 5)* 

Vanguard has a decades-long legacy of client service and thoughtful product development that dates to its 
founding as an indexing provider. It launches funds after thorough consideration of where it believes product 
offerings are consistent with investor interests as well as the firm’s philosophy and long-term focus. In our 
view, Vanguard’s mutual fund ownership structure has both advantages and disadvantages. For instance, 
the firm’s trademark low fees provide Vanguard with a persistent return advantage over peers, which 
contributes to the strength of the franchise. These low fees are a direct result of the ownership structure, 
which has also greatly contributed to the firm’s considerable level of assets under management. On the 
other hand, a disadvantage of the firm’s ownership structure is that it does not allow employees to benefit 
from a profit sharing or equity compensation scheme; although, Vanguard does make use of deferred bonus 
compensation for key executives and investment professionals. The firm actively rotates senior employees 
across roles and disciplines. While this may result in longevity and broad perspectives, it reduces 
specialization and tenure in the roles left behind. Vanguard has experienced tremendous growth over the 
past decade to become one of the world’s largest asset managers. Along with this growth, the firm has had 
to address the issues that often accompany a significant increase in AUM. 

Strategy** 

Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund seeks to track the performance of a market-weighted Treasury 
index with a long-term dollar-weighted average maturity. 

The fund employs an index sampling technique to select securities. Using sophisticated computer 
programs, the fund’s advisor generally selects a representative sample of securities that approximates the 
full target index in terms of key risk factors and other characteristics. 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

124 

These factors include duration, cash flow, quality, and callability of the underlying bonds. In addition, the 
fund keeps sector and subsector exposure within tight boundaries relative to its target index. Because the 
fund does not hold all issues in its target index, some of the issues (and issuers) that are held will likely be 
overweighted (or underweighted) compared with the target index. The maximum overweight (or 
underweight) is constrained at the issuer level with the goal of producing well-diversified credit exposure in 
the portfolio. 

Summary 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Performance 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Price 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

Process 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc. 

People 

This fund has not been rated by Morningstar, Inc.  

* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of December 2019 
** Source: Vanguard Group, Inc., as of 9/30/2020 
 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

125 

 

 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

126 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

127 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

128 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

129 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

130 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

131 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

132 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

133 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

134 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

135 

 

 
 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

136 

Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Institutional Plus Shares (VBMPX) 

Firm Background* 

The Vanguard Group, Inc. is one of the largest providers of low-cost mutual funds and index-tracking 
products. Jack Bogle founded Vanguard in 1975 with the philosophy that low costs are crucial to generate 
consistently attractive investment performance. Vanguard was the first firm to provide widespread passive 
index products to retail investors. Over time, Vanguard expanded its product set to include various asset 
classes and actively managed funds. Vanguard’s active products are either managed internally or 
subadvised by external asset managers. Equity strategies represent more than two-thirds of firm assets, 
fixed income strategies account for approximately 25% of assets, and cash and multi-asset strategies 
comprise the balance of assets. The firm’s client mix is approximately 60% institutional and 40% retail 
investors.  

Headquartered in Malvern, PA, Vanguard employs over 17,000 people. The firm has offices around the 
world, but investment management is concentrated in a limited number of them (Malvern; Melbourne, 
Australia; and London, UK). The firm is owned by its own investment funds, which are, in turn, owned by 
their shareholders. As a result, Vanguard’s fund investors indirectly own the firm. Fund management fees 
pay for the firm’s expenses and Vanguard reinvests profits to lower future expense ratios. Effective January 
1, 2018, Tim Buckley succeeded William McNabb as Vanguard’s Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Buckley 
joined the firm in 1991 and has held a number of senior leadership positions during his tenure. Mr. McNabb 
will remain chairman of Vanguard’s board, a role he has held since 2009. 

Organization: Satisfactory (4 out of 5)* 

Vanguard has a decades-long legacy of client service and thoughtful product development that dates to its 
founding as an indexing provider. It launches funds after thorough consideration of where it believes product 
offerings are consistent with investor interests as well as the firm’s philosophy and long-term focus. In our 
view, Vanguard’s mutual fund ownership structure has both advantages and disadvantages. For instance, 
the firm’s trademark low fees provide Vanguard with a persistent return advantage over peers, which 
contributes to the strength of the franchise. These low fees are a direct result of the ownership structure, 
which has also greatly contributed to the firm’s considerable level of assets under management. On the 
other hand, a disadvantage of the firm’s ownership structure is that it does not allow employees to benefit 
from a profit sharing or equity compensation scheme; although, Vanguard does make use of deferred bonus 
compensation for key executives and investment professionals. The firm actively rotates senior employees 
across roles and disciplines. While this may result in longevity and broad perspectives, it reduces 
specialization and tenure in the roles left behind. Vanguard has experienced tremendous growth over the 
past decade to become one of the world’s largest asset managers. Along with this growth, the firm has had 
to address the issues that often accompany a significant increase in AUM. 

Fund Strategy** 

Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund seeks to track the performance of a broad, market-weighted bond 
index. 

The fund employs an indexing investment approach designed to track the performance of the Bloomberg 
Barclays U.S. Aggregate Float Adjusted Bond Index. This index measures a wide spectrum of public, 
investment-grade, taxable, fixed income securities in the United States—including government, corporate, 
and international dollar-denominated bonds, as well as mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, all 
with maturities of more than 1 year. The fund invests by sampling the index, meaning that it holds a range of 
securities that, in the aggregate, approximate the full index in terms of key risk factors and other 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

137 

characteristics. All of the fund’s investments will be selected through the sampling process, and at least 
80% of the fund’s assets will be invested in bonds held in the index. The fund maintains a dollar-weighted 
average maturity consistent with that of the index, which currently ranges between 5 and 10 years. 

Summary*** 

Vanguard Total Bond Market Index is a great core bond holding. Under our enhanced ratings framework, 
which places a greater emphasis on fees, the Morningstar Analyst Rating for the strategy’s cheapest share 
classes has been upgraded to Gold from Silver. The strategy’s more expensive Admiral and Investor share 
classes are rated Silver and Bronze rating, respectively.  

The strategy tracks the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Float-Adjusted Index, which includes 
investment-grade U.S. dollar-denominated bonds with at least one year until maturity. The index is weighted 
by market-value, tilting the portfolio toward the largest, most liquid issues, which tend to be easy to obtain 
and cheap to trade. The float adjustment excludes the value of bonds held by the Federal reserve from the 
weighting calculations, which slightly increases the fund’s exposure to agency mortgage-backed securities. 
The float adjustment should not have a material impact. The fund’s weighting approach harnesses the 
market’s collective wisdom about the relative value of each security. That said, bond issuing activity 
influences the composition of this portfolio.  

The U.S. government is the largest debt issuer in the nation, so the portfolio maintains a larger position in 
treasuries relative to the intermediate core bond Morningstar Category average. The strategy invests just 
about 65% of its assets in treasuries and agency MBS, which carry AAA ratings, while the category average 
is about 45%. While this might limit the fund’s return potential, its lower credit risk should offer better 
downside protection.  

This is a conservative portfolio with minimal credit risk, which can make it a low hurdle for active managers. 
That does not make this an unattractive investment, as risk and return are highly correlated in the fixed-
income market. Approximately 65% of the assets in this portfolio carry an AAA rating, making it one of the 
more conservative options in the category. After controlling for risk, this portfolio is tougher to beat. 

Performance*** 

The fund’s performance during the trailing 10 years through May 2020 has been solid. It beat the category 
average by 6 basis points annually, ranking in the category’s middle third, as its cost advantage offset the 
lower returns from its more conservative portfolio.  

The fund’s category-relative performance is largely related to credit spreads, given its Treasury-heavy tilt. 
The fund has tended to outperform category peers when credit spreads widen, and lag when they tighten. 
For example, it outperformed its average category peer by 93 basis points during 2011, as the ICE Bank of 
America BBB OAS Spread widened by 1.04%. Conversely, the fund lagged the category average by 1.61% 
during 2012, as that spread tightened by 1.07%.  

The fund’s conservative credit risk should help it weather periods of market turmoil better than most 
category peers. For instance, it did not decline by nearly as much as the category average during the onset 
of the coronavirus-driven crisis between Feb. 19 and March 23, 2020. During that time, the exchange-
traded share class fell by 1.04%, while the category average fell by 3.15%.  

Like most investment-grade bond funds, interest-rate risk is the primary driver of this portfolio’s absolute 
returns. 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

138 

Price*** 

It’s critical to evaluate expenses, as they come directly out of returns. The share class on this report levies a 
fee that ranks in its Morningstar category’s cheapest quintile. Based on our assessment of the fund’s 
People, Process and Parent pillars in the context of these fees, we think this share class will be able to 
deliver positive alpha relative to the category benchmark index, explaining its Morningstar Analyst Rating of 
Gold. 

Process: Above Average*** 

This portfolio replicates the composition of the U.S.-dollar-denominated investment-grade bond market, 
effectively harnessing the market’s collective wisdom about the relative value of each bond. This is a sound 
approach because it promotes low turnover, it is cost-effective, and the market does a decent job pricing 
these bonds. It earns an Above Average Pillar process rating.  

The strategy employs representative sampling to track the performance of the Bloomberg Barclays U.S. 
Aggregate Float-Adjusted Index, which includes investment-grade U.S.-dollar-denominated bonds with at 
least one year until maturity. Qualifying bonds must have at least $300 million in outstanding face value. 
The float adjustment excludes holdings in the Federal Reserve’s account, which should not have a 
significant impact on the composition of the portfolio.  

The index weights its holdings by market value and is rebalanced monthly. This yields a conservative 
portfolio, which limits its return potential but also cuts downside risk and makes this a good complement for 
stock holdings.  

While it may seem risky to allocate larger weightings to bigger debt issuers, this is a very conservative 
portfolio, largely because U.S. Treasury and agency MBS represent most of the U.S. investment-grade 
market. These securities are rated AAA.  

As of May 2020, just about 40% of the fund’s assets were in Treasury bonds, while the corresponding figure 
for the category average is slightly more than 20%. The bulk of the fund’s remaining balance is composed 
of corporate bonds and agency MBS, which represent about 28% and 23% of the portfolio’s assets, 
respectively. While this limits the fund’s potential for returns, it also limits potential losses.  

Although corporate bonds only represent about one fourth of the portfolio, these holdings are where most of 
the fund’s credit risk resides. In addition to the growth of the Treasury bonds, the U.S. corporate bond 
market also grew in response to the financial crisis of 2008, as companies issued debt to capitalize on low 
interest rates. As a result, BBB rated corporate bonds grew rapidly and now represent about half of the 
market value of all investment-grade corporate bonds. Accordingly, just over 15% of the strategy’s assets 
are rated BBB.  

The fund’s interest-rate risk is line with the intermediate core bond category average. As of May 2020, its 
average effective duration was 6.0 years. 

People: Above Average*** 

An experienced team manages all of Vanguard's fixed-income index strategies, supporting a positive 
People Pillar rating.  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

139 

Joshua Barrickman was named as manager in 2013. He has worked in investment management at 
Vanguard since 1999 and managed investment portfolios since 2005. In 2013, he was promoted to head of 
Vanguard’s Bond Index Group.  

Portfolio management at Vanguard is a team effort, so key-person risk is not a concern. Barrickman leads a 
team of sector specialists, including a manager focused on government bonds, along with an ETF team, 
which helps with ETF basket creation. These managers are also supported by a team of traders who focus 
on execution, as well as a data team that checks incoming index data and helps the managers prepare for 
upcoming index changes. These teams free up time for the managers to focus on portfolio construction and 
index tracking. There’s also a separate risk management team that independently monitors the managers’ 
performance.  

Although fund managers are not required to invest in this strategy, Vanguard aligns managers’ incentives 
with investors’ by tying their compensation and performance evaluation to the strategy’s tracking error. 

* Source: BNY Mellon Manager Research Group, as of December 2019 
** Source: Vanguard Group, Inc., as of 9/30/2020 
*** Source: Morningstar, Inc., as of 7/11/2020 
  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

140 

 

 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

141 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

142 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

143 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

144 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

145 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

146 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

147 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

148 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

149 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

150 

  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

151 

Important Disclosures 

©2020 Pershing LLC. Pershing LLC, member FINRA, NYSE, SIPC, is a subsidiary of The Bank of New York Mellon 
Corporation (BNY Mellon).  

Pershing does not provide investment advice. Investment advisory services are provided by Lockwood Advisors, Inc. 
(Lockwood), an investment adviser registered in the United States under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940. FOR 
WASHINGTON STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT COUNCIL USE ONLY. Not for distribution to the public. Trademark(s) 
belong to their respective owners.  

This document contains proprietary information of Lockwood and is provided to you on a strictly confidential basis. This 
document and the information contained herein should not be reproduced, communicated, or shared with any other 
party, either in whole or in part, without the express written consent of Lockwood. Neither the information nor any 
opinions expressed herein should be construed as a solicitation or a recommendation by Lockwood or its affiliates to 
buy, hold or sell any securities or investments.  

The statements contained herein are based upon the opinions of Lockwood and the data available at the time of 
publication and are subject to change at any time without notice. 

The statistical data contained herein has been obtained from third-party sources (see below) believed to be reliable 
and accurate. While Lockwood believes the information to be accurate and reliable, no representations, guarantee or 
warranty, express or implied, can be made as to its completeness, accuracy, or reliability.  

This communication does not constitute investment advice, is for informational purposes only and is not intended to 
meet the objectives or suitability requirements of any specific individual or account. An investor should assess his or 
her own investment needs based on his or her own financial circumstances and investment objectives. 

Lockwood in its capacity as an investment adviser and money manager may be engaged in the purchase and sale of 
securities discussed in this article in one or more of its discretionary portfolios. Lockwood personnel may also from 
time-to-time buy and sell these same securities for their personal accounts.  

Certain views expressed represent the opinion of Lockwood, which are subject to change and are not intended as 
investment recommendations, a forecast or guarantee of future results. Such information is derived from proprietary 
and non-proprietary sources which have not been independently verified for accuracy or completeness. Statements of 
future expectations, estimates, projections, and other forward-looking statements are based on available information 
and management’s view as of the time of these statements. Accordingly, such statements are inherently speculative 
as they are based on assumptions which may involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Actual results, 
performance or events may differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. 
Any factors discussed, including past performance of various investment strategies, sectors, vehicles and 
indices, are not indicative of future results.  

Past performance is not a guarantee of future results. Current performance may be lower or higher than the 
performance data quoted. The investment return and principal value of an investment will fluctuate, so that an 
investor’s assets, when sold, may be worth more or less than their original cost.  

The performance data provided is calculated using a time and asset-weighted Modified Dietz methodology. The Gross 
of Fees Return shown reflects the deduction of fees and expenses associated with the underlying mutual funds held in 
the portfolio (the “Underlying Fund Fee”). The Net of Fees Return shown reflects the deduction of the Underlying Fund 
Fee, Service Fee, and State Administrative Fee (together, the “Total Annual Asset-Based Fee”). The returns shown do 
not reflect account maintenance fees or other account level service-based fees (e.g., returned check fees, statement 
delivery fees, etc.).  

There is no guarantee that investment objectives will be attained. Results may vary. There is no guarantee that risk 
can be managed successfully.  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

152 

Diversification and strategic asset allocation do not guarantee a profit or protect against a loss in declining markets. All 
investments are subject to risk, including the loss of principal.  

It is important to remember that there are risks inherent in any investment and that there is no assurance that any 
money manager, fund, asset class, index, style or strategy will provide positive performance over time.  

Investors should carefully consider the investment objectives, risks, charges and expenses of any mutual 
fund before investing. This and other important information can be found in the fund prospectus and, if 
available, the summary prospectus, which may be obtained by visiting www.morningstar.com. Please read the 
prospectus and, if available, the summary prospectus carefully. 

Foreign investments are subject to risks not ordinarily associated with domestic investments, such as currency, 
economic and political risks, and may follow different accounting standards than domestic investments.  

Investments in emerging or developing markets involve exposure to economic structures that are generally less 
diverse and mature, and to political systems that can be expected to have less stability than those of more developed 
countries. These securities may be less liquid and more volatile than investments in US and longer established non-
US markets.  

Portfolios that invest in fixed income securities are subject to several general risks, including interest rate risk, credit 
risk, the risk of issuer default, liquidity risk and market risk. These risks can affect a security's price and yield to varying 
degrees, depending upon the nature of the instrument, and may occur from fluctuations in interest rates, a change to 
an issuer’s individual situation or industry, or events in the financial markets. In general, a bond's yield is inversely 
rated to its price. Bonds can lose their value as interest rates rise and an investor can lose principal. If sold prior to 
maturity, fixed income securities are subject to gains/losses based on the level of interest rates, market conditions and 
the credit quality of the issuer.  

Liquidity risk increases when particular investments are difficult to purchase or sell. A lack of liquidity also may cause 
the value of investments to decline. Illiquid investments may be harder to value, especially in changing markets. 
Typically liquid investments may become illiquid, particularly during periods of market turmoil. When illiquid assets 
must be sold in such market conditions (to meet redemption requests or other cash needs for example), it may be 
necessary to sell such assets at a loss.  

Short-term fixed income securities are susceptible to fluctuations in interest rates. If interest rates rise, bond prices will 
decline, despite the lack of change in both coupon and maturity. Price volatility typically increases with the length of the 
maturity and decreases as the size of the coupon decreases.  

Investments in intermediate- and long-term fixed income securities involve interest rate risk and inflation risk, which 
could reduce the value or real return of an investment should interest rates rise.  

Inflation is the rate at which the general level of prices for goods and services is rising and, consequently, the 
purchasing power of currency is falling. 

Mutual funds included in portfolios charge additional fees and expenses outside of the Total Annual Asset-Based Fee 
for this program. Mutual funds may additionally charge a redemption fee if shares are redeemed by within a specified 
period of time. The amount of the redemption fee, as well as the minimum holding period, is disclosed in each of the 
respective fund prospectuses. For complete details, please refer to the applicable fund prospectus. 

Mutual funds may use derivatives that are often more volatile than other investments and may magnify the fund’s gains 
or losses. An investment that uses derivatives could be negatively affected if the change in the market value of its 
securities fails to correlate adequately with the values of the derivatives it purchased or sold.  

Securities are not bank deposits. They are not insured or guaranteed by Lockwood, its affiliates or its parent 
companies.  

Securities are not insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the Federal Reserve, 
the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) or any other government agency.  



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

153 

All performance is expressed in US dollars. Sources: Bloomberg Barclay; Federal Reserve Board; MSCI; Standard & 
Poor’s; US Treasury Department; Bloomberg; and US Bureau of Labor Statistics. 

The information on indices is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not intended to imply the potential 
performance of any fund or investment. Index performance assumes the reinvestment of all distributions, but does not 
assume any transaction costs, taxes, management fees or other expenses, which would reduce the performance 
shown. Indices are unmanaged and are not available for direct investment.  

Bloomberg Barclays Global Aggregate ex-U.S. Bond Index is designed to be a broad-based measure of the global 
investment-grade, fixed rate, fixed income corporate markets outside the United States. 

Bloomberg Barclays Global Aggregate Negative Yielding Debt TR Index Value Unhedged USD represents the 
market value in US dollars ($) of unhedged global negative-yielding debt securities. 

Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index represents securities that are SEC registered, taxable and dollar 
denominated. The index covers the U.S. investment-grade fixed rate bond market, with index components for 
government and corporate securities, mortgage pass-through securities and asset-backed securities. These major 
sectors are subdivided into more specific indices that are calculated and reported on a regular basis. Securities must 
have at least one year to final maturity regardless of call features and must have at least $250 million par amount 
outstanding.  

Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Treasury Bill 6–9 Month Index represents United States-issued government debt with a 
bond maturity between six months and nine months. 

Bloomberg Commodity Index is designed to be a highly liquid and diversified benchmark for the commodity futures 
market. The index is composed of exchange-traded futures and represents 20 physical commodities, which are 
weighted to account for economic significance and market liquidity (subject to weighting restrictions).  

Bloomberg Barclays Long U.S. Treasury Index includes all publicly issued, U.S. Treasury securities that have a 
remaining maturity of 10 or more years, are rated investment grade and have $250 million or more of outstanding face 
value. In addition, the securities must be denominated in U.S. dollars and must be fixed rate and non-convertible. 

Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (TIPS) Index represents inflation-protected 
securities issued by the U.S. Treasury. Securities must be investment-grade, publicly issued, dollar-denominated, have 
at least one year remaining to maturity and have at least $250 million par amount outstanding. 

Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped Index is designed to measure the 
investment return of dollar-denominated bonds that have maturities longer than one year and were issued by emerging 
market governments and government-related issuers. The index is capped, which means that its exposure to any 
particular bond is limited to a maximum of 20% and its aggregate exposure to issuers that individually constitute 5% or 
more is limited to 48%. If the index, as constituted based on market weights, exceeds the 20% or 48% limits, the 
excess is reallocated to bonds of other issuers represented in the index. 

Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Treasury Bill 1–3 Month Index is the one-to-three month component of the U.S. Treasury 
Bill Index. The Bloomberg Barclays Treasury Bill Index includes U.S. Treasury bills with a remaining maturity from one 
up to (but not including) 12 months. It excludes zero coupon strips.  

Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Float Adjusted Index provides broad exposure to the U.S. investment-grade 
bond market. The float-adjusted index excludes U.S. Treasuries, agencies, and mortgage-backed securities (MBS) 
held in Federal Reserve accounts, thereby reducing the market value weight of these securities. 

Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index is an unmanaged, float-adjusted market-capitalization-weighted index 
providing broad-based coverage of the U.S. equity market. The index is considered a total market index, representing 
the top 95% of the U.S. stock market based on market capitalization. To be included in the index, a security generally 
must be all of the following: an equity security (common stock, REIT or limited partnership), a security that has its 
primary market listing in the U.S. and be issued by U.S. headquartered company. 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

154 

MSCI ACWI (All Country World Index) Index ex-USA (net of taxes) is a subset of the MSCI ACWI Index, a free-
float-adjusted market capitalization weighted index that is designed to measure the equity market performance of 
developed and emerging markets. This version of the index excludes the United States. The index is net because 
dividends are reinvested after deducting a withholding tax from dividend distributions. Since taxes are withheld from 
the MSCI ACWI  Index ex-USA (net of taxes), the performance of the MSCI ACWI Index ex-USA (net of taxes) will 
generally be lower than that of the MSCI ACWI Index ex-USA (gross of taxes). 

MSCI ACWI (All Country World Index) Index (net of taxes) is a free-float-adjusted market capitalization weighted 
index that is designed to measure the equity market performance of developed and emerging markets. As of May 30, 
2019, the MSCI ACWI consisted of 47 country indices comprising 23 developed and 24 emerging market country 
indices. The developed market country indices included are Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, 
France, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Singapore, 
Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States. The emerging market country indices 
included are Brazil, Chile, China, Colombia, Czech Republic, Egypt, Greece, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Korea, 
Malaysia, Mexico, Pakistan, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Qatar, Russia, South Africa, Taiwan, Thailand, Turkey and 
United Arab Emirates. The index is net because dividends are reinvested after deducting a withholding tax from 
dividend distributions. Since taxes are withheld from the MSCI ACWI Index (net of taxes), the performance of the 
MSCI ACWI Index (net of taxes) will generally be lower than that of the MSCI ACWI Index (gross of taxes). 

MSCI EAFE (Europe, Australasia and the Far East) Index (net of taxes) is a free-float-adjusted market-
capitalization index that is designed to measure developed market equity performance, excluding the United States 
and Canada. As of May 30, 2019, the MSCI EAFE Index consisted of the following 21 developed market country 
indices: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, the 
Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom. The 
index is net because dividends are reinvested after deducting a withholding tax from dividend distributions. Since taxes 
are withheld from the MSCI EAFE Index (net of taxes), the performance of the MSCI EAFE Index (net of taxes) will 
generally be lower than that of the MSCI EAFE Index (gross of taxes). 

MSCI Emerging Markets Index (net of taxes) is a free-float adjusted, market-capitalization index that is designed to 
measure equity market performance of emerging markets. As of May 30, 2019, the MSCI Emerging Markets Index 
consisted of the following 26 emerging market country indices: Argentina, Brazil, Chile, China, Colombia, Czech 
Republic, Egypt, Greece, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, Pakistan, Peru, Philippines, Poland, 
Qatar, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Taiwan, Thailand, Turkey and United Arab Emirates. The index is net 
because dividends are reinvested after deducting a withholding tax from dividend distributions. Since taxes are 
withheld from the MSCI Emerging Markets Index (net of taxes), the performance of the MSCI Emerging Markets Index 
(net of taxes) will generally be lower than that of the MSCI Emerging Markets Index (gross of taxes). 

MSCI USA Investable Market Index (IMI) is designed to measure the performance of the large, mid and small cap 
segments of the US market. With 2,428 constituents, the index covers approximately 99% of the free float-adjusted 
market capitalization in the U.S.  

MSCI USA Small Cap Index is an unmanaged index designed to measure the performance of the small-cap segment 
of the US equity market. The index represents approximately 14% of the free float-adjusted market capitalization in the 
U.S.  

Purchasing Managers’ Index™ (PMI™) data are compiled by IHS Markit for more than 40 economies worldwide. The 
monthly data are derived from surveys of senior executives at private sector companies and are available only via 
subscription. The PMI dataset features a headline number, which indicates the overall health of an economy, and sub-
indices, which provide insights into other key economic drivers such as GDP, inflation, exports, capacity utilization, 
employment and inventories. The PMI data are used by financial and corporate professionals to better understand 
where economies and markets are headed, and to uncover opportunities. 

S&P GSCI Gold Index, a sub-index of the S&P GSCI Index, provides investors with a reliable and publicly available 
benchmark for investment performance in the gold commodity markets. The index is designed to be tradable, readily 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

155 

accessible to market participants and cost efficient to implement. The S&P GSCI Index is widely recognized as the 
leading measure of general commodity price movements and inflation in the world economy.  

S&P GSCI Crude Oil Index, a sub-index of the S&P GSCI, provides investors with a reliable and publicly available 
benchmark for investment performance in the crude oil commodity markets. The index is designed to be tradable, 
readily accessible to market participants and cost efficient to implement. The S&P GSCI is widely recognized as the 
leading measure of general commodity price movements and inflation in the world economy. Spot price in the S&P 
GSCI means the price of the S&P GSCI futures holdings. 

S&P 500 Index, an unmanaged index, includes 500 of the largest stocks (in terms of stock market value) in the United 
States; prior to March 1957, it consisted of 90 of the largest stocks. Although the S&P 500 focuses on the large-cap 
segment of the market, with approximately 80% coverage of U.S. equities, it is also used as a proxy for the total U.S. 
equity market.  

Reproduction of S&P index data shown in this document in any form is prohibited except with the prior written 
permission of S&P. S&P does not guarantee the accuracy, adequacy, completeness or availability of any information 
and is not responsible for any errors or omissions, regardless of the cause or for the results obtained from the use of 
such information. S&P DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT 
LIMITED TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE. 
In no event shall S&P be liable for any direct, indirect, special or consequential damages, costs, expenses, legal fees, 
or losses (including lost income or lost profit and opportunity costs) in connection with subscriber’s or others’ use of 
S&P index data shown in this document. ©2019, S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC.  

US Dollar Index: The US Dollar Index (USDX, DXY, DX) is an index (or measure) of the value of the United States 
dollar relative to a basket of foreign currencies, often referred to as a basket of U.S. trade partners' currencies.  

Blended Benchmark Definitions 

As of September 30, 2020 

Growth Portfolio 

50% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 37% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 12% MSCI EM NR USD, 1% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Growth Portfolio 

42% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 29% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 9% MSCI EM NR USD, 12% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 3% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Growth Portfolio 

32% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 21% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 7% MSCI EM NR USD, 30% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Balanced Portfolio 

26% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 18% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 6% MSCI EM NR USD, 40% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Income & Growth Portfolio 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

156 

20% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD + 15% MSCI EAFE NR USD + 5% MSCI EM NR USD + 48% 
Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD + 4% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD + 5% 
Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD + 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government 
RIC Capped TR USD + 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Income Portfolio 

60% Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD + 5% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD + 
8% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD + 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets 
Government RIC Capped TR USD + 25% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Cash Preservation Portfolio 

100% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2038 Portfolio 

29% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 19% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 7% MSCI EM NR USD, 35% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2036 Portfolio 

26% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 18% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 6% MSCI EM NR USD, 40% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2034 Portfolio 

23% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 16% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 6% MSCI EM NR USD, 43% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 4% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 5% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2032 Portfolio 

18% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 12% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 5% MSCI EM NR USD, 52% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 4% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 6% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2030 Portfolio 

13% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 8% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 4% MSCI EM NR USD, 59% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 5% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 8% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2028 Portfolio 

8% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 5% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 2% MSCI EM NR USD, 53% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 4% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 6% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 20% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2026 Portfolio 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

157 

5% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 4% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 1% MSCI EM NR USD, 53% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 4% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 6% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 25% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2024 Portfolio 

3% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 2% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 0% MSCI EM NR USD, 36% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 50% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment 2022 Portfolio 

41% Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 
4% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government 
RIC Capped TR USD, 50% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Conservative Year of Enrollment Enrolled Portfolio 

41% Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 
4% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government 
RIC Capped TR USD, 50% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2038 Portfolio 

47% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 33% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 10% MSCI EM NR USD, 5% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 2% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2036 Portfolio 

47% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 33% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 10% MSCI EM NR USD, 5% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 2% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2034 Portfolio 

42% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 29% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 9% MSCI EM NR USD, 12% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 3% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2032 Portfolio 

36% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 26% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 8% MSCI EM NR USD, 20% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2030 Portfolio 

32% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 21% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 7% MSCI EM NR USD, 30% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

158 

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2028 Portfolio 

26% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 18% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 6% MSCI EM NR USD, 40% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2026 Portfolio 

18% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 12% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 5% MSCI EM NR USD, 49% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 4% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 5% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 5% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2024 Portfolio 

10% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 7% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 3% MSCI EM NR USD, 55% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 5% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 8% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 10% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Year of Enrollment 2022 Portfolio 

5% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 4% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 1% MSCI EM NR USD, 55% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 5% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 8% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 20% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Moderate Year of Enrollment Enrolled Portfolio 

55% Bloomberg Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 5% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 
8% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government 
RIC Capped TR USD, 30% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment 2038 Portfolio 

49% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 35% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 11% MSCI EM NR USD, 2% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 1% Bloomberg 
Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 
Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment 2036 Portfolio 

49% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 35% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 11% MSCI EM NR USD, 2% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 1% Bloomberg 
Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 
Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment 2034 Portfolio 

47% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 33% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 10% MSCI EM NR USD, 5% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 2% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment 2032 Portfolio 

47% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 33% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 10% MSCI EM NR USD, 5% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 2% Bloomberg 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

159 

Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment 2030 Portfolio 

44% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 31% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 10% MSCI EM NR USD, 7% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 3% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment 2028 Portfolio 

42% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 29% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 9% MSCI EM NR USD, 12% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 3% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment 2026 Portfolio 

36% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 26% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 8% MSCI EM NR USD, 20% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment 2024 Portfolio 

26% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 18% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 6% MSCI EM NR USD, 40% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 3% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 4% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment 2022 Portfolio 

15% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 11% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 4% MSCI EM NR USD, 56% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 4% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 7% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 1% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Growth Year of Enrollment Enrolled Portfolio 

5% Dow Jones US Total Stock Market TR USD, 4% MSCI EAFE NR USD, 1% MSCI EM NR USD, 48% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Aggregate Bond TR USD, 4% Bloomberg Barclays Long Term US Treasury TR USD, 6% Bloomberg 
Barclays US Treasury US TIPS TR USD, 2% Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Government RIC Capped 
TR USD, 30% Bloomberg Barclays US Treasury Bill 1-3 Mon TR USD 

Certain information contained herein: (1) is proprietary to Morningstar and/or its content providers; (2) may not be 
copied or distributed; and (3) is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. Neither Morningstar nor its content 
providers are responsible for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information. ©2020 Morningstar, Inc. 
All Rights Reserved.  

Tax considerations, while important, are just one factor to consider before making any investment decision. Lockwood 
is not a tax advisor and this communication does not constitute tax advice. Advisors should consult with a 
qualified tax professional for specific tax advice. 

For more information about Lockwood, as well as its products, fees and services, please refer to Lockwood’s Form 
CRS (Customer Relationship Summary) and applicable Form ADV Part 2, Wrap Fee Brochure (Managed 360® 
Program, Managed Account Advisor Program, Lockwood Sponsored Program, Co-Sponsored Programs or the Firm 



LOCKWOOD INVESTMENT ADVISORY REPORT THIRD QUARTER 2020 

 

160 

Brochure) which may be obtained through your financial advisor or by writing to: Lockwood, Attn: Legal Department 
(AIM #19K-0203), 760 Moore Road, King of Prussia, PA 19406, or by calling (800) 200-3033, option 3. 



NOVEMBER 2020

2020
ACTUARIAL

VALUATION

REPORT

Guaranteed Education Tuition ProgramDRAFT



DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

iii

Acknowledgements

Matthew M. Smith, FCA, EA, MAAA
State Actuary

Melinda Aslakson

Sarah Baker

Kelly Burkhart

Mitch DeCamp

Graham Dyer

Katie Gross

Aaron Gutierrez, MPA, JD

Beth Halverson

Michael Harbour, ASA, MAAA 

Luke Masselink, ASA, EA, MAAA

Darren Painter

Lindsey Russell

Frank Serra

Kyle Stineman, ASA, MAAA

Keri Wallis

Lisa Won, ASA, FCA, MAAA

Additional Assistance

WA529 Staff

Legislative Staff

The University of Washington

Washington State Investment Board

Legislative Support Services

Contact Information

Mailing Address: 
Office of the State Actuary 
PO Box 40914
Olympia, Washington 98504-0914

Physical Address:
2100 Evergreen Park Dr. SW
Suite 150

Telephone:
Reception: 360.786.6140
TDD: 711

Electronic Contact:
state.actuary@leg.wa.gov 
leg.wa.gov/osa 

To obtain a copy of this report in alternative format call 360.786.6140 or 711 for TDD.

DRAFT

mailto:state.actuary@leg.wa.gov
http://leg.wa.gov/OSA/Pages/default.aspx


DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ..........................................................................................iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS ............................................................................................... v
LETTER OF INTRODUCTION ...................................................................................1
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................3

Intended Use ............................................................................................................5
Comments on 2020 Results .....................................................................................5
Funded Status of Current Contracts ........................................................................6
Risks Inherent in Actuarial Measurements .............................................................6
Projection of Current Contracts ..............................................................................7
Key Assumptions .....................................................................................................8
Contract Data ...........................................................................................................8

ACTUARIAL CERTIFICATION LETTER ....................................................................9
BACKGROUND .........................................................................................................13

Program History and Goals ...................................................................................15
Plan Description ....................................................................................................17

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS .....................................................................................19
Participant Data .....................................................................................................22
Actuarial Liabilities ................................................................................................23
Program Assets ......................................................................................................25
Funded Status ........................................................................................................29
Program Projections ..............................................................................................30

SENSITIVITY OF BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS ........................................................33
Closed Program Scenario Sensitivity .....................................................................35
Actuarial Fund Value Sensitivity ...........................................................................36
Terminated Program Scenario Cash Flows ...........................................................36
Terminated Program Scenario Sensitivity ............................................................38

APPENDICES ............................................................................................................39
Appendix A ★ Assumptions, Methods, and Data..................................................41

Economic Assumptions ......................................................................................41
Behavioral Assumptions ....................................................................................43
Miscellaneous .....................................................................................................43
Methods ..............................................................................................................43
Data ....................................................................................................................44

Appendix B ★ Assets ..............................................................................................45
Appendix C ★ Contract Data .................................................................................47
Appendix D ★ Price-Setting Guidelines ................................................................49

DRAFT



DRAFT



PO Box 40914 | Olympia, Washington 98504-0914 | state.actuary@leg.wa.gov | leg.wa.gov/osa
Phone: 360.786.6140 | Fax: 360.586.8135 | TDD: 711

Letter of Introduction
Guaranteed Education Tuition Program

Actuarial Valuation Report
As of June 30, 2020

November 2020

This report documents the results of an actuarial valuation of the Guaranteed Education 
Tuition (GET) program. The primary purpose of this report is to update the annual 
financial status of the program through the calculation of the funded status for current 
contracts, in combination with the projection of the expected funded status in future 
years. This report also provides information on the sensitivity of the valuation results to 
key assumptions and developments in the program since the last valuation.

This report is organized in the following sections:

 ❖ Executive Summary.
 ❖ Actuarial Certification Letter.
 ❖ Background.
 ❖ Best Estimate Results.
 ❖ Sensitivity of Best Estimate Results.
 ❖ Appendices.

The Executive Summary provides the key results for this actuarial valuation. The 
Background section explains how this valuation complements annual Washington 
College Savings Plans (WA529) communications, how the Office of the State Actuary (OSA) 
supports the GET program, and provides a general understanding of the GET program. 
The next two sections provide detailed actuarial asset, liability, and cash flow information 
over the next 25 years. The Appendices describe the key assumptions and methods, 
assets, participant data, and additional information used to prepare this valuation. It also 
includes information on the most recently adopted unit price including the assumptions 
and methods that went into the best estimate unit price calculation.

We encourage you to submit any questions you might have concerning this report to our 
mailing address or our e-mail address at state.actuary@leg.wa.gov. We also invite you to 
visit WA529’s website for further information regarding Washington’s GET program.

Sincerely,

Matthew M. Smith, FCA, EA, MAAA    Sarah Baker
State Actuary       Actuarial Analyst

DRAFT

mailto:state.actuary%40leg.wa.gov?subject=
http://leg.wa.gov/osa
mailto:state.actuary%40leg.wa.gov?subject=


DRAFT



Executive Summary

DRAFT



DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  5

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTENDED USE

The purpose of this report is to provide an annual update of the financial status of the GET program 
based on a June 30, 2020, measurement date. This report provides valuation results of the funded 
status for current contracts, the projected funded status, and developments in the program over 
the past year. This report also discloses the data, assumptions, and methods we – OSA – used to 
develop the valuation results and shows the sensitivity of the valuation results to key assumptions.

All this information should be used together to understand the current status of the GET program.

This report is one of several key documents related to the GET program throughout a fiscal year. 
This report is not intended to replace program information supplied by WA529 staff or other 
analysis supplied by OSA, including analysis provided for the Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report. Please replace this report when a more recent report becomes available.

COMMENTS ON 2020 RESULTS

Many factors can influence how actuarial valuation results change from one measurement date to 
the next. Those factors include – changes in the covered population; changes in program provisions, 
assumptions, and methods; and experience that varies from our expectations.

Significant factors for this year’s valuation include the following:

 ❖ Investment returns of 7.40 percent exceeding the expected 5.25 percent for the plan year 
ending June 30, 2020, (increase to funded status);

 ❖ Reduction to the prospective assumed rate of investment return from 5.25 percent to 
4.75 percent (decrease to funded status); and

 ❖ The addition of new units purchased after last year’s actuarial valuation.

This valuation reflects unredeemed purchased or contracted units at June 30, 2020. Please see the 
Gain/Loss Analysis in the Best Estimate Results Section for information on other factors.

The WA529 Committee, at their 
September 2020 meeting, adopted 
a new unit price of $133 for the 
2020-21 enrollment period. We 
will include the impact of new units 
purchased or contracted during the 
next enrollment period in next year’s 
actuarial valuation report.DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

6

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

COMMENTS ON 2020 RESULTS

The results of the valuation exclude the impacts of differential, or tiered tuition. If differential 
tuition were implemented and included in the GET unit payout value, the results of this valuation 
could materially change.

FUNDED STATUS OF CURRENT CONTRACTS

The following table summarizes the key measures of the program’s funded status as of the current 
and prior year’s valuation dates. This table provides a point-in-time estimate of the health of the 
program and should not be considered in isolation or as the sole measure of the program’s status.

RISKS INHERENT IN ACTUARIAL MEASUREMENTS

Readers should exercise caution when interpreting and reaching conclusions based on a single, 
point-in-time measurement. In the course of conducting actuarial analyses, we make many 
assumptions. In some cases, small changes in these assumptions, or experience that plays out 
differently than expected, can lead to significant changes in the measurements.

For example, the program’s funded status is highly sensitive to changes in tuition policy and 
associated changes in assumed tuition growth. The program’s funded status is also sensitive to 
changes to the long-term assumed rate of investment return. Small increases/decreases in the 
assumed rate of return can produce large increases/decreases in the funded status, while small 
increases/decreases in the assumed tuition growth can produce large decreases/increases in the 
funded status.

Given recent projected state revenue shortfalls and volatility in the financial markets, there is a 
higher likelihood that experience in the short-term will deviate from our assumptions. Additionally, 
these assumptions may change next year as a result of:

 ❖ Updated Capital Market Assumptions (CMAs) from the Washington State Investment 
Board (WSIB);

 ❖ Tuition policy set by the Legislature for the 2021-23 Biennium; and

 ❖ The results of the next GET Experience Study.

To evaluate how the point-in-time measurements may change, we perform sensitivity tests – a 
process for assessing the impact of a change in an actuarial assumption or method on an actuarial 
measurement. Please see the Sensitivity of Best Estimate Results section and the Appendices 
for more information, including the results of the sensitivity tests.

continued

(Dollars in Millions) 2020 2019
Present Value of Future Obligations $1,190 $1,108
Present Value of Fund $1,559 $1,456
Funded Status  131.0% 131.3%
Reserve/(Deficit) $369 $347

Funded Status Summary

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  7

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

PROJECTION OF CURRENT CONTRACTS

The next table shows a projection of the program’s funded status at future even-year 
measurement dates assuming no future unit sales, aside from unit purchases already under 
contract. Along with the funded status, the table shows the expected assets, net cash flows, and 
present value of obligations (so the reader can assess the size of the program). A full version of this 
table can be found in the Best Estimate Results section.

Fiscal Year 
Ending
June 30

Funded 
Status

EOY 
Obligation 

Value
EOY Fund 

Value
Net Cash 

Flow
2020 131% $1,190 $1,559 N/A
2022 137% 1,102 1,507 (17)
2024 146% 965 1,409 (46)
2026 161% 794 1,281 (47)
2028 186% 620 1,155 (59)
2030 232% 444 1,031 (55)
2032 314% 301 945 (34)
2034 455% 199 906 (12)
2036 721% 125 900 2
2038 * 66 917 11
2040 * 24 958 24
2042 * 4 1,029 39
2044 * $0 $1,124 50

*Funded Status exceeds 1,000% due to very small obligation value.

Projection of Current Contracts Only
(If all Assumptions are Realized)

(Dollars in Millions); EOY = End of Year

A large funded status develops under this projection because we assume the current reserve of 
$369 million will continue to grow with the long-term expected 4.75 percent rate of investment 
return each year. However, if the program is permanently closed or terminated, the program’s asset 
allocation may change leading to a lower assumed rate of investment return.

Please see the Sensitivity of Best Estimate Results section for how these results could change 
under different assumptions and how the results change if the program were terminated.DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

8

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

KEY ASSUMPTIONS

The results of this valuation are based on several assumptions that 
include both economic and demographic factors. We summarize 
the key assumptions in the next table. Please see the Assumptions, 
Methods, and Data sections in the Appendices for how we developed 
the assumptions used in this valuation. Note that the investment 
return assumption decreased from 5.25 percent to 4.75 percent from 
our last valuation.

CONTRACT DATA

The table below summarizes the current contract and unit data used in this valuation for the plan 
year ending June 30, 2020, as well as for the prior year. Please see the Participant Data in the 
Best Estimate Results section for a table reconciling outstanding GET units from last year to this 
year. Please also see the Contract Data section in the Appendices for additional information on 
when units were purchased and their expected use years.

All Years 4.75%

2020-21 2.4%
2021-29 5.5%
2029-31+ 5.0%

Key Assumptions

Tuition Growth

Investment Return

2020 2019
Number of Current Contracts 67,153          67,215          
Number of Units Outstanding 10,289,070   10,418,088   

Contract Summary

DRAFT



Actuarial Certification
Letter

DRAFT



DRAFT



Actuarial Certification Letter
Guaranteed Education Tuition Program

Actuarial Valuation Report
As of June 30, 2020

November 2020

This report documents the results of an actuarial valuation for the Washington Guaranteed 
Education Tuition (GET) Program defined under Chapter 28B.95 of the Revised Code of 
Washington (RCW). The primary purpose of this report is to update the annual financial status 
of the program through the calculation of the funded status for current contracts, in combination 
with the projection of the expected funded status in future years. This report also provides 
information on the sensitivity of the valuation results to key assumptions and developments in 
the program since the last valuation. This report should not be used for other purposes. Please 
replace this report with a more recent report when available.

The results summarized in this report involve calculations that require assumptions about future 
economic and demographic events. With the exception of subsequent changes to the investment 
return and tuition growth assumptions, we developed the assumptions used in this valuation 
during the 2015 GET Experience Study. Copies of this letter are available upon request. We 
provide supporting analysis for the investment return and tuition growth assumptions in the 
Appendices of this report.

Actuarial standards of practice that specifically apply to the measurement of obligations under 
prepaid tuition programs have not been defined within the actuarial profession. We used the 
standards of practice for pension systems where possible to guide the actuarial valuation of 
the GET program. In our opinion, the assumptions, methods, and calculations used in the 
valuation are reasonable and appropriate for the primary purpose as stated above and are in 
conformity with generally accepted actuarial principles and standards of practice as of the date 
of this publication. The use of another set of assumptions and methods, however, could also 
be reasonable and could produce materially different results. Actual results may vary from our 
expectations.

The results of the valuation exclude the potential impacts of differential tuition. If differential 
tuition were implemented and included in the GET unit payout value, the results of this valuation 
could materially change. This analysis will need to be updated in the future if changes are made to 
the GET program or the Legislature modifies current tuition policy.

Washington College Savings Plans (WA529) staff provided the participant and historical data to 
us. We checked the data for reasonableness as appropriate based on the purpose of this valuation. 
The Washington State Investment Board (WSIB) provided financial and asset information. We 
did not audit the data and relied on all the information provided as complete and accurate. In 
our opinion, this information is adequate and substantially complete for the purposes of this 
valuation.

No members of the WA529 Committee or their respective staff attempted to bias our work 
product. We are not aware of any matters that impacted the independence and objectivity 
of our work.

PO Box 40914 | Olympia, Washington 98504-0914 | state.actuary@leg.wa.gov | leg.wa.gov/osa
Phone: 360.786.6140 | Fax: 360.586.8135 | TDD: 711

DRAFT

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28B.95
mailto:state.actuary%40leg.wa.gov?subject=
http://leg.wa.gov/osa


GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

12

We intend this valuation to be used by the WA529 Committee during the 2021 Fiscal Year only. We 
advise readers of this valuation to seek professional guidance as to its content and interpretation, 
and not to rely upon this communication without such guidance. Please read the analysis shown in 
this valuation as a whole. Distribution of, or reliance on, only parts of this valuation could result in 
its misuse and may mislead others.

Consistent with the Code of Professional Conduct that applies to actuaries, I (Michael T. Harbour) 
must disclose any potential conflict of interest as required under Precept 7. I purchased and have 
unredeemed units in GET; however, this does not impair my ability to act fairly. I performed all 
analysis without bias or influence. The Legislature mandated OSA to perform actuarial services for 
GET and Matthew M. Smith supervised the actuarial analysis.

The undersigned, with actuarial credentials, meet the Qualification Standards of the American 
Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinions contained herein. While this report is 
intended to be complete, we are available to offer extra advice and explanations as needed.

Sincerely,

Matthew M. Smith, FCA, EA, MAAA  Michael T. Harbour, ASA, MAAA 
State Actuary     Actuary

Page 2 of 2

DRAFT



Background

DRAFT



DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  15

BACKGROUND

PROGRAM HISTORY AND GOALS

The Washington State Legislature created the GET program in 1997. The program sold units 
annually from September 1, 1998, through June 30, 2015, when the, then named, GET Committee 
suspended new unit sales. The program reopened (and sold new units) starting on November 1, 
2017.

RCW 28B.95 outlines the purpose of the GET program along with general guidelines regarding how 
it is administered. It includes the following goals,

 ❖ Help make higher education affordable and accessible to all citizens of the 
state of Washington;

 ❖ Provide an additional financial option for individuals, organizations, and families to 
save for college;

 ❖ Encourage savings and enhance the ability of Washington citizens to obtain financial access 
to institutions of higher education;

 ❖ Encourage elementary and secondary school students to do well in school as a means of 
preparing for and aspiring to higher education attendance; and

 ❖ Promote a well-educated and financially secure population to the ultimate benefit of all 
citizens of the state of Washington.

The statute establishes the five-member Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College 
Savings also known as the WA529 Committee. The WA529 Committee meets regularly to discuss 
the goals and status of the program, make administrative decisions, and set the unit price for each 
enrollment period.

WA529 staff supports the functions of the program and the WA529 Committee by administering the 
program and staffing WA529 Committee meetings. WA529 staff also prepare studies and reports 
that are directed to the WA529 Committee by the Legislature. Communications from WA529 staff 
can be found on the Washington Student Achievement Council (WSAC) website.

DRAFT

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28B.95
https://wsac.wa.gov/get


GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

16

BACKGROUND

PROGRAM HISTORY AND GOALS

OSA assists the WA529 Committee and the Legislature by providing actuarial services and 
consulting. OSA’s three primary services for WA529 include:

 ❖ Prepare an annual actuarial valuation of GET (this document) for the WA529 Committee.

 ❖ Prepare unit price-setting analysis for the WA529 Committee.

 ❖ Consult, price, and communicate the effects of potential changes to the GET program for the 
WA529 Committee or the Legislature.

This valuation should not be used in isolation to understand the ongoing health of the GET 
program. Rather, this document should be used together with the annual report from WA529 staff, 
OSA’s price-setting analysis (when performed), and any other studies or reports created by 
WA529 staff or OSA.

continued

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  17

BACKGROUND

PLAN DESCRIPTION

The terms of the GET program are a combination of RCW 28B.95 (determined by the Legislature) 
and the GET participant agreement (determined by the WA529 Committee). Statute provides 
general guidelines and certain rules for the WA529 Committee, whereas the GET participant 
agreement states all specific details for the purchaser.

The main plan provisions are outlined below so the reader can get a sense for what cash flows 
occur, what parties are involved, and what drives the results of the actuarial valuation. For a 
complete description of the plan provisions we direct you to the GET website, which includes both 
summarized plan provisions and the full GET participant agreement. If the summary below conflicts 
with relevant statute or the GET participant agreement, the relevant statute and participant 
agreement supersede this summary.

The graphic below illustrates the standard yearly process when new unit sales are allowed and under 
normal refund rules.

In December of 2019, qualified distributions were expanded as part of the Further Consolidated 
Appropriations Act, 2020. This federal spending bill included new 529 plan-specific provisions 
that allow 529 plan account owners to withdraw assets to pay for certain expenses associated with 
apprenticeship programs registered and certified by the Secretary of Labor under the National 
Apprenticeship Act, and to pay principal and interest on certain qualified education loans.

• WA529 Committee sets the price annually for the current enrollment period.
• Based on adopted price-setting guidelines.Unit Price is Set

• Maximum of 800 units.
• Can be purchased either through a lump sum payment or a monthly contract 

(with finance charges).
Units are Purchased

• Investment returns on the proceeds from unit sales are expected to pay a 
portion of the future unit value and lowers the price of the unit today.

• Invested by the Washington State Investment Board.
Money is Invested

• Unit Value (specific dollar amount) equals 1 percent of annual resident 
undergraduate tuition and state mandated fees at most expensive public 
Washington university at time of unit use.

• Maximum of 200 units per year, plus any unused units from a prior year.
• Used at any eligible in-state or out-of-state higher education institution 

based on Unit Value, or
• Refunded based on Unit Value or transferred to another eligible beneficiary.

Units are RedeemedDRAFT

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28B.95
https://wastate529.wa.gov/


DRAFT



Best Estimate Results

DRAFT



DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  21

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS
This section provides details on our best estimate of the GET present value of obligations, assets, 
cash flows, and funded status information for outstanding units at June 30, 2020. Also provided in 
this section is a summary of the participant data used to derive these estimates.

The first subsection shows an overview of the program participant data as of the valuation date. It 
is this data that is used to determine how many units will be redeemed in a given year for current 
contracts. These future unit redemptions, along with program expenses, make up the program 
liabilities described in the second subsection.

In the second subsection, we show the expected value, as of the valuation date, of obligations for all 
future payments from the program for current contracts only. The future payments represent both 
unit payout values and expenses (please see the Appendices for further details on the expenses 
included in this valuation). We discount future payments to the valuation date using the expected 
rate of investment return to determine the present value of those future payments. To see how 
obligations differed from our expectations in the prior year, we include an actuarial gain/loss from 
fiscal year 2019 to 2020.

The third subsection shows the market value of the fund along with the actuarial value. That is, the 
assets currently set aside for the contracts sold as of the valuation date, along with the smoothed 
measure of assets of the program. The present value of the fund represents both assets currently on 
hand and the present value of monthly contract receivables. Similar to program obligations, 
we provide the actuarial gain/loss for assets over the prior fiscal year.

In the subsections, the 
obligations and assets 
combine to produce the 
program funded status and 
future cash flows. We show 
a history of the program’s 
key metrics followed by 
our projections for the 
future under a 
closed program.

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

22

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

PARTICIPANT DATA

Program obligations are based on the participant 
data supplied by GET staff. Below we provide a 
summary of outstanding units by the initial 
“use year” for the plan year ending June 30, 2020, 
along with a reconciliation of units from last year’s 
valuation. The projected benefit use year, provided 
by contract holders when an account is established, 
represents the first year the Student Beneficiary is 
expected to enter college and/or turn 18 years old.

Use Year
Expected Unit 

Value
Units Starting

 to be Used
2020* $111 2,808,498
2021 117 803,298
2022 124 808,960
2023 130 790,208
2024 138 775,161
2025 145 765,091
2026 153 728,113
2027 162 603,848
2028 170 519,547
2029 179 367,904
2030 188 304,508
2031 197 239,347
2032 207 189,459
2033 217 148,081
2034 228 126,857
2035 240 114,429
2036 252 104,396
2037 264 66,296
2038 278 25,058
2039 291 8
2040 $306 0

Number of Units 
Outstanding by Use Year

*Includes contracts that already started using
  units.

Number of Outstanding Units at June 30, 20191 10,418,088
New Units Purchased 505,222
Units Redeemed2 (517,310)
Units Refunded, Defaulted, or Downgraded3 (101,120)
Units Rolled Over to Other 529 Plans4 (15,905)
Other5 94
Number of Outstanding Units at June 30, 20201 10,289,070

Change in Number of Outstanding Units

1 GET reports two fewer outstanding units.
2 Includes adjustments for unused distributions in prior fiscal year.
3 Includes total units in refunded account. Unit downgrades are performed
  upon customer request.
4 Includes rollovers to DreamAhead and other states' 529 plans.
5 Includes other, unexplained changes.

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  23

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

ACTUARIAL LIABILITIES

The following table shows the 
actuarial liabilities (program 
obligations). The obligations 
are the sum of the present value 
of future unit redemptions and 
administrative expenses for 
all unredeemed units at June 
30, 2020. The obligations are 
measured under a closed program and exclude tuition payments or administrative costs from new 
units purchased after June 30, 2020. Please see Appendix A for further details.

WA529 staff provide the expected 
administrative expenses of the 
program. They represent the 
anticipated expenses of the 
program for each year until all 
current outstanding units are 
redeemed based on our current 
assumptions. We then calculate the 
present value of those expenses. In 
the following table, we outline the 
development of the present value 
of this obligation along with the 
underlying expense values.

(Dollars in Millions)
Present Value of Unit Redemptions $1,161
Present Value of Administrative Expenses 30

2020 Present Value of Obligations $1,190
2019 Present Value of Obligations $1,108

Present Value of Obligations

Fiscal
Year

Administrative
Expenses

PV of 
Expenses

2021 $5,080,610 $4,964,526
2022 3,101,777 2,893,467
2023 2,384,925 2,123,873
2024 1,942,742 1,651,638
2025 1,481,079 1,202,054
2026 1,545,733 1,197,640
2027 1,545,548 1,143,195
2028 1,602,859 1,131,824
2029 1,657,369 1,117,246
2030 1,609,590 1,035,836
2031 1,665,747 1,023,365
2032 1,707,379 1,001,377
2033 1,755,924 983,149
2034 1,804,722 964,650
2035 1,854,034 946,070
2036 1,911,065 930,951
2037 1,772,135 824,127
2038 1,819,490 807,780
2039 1,867,851 791,647
2040 1,917,785 775,953
2041 1,829,017 706,479
2042 1,600,679 590,244
2043 1,320,783 464,948
2044 $1,345,906 $452,308

$29,724,348
Note: PV means Present Value.
PV of Expenses

Development of Expenses

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

24

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

ACTUARIAL LIABILITIES

The following table demonstrates actuarial gains and losses for program obligations. We use gain/
loss analysis to compare actual changes to assumed changes in the assets and obligations. We also 
use this analysis to determine:

 ❖ The accuracy of our valuation model and annual processing;

 ❖ Why obligations and assets changed; and,

 ❖ The reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions.

Actuarial gains will increase funded status; actuarial losses will decrease funded status. Under 
a reasonable set of actuarial assumptions, actuarial gains and losses will offset over long-term 
experience periods. Please see the following section for the gains and losses for program assets.

continued

2019 Present Value of Obligations $1,108

Expected Change ($31)

Tuition Payments and Account Changes* $17
New Units Purchased or Contracted $55
Other ($0)

Total Program Obligations Gains/Losses $71

Tuition Growth Assumption Change** $2
Investment Return Assumption Change $38
Method Change $0
Update of Administrative Expenses $1

Total Additional Changes Gains/Losses $41
Total Change in 2020 $82
2020 Present Value of Obligations $1,190
Note: Totals may not agree due to rounding.
*Includes other unit changes such as refunds, conversions,
  and rollovers.
**Includes the annual update to the unit payout value.

Additional Changes

Program Gains/Losses

Gain/(Loss) Analysis
Change in Obligations by Source

Changes in 2020

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  25

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

PROGRAM ASSETS

The chart below shows how GET program assets were invested at June 30, 2020. In late 2019, WSIB 
adopted a new asset allocation. The target asset allocation was moved to 40 percent global equity 
and 60 percent fixed income (the percentages were reversed under the prior allocation). Under 
current investment policy, the program is allowed to allocate up to 5 percent in cash with a long-
term target of 0 percent. The figures displayed below reflect the new asset allocation.

Cash: Highly liquid, very safe 
investments that can be easily 
converted into cash, such as Treasury 
Bills and money-market funds.

Fixed Income: Securities 
representing debt obligations and 
usually having fixed payments 
and maturities. Different types of 
fixed income securities include 
government and corporate bonds, 
mortgage-backed securities, asset-
backed securities, convertible issues, 
and may also include money-market 
instruments.

Global Equities: Shares of U.S. 
and non-U.S. corporations that 
trade on public exchanges or “over-
the-counter.” The ownership of a 
corporation is represented by shares 
that are claimed on the corporation’s 
earnings and assets.

The following table shows the GET market fund value. The value of the fund includes the Market 
Value of Assets held by the WSIB along with the present value of the monthly contract receivables. 
We assume mid-valuation year timing on payments in and out of the fund for purposes 
of the valuation.

Cash $20
Global Equities $563
Fixed Income $874
Total Market Value of Assets $1,458
Present Value of Monthly Contracts $102
Total Market Fund Value $1,559

Market Fund Value

Market Value of Assets at 6/30/2020
(Dollars in Millions)

2020 GET Fund Asset Allocation

Cash
1.4%

Fixed 
Income
60.0%

Global 
Equities
38.6%

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

26

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

PROGRAM ASSETS

The next two tables show reconciliations from last year to this year for the Market Value of Assets 
and Present Value (PV) of Monthly Contracts.

2019 Market Value of Assets $1,355

Lump Sum Unit Purchases $42
Custom Monthly Unit Purchases $19
Investment Return $100
Other Revenue $0

Total Revenue $161

Refunds ($7)
Redemptions ($56)
Other Disbursements $5 

Total Disbursements ($58)
Net Cash Flow $103 
2020 Market Value of Assets $1,458

Change in Market Value of Assets

Changes in Net Asset Value

(Dollars in Millions)

Revenue

Disbursements

continued

PV of Monthly Contracts at June 30, 2019 $101

Actual Payments Received in 2020 (18)
Interest Adjustment 5
Account Conversions* (8)
PV of Monthly Contracts for New Units in 2020 20
Other** 1
Preliminary PV Receivables at June 30, 2020 $100
Assumption Changes or Program Changes 2
Total Changes in PV Monthly Contracts $1
PV of Monthly Contracts at June 30, 2020 $102

Changes in PV Monthly Contracts

(Dollars in Millions)

Change in PV of Monthly Contract Receivables 

*Conversion of Custom Monthly accounts to Lump-Sum accounts.
  Includes voluntary refunds.
**Includes account downgrades, interest on advanced payments,
   and unexplained changes.DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  27

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

PROGRAM ASSETS

Similar to the program obligations, we measure actuarial gains and losses for the program assets as 
illustrated in the following table. The gain/loss on investment earnings represents the gain or loss 
on all investment income including investment gain/loss on contributions and disbursements.

continued

2019 Market Value of Fund $1,456

Expected Change ($11)

Distributions $27
Contributions

Existing Contracts ($1)
New Unit Sales $42

Contract Receivables
Existing Contracts ($6)
New Unit Sales $20

Investment Earnings $31
Other ($0)
Total Program Assets Gains/(Losses) $112

Investment Return Assumption Change* $2
Total Change in 2020 $104
2020 Market Value of Fund $1,559

Gain/(Loss) Analysis
Change in Assets by Source

Changes in 2020

*Includes an update to the discount rate used for PV of
  receivables. 

Program Assets Gains/Losses

Additional Changes

Note:  Totals may not agree due to rounding.

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

28

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

PROGRAM ASSETS

The following table shows the actuarial fund value, or smoothed fund value. The actuarial fund 
value extends the recognition of annual investment gains and losses (returns above or below 
expected) in order to limit the volatility due to year-to-year market fluctuation. For the purposes 
of this calculation, we smooth each gain or loss over an eight-year recognition period and limit the 
resulting actuarial value of assets to within 30 percent of the actual market value of assets as of the 
valuation date. We then add the best estimate present value of receivables to get the actuarial 
fund value.

We use the market fund value based on the market value of assets to calculate the best estimate 
funded status. We provide the actuarial value of assets to help readers evaluate how much a 
single, point-in-time measurement impacts the program’s assets and funded status. Please see 
the Sensitivity of Best Estimate Results section for a funded status calculation based on 
the actuarial fund value. The use of another asset valuation method may also be reasonable and 
could produce materially different results. We believe the selected approach (as noted in the prior 
paragraph) is reasonable given its intended use and may not be appropriate for other uses.

a) Market Value at 6/30/2020 $1,458

Program 
Year Ending

Years 
Remaining Total Deferral

Remaining 
Deferral

6/30/2020 7 $29 $25
6/30/2019 6 ($13) ($10)
6/30/2018 5 $20 $12
6/30/2017 4 $99 $50
6/30/2016 3 ($150) ($56)
6/30/2015 2 ($123) ($31)
6/30/2014 1 $245 $31

b) $21
c) $1,436
d) $1,020
e) $1,895
f) $1,436
g) $102
h) $1,538Actuarial Fund Value (f + g)

PV of Receivables
Actuarial Value of Assets

Calculation of Actuarial Fund Value

Deferred Gains and (Losses)

Total Deferral
Market Value less Deferral 6/30/2020 (a - b)
70% of Market Value of Assets

(Dollars in Millions)

130% of Market Value of Assets

continued

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  29

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

FUNDED STATUS

The funded status helps readers 
evaluate the health of the GET 
program at a single point in 
time. A history of funded status 
measured consistently over a 
defined period helps readers 
evaluate a plan’s long-term 
ability to accurately assess and 
react to experience. A plan 
more/less than 100 percent 
funded is not automatically 
considered over-funded/at-risk. 
The following table calculates 
the program’s funded status 
and reserve.

The following chart demonstrate the program’s funded status history over the past 15 years. 
A full history of the program’s funded status can be found in Appendix B.

a) Present Value of Unit Redemptions $1,161
b) Present Value of Administrative Expenses $30
c) Present Value of Obligations (a+b) $1,190

d) Assets $1,458
e) Present Value of Monthly Contract Receivables $102
f) Present Value of Fund (d+e) $1,559

g) Present Value of Fund (f) $1,559
h) Present Value of Obligations (c) $1,190
i) Ratio of Market Fund Value to Obligations (g/h) 131.0%
j) Reserve / (Deficit) (g-h) $369

Market Fund Value

Calculation of Funded Status

2020 Funded Status
(Dollars in Millions)

Obligations

109%
117%

110%

84% 86%
79% 79%

94%

106%

140%
136% 133% 130% 131% 131%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

160%

FU N D ED  ST AT U S

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

30

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

FUNDED STATUS

The reserve/(deficit) indicates the excess/shortfall of the fund assets on hand to cover the program’s 
obligations at the valuation date if all assumptions are realized. The reserve level can be interpreted 
similarly to the funded status.

A self-sustaining program that collects all cash inflows up front, like the GET program, may want to 
aim for a long-term reserve of approximately 15 percent (or 115 percent funded status) in order to 
protect against unexpected adverse outcomes over the life of the program. The program may require 
a reserve above 15 percent under future circumstances that vary from today’s environment.

PROGRAM PROJECTIONS

The following table shows how the program is expected to fare beyond the valuation date, assuming 
no future unit sales other than those purchased through existing monthly payment contracts. Under 
a closed program scenario, all existing customers with unredeemed units can redeem those units 
under current program terms, but the program would sell no additional units.

continued

Fiscal Year 
Ending
June 30

Funded 
Status Unit Value2

 Number of 
Units Used

EOY Obligation 
Value

EOY Market 
Fund Value EOY MVA

EOY PV of 
Receivables

Net Cash 
Flow

20201 131% N/A N/A $1,190 $1,559 $1,458 $102 N/A
2021 134% 111 805,442 1,150 1,537 1,449 87 (8)
2022 137% 117 829,772 1,102 1,507 1,433 74 (17)
2023 141% 124 877,945 1,041 1,465 1,403 62 (30)
2024 146% 130 927,124 965 1,409 1,357 52 (46)
2025 153% 138 978,928 871 1,337 1,294 43 (63)
2026 161% 145 787,377 794 1,281 1,247 35 (47)
2027 172% 153 771,830 709 1,220 1,192 28 (55)
2028 186% 162 730,625 620 1,155 1,133 22 (59)
2029 206% 170 677,050 530 1,090 1,073 17 (60)
2030 232% 179 596,321 444 1,031 1,019 13 (55)
2031 268% 188 504,133 367 982 972 9 (46)
2032 314% 197 405,694 301 945 938 7 (34)
2033 376% 207 323,231 245 919 915 4 (23)
2034 455% 217 249,276 199 906 903 3 (12)
2035 565% 228 201,177 159 900 898 1 (5)
2036 721% 240 163,285 125 900 900 1 2
2037 965% 252 136,341 94 906 906 0 6
2038 * 264 111,931 66 917 917 0 11
2039 * 278 87,219 43 934 934 0 17
2040 * 291 62,014 24 958 958 0 24
2041 * 306 39,126 11 989 989 0 31
2042 * 321 18,213 4 1,029 1,029 0 39
2043 * 337 5,014 1 1,075 1,075 0 46
2044 * 354 2 0 1,124 1,124 0 50
2045 * $372 0 $0 $1,178 $1,178 $0 $53

(Dollars in Millions); EOY = End of Year

2 Shown in Dollars (not in Millions).
*Funded Status exceeds 1,000% due to very small obligation value.

1 Please see Participant Data  and Program Assets  for actual experience in Fiscal Year 2020.

Projection of Current Contracts Only (If all Assumptions are Realized)

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  31

BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

PROGRAM PROJECTIONS

The net cash flows used in the preceding table are based on expected inflows and outflows as 
illustrated below.

Fiscal Year 
Ending
June 30

Net Cash 
Flow

Monthly 
Contracts

Investment 
Return

State 
Contributions Unit Use Expense

2021 ($8) $19 $67 $0 ($89) ($5)
2022 (17) 17 67 0 (97) (3)
2023 (30) 15 66 0 (108) (2)
2024 (46) 13 64 0 (121) (2)
2025 (63) 11 62 0 (135) (1)
2026 (47) 10 59 0 (114) (2)
2027 (55) 8 57 0 (118) (2)
2028 (59) 7 54 0 (118) (2)
2029 (60) 6 51 0 (115) (2)
2030 (55) 5 49 0 (107) (2)
2031 (46) 4 46 0 (95) (2)
2032 (34) 3 44 0 (80) (2)
2033 (23) 2 43 0 (67) (2)
2034 (12) 2 42 0 (54) (2)
2035 (5) 1 42 0 (46) (2)
2036 2 1 42 0 (39) (2)
2037 6 0 42 0 (34) (2)
2038 11 0 42 0 (30) (2)
2039 17 0 43 0 (24) (2)
2040 24 0 44 0 (18) (2)
2041 31 0 45 0 (12) (2)
2042 39 0 47 0 (6) (2)
2043 46 0 49 0 (2) (1)
2044 50 0 51 0 (0) (1)
2045 $53 $0 $53 $0 $0 $0

Projection of Current Contracts Only (If all Assumptions are Realized)

Cash Inflows Cash Outflows
(Dollars in Millions)

We advise readers to exercise caution when using, distributing, or relying on the projection. As with 
any projection, these results will only remain accurate if all assumptions are realized. Furthermore, 
this projection represents current contracts only (no future unit sales) and assumes no future 
changes to current program provisions.

A large expected reserve develops under this projection because we assume the current reserve of 
$369 million will continue to grow with the long-term expected 4.75 percent rate of investment 
return each year. However, if the program is permanently closed or terminated, WSIB may change 
the program’s asset allocation. That in turn may lead to a lower assumed rate of investment return. 
A lower assumed rate of return would increase the present value of program obligations and lower 
the program’s reserve and funded status.

continued

DRAFT



DRAFT



Sensitivity of Best
Estimate Results

DRAFT



DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  35

SENSITIVITY OF BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS
The best estimate results are sensitive to the key assumptions used in the valuation. In this section, 
we calculated the results after varying the assumed rates of investment return and tuition growth to 
illustrate the sensitivity of the results to these assumptions. We also show the sensitivity of the 
June 30, 2020, best estimate funded status using the actuarial fund value.

CLOSED PROGRAM SCENARIO SENSITIVITY

The following table shows the best estimate results under a closed program scenario. This scenario 
is based on current contracts only, assuming no new units are purchased in the future. This scenario 
is consistent with our best estimate results shown elsewhere in the report.

(Dollars in Millions)
+1% 

Tuition
Best 

Estimate
-1% 

Tuition
-2% 

Return
-1% 

Return
Best 

Estimate
+1% 

Return
PV of Fund $1,559 $1,559 $1,559 $1,568 $1,564 $1,559 $1,555
PV of Obligations $1,263 $1,190 $1,124 $1,364 $1,272 $1,190 $1,117
Reserve/(Deficit) $297 $369 $436 $205 $291 $369 $439
2020 Funded Status 123% 131% 139% 115% 123% 131% 139%

2021 125% 134% 142% 116% 125% 134% 143%
2022 128% 137% 146% 117% 127% 137% 147%
2023 130% 141% 152% 119% 130% 141% 152%
2024 134% 146% 159% 121% 133% 146% 160%
2025 139% 153% 169% 124% 138% 153% 170%
2026 145% 161% 179% 128% 144% 161% 181%
2027 152% 172% 194% 132% 151% 172% 195%
2028 162% 186% 213% 138% 161% 186% 215%
2029 176% 206% 240% 146% 174% 206% 242%
2030 194% 232% 276% 156% 191% 232% 279%
2031 219% 268% 324% 170% 215% 268% 329%
2032 251% 314% 389% 188% 246% 314% 395%
2033 293% 376% 474% 212% 287% 376% 482%
2034 348% 455% 584% 242% 339% 455% 596%
2035 422% 564% 736% 283% 410% 564% 753%
2036 528% 721% 953% 342% 511% 721% 978%
2037 695% 965% ** 433% 669% 965% **
2038 982% ** ** 587% 940% ** **
2039 ** ** ** 881% ** ** **

Projected Funded Status (as of June 30)

Sensitivity of Results to Key Assumptions
Closed Program*

**Funded Status exceeds 1,000% due to very small obligation value.

Note: PV means Present Value.
*Based on current contracts only, no future unit sales.DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

36

SENSITIVITY OF BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

ACTUARIAL FUND VALUE SENSITIVITY

The following table compares the best estimate funded status calculated under the market fund 
value to the funded status calculated under the actuarial fund value.

(Dollars in Millions)
Best 

Estimate
Actuarial 

Fund Value
PV of Fund $1,559 $1,538
PV of Obligations $1,190 $1,190
Reserve/(Deficit) $369 $348
Funded Status 131% 129%
Note: PV means Present Value.

Sensitivity to Market Fund Value
Closed Program*

*Based on current contracts only, no future unit
  sales.

TERMINATED PROGRAM SCENARIO CASH FLOWS

The WA529 Committee or Legislature may decide to close or terminate the program in the future. We 
show the termination liability under RCW 28B95.090 and the corresponding expected cash flows if 
GET were to be terminated as of the valuation date. Under a termination scenario, all outstanding 
units outside four years of unit use would be refunded at the current unit value. All participants 
within four years of unit use could remain in the program and redeem units over the following 
ten years.

If program termination were to occur, 
we estimate the present value of 
obligations as of the valuation date 
would be $1.1 billion and the market 
fund value would be $1.5 billion, 
which would result in a reserve of 
approximately $400 million and 
a funded status of 136 percent. 
This represents the funded status 
if the program were terminated 
at the valuation date and before 
the immediate payout occurs. The 
decrease in liability (compared to the 
closed program scenario projection) 
is due to paying out a portion of the units sooner than expected at a lower payout value (after 
considering assumed future returns). The decrease in market fund value (compared to the closed 
program scenario projection) is due to a portion of the outstanding monthly contracts being 
canceled (since their use year is beyond the four-year window), resulting in lower than expected 
contract receivables.

DRAFT

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=28B.95.090


GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  37

SENSITIVITY OF BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

TERMINATED PROGRAM SCENARIO CASH FLOWS

The following table shows these results.

The net cash flows used in the preceding table are based on expected inflows and outflows as 
illustrated below.

Fiscal Year 
Ending 
June 30

Net Cash 
Flow

Monthly 
Contracts

Investment 
Return

State 
Contributions Unit Use Expense 

2021 ($442) $6 $57 $0 ($500) ($5)
2022 (50) 4 46 0 (97) (3)
2023 (65) 2 43 0 (108) (2)
2024 (82) 1 40 0 (121) (2)
2025 (100) 0 36 0 (135) (1)
2026 (62) 0 32 0 (92) (2)
2027 (44) 0 29 0 (72) (2)
2028 (24) 0 28 0 (50) (2)
2029 (0) 0 27 0 (26) (2)

Projection of Program Termination (If All Assumptions are Realized)
(Dollars in Millions)

Cash OutflowsCash Inflows

continued

Fiscal Year 
Ending 
June 30

Funded 
Status

Unit 
Value1

Number of 
Units Used

EOY 
Obligation 

Value
EOY Fund 

Value2 EOY MVA
EOY PV of 

Receivables
Net Cash 

Flow
2020 136% N/A N/A $1,083 $1,470 $1,458 $12 N/A
2021 166% 111 4,507,002 617 1,022 1,015 7 (442)
2022 178% 117 829,772 544 968 965 3 (50)
2023 198% 124 877,945 456 901 899 1 (65)
2024 232% 130 927,002 352 818 818 0 (82)
2025 313% 138 978,702 230 717 717 0 (100)
2026 453% 145 633,070 145 656 656 0 (62)
2027 802% 153 471,454 76 611 611 0 (44)
2028 * 162 309,308 27 588 588 0 (24)
2029 * $170 152,754 $0 $587 $587 $0 ($0)

Projection of Program Termination (If All Assumptions are Realized)

1 Shown in Dollars (not in Millions).
*Funded Status exceeds 1,000% due to very small obligation value.

(Dollars in Millions); EOY = End of Year

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

38

SENSITIVITY OF BEST ESTIMATE RESULTS

TERMINATED PROGRAM SCENARIO SENSITIVITY

Program termination may occur during periods of either low economic growth or a high tuition 
growth environment. Historically, lower rates of investment return correlate with higher tuition 
growth rates. If the program enters a termination scenario, WSIB may change the program’s asset 
allocation to increase liquidity. In turn, a closed or terminated program scenario may lead to a lower 
assumed rate of investment return. A lower assumed rate of return would increase the present 
value of program obligations and lower the program’s funded status. Below we show how our best 
estimate results under a terminated program change when assuming lower discount rates and 
higher tuition growth rates.

(Dollars in Millions)
Best 

Estimate
+1% Tuition & 

-1% Return
+1% Tuition & 

-2% Return
PV of Fund $1,470 $1,470 $1,470
PV of Obligations $1,083 $1,131 $1,159
Reserve/(Deficit) $387 $339 $311
2020 Funded Status 136% 130% 127%

2021 166% 154% 147%
2022 178% 163% 155%
2023 197% 178% 168%
2024 232% 205% 191%
2025 313% 266% 243%
2026 453% 372% 332%
2027 802% 635% 554%
2028 ** ** **
2029 ** ** **

**Funded Status exceeds 1,000% due to very small obligation value.

Sensitivity of Results to Key Assumptions

Note:  PV means Present Value.
*Program is terminated; all contracts with expected use year beyond four years
 immediately refunded.

Projected Funded Status (as of June 30)

Terminated Program*

DRAFT



Appendices

DRAFT



DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  41

Appendix A ★ Assumptions, Methods, and Data
The assumptions used in this report can be divided into two broad categories – economic and 
behavioral. We discuss the assumptions used in this valuation throughout the next two subsections. 
However, for more detailed and supporting information on these assumptions, please see the 
2015 GET Experience Study. This letter is available upon request.

ECONOMIC ASSUMPTIONS

The two key economic assumptions are expected investment returns and expected tuition growth. 
The next table shows what we have assumed for this valuation.

Expected investment returns are based on the new asset 
allocation, WSIB’s 2019 CMAs, simulated returns over a 
15-year period, and anticipated long-term market impacts from 
the current recession. We relied on the CMAs provided by 
WSIB as accurate and have reviewed them for reasonableness. 
We’ve implicitly assumed the current 40 percent global 
equity/60 percent fixed income portfolio will remain unchanged 
throughout the projection period. The expected investment 
returns, net of expenses, are used as the discount rate for 
expected program payments, expenses, and receivables as well 
as the investment returns in our closed program projections. For 
additional information on the program’s assets and our return 
assumption, see the Best Estimate Results section and Appendix B.

We updated our tuition growth model with the 2015 GET Experience Study to model short-term 
changes in tuition policy with long-term tuition growth trends. We use a tuition growth model, 
information from the most recently enacted state budget, and our professional judgment to set 
tuition growth rates. Our tuition growth model has three main structural components.

1. Long-Term Inflationary Growth — Represents the increase in total dollars spent on 
instruction. Over the last twenty years, this has increased by about 4.5 percent per year. We 
assume it will grow by 5.0 percent in the future. We estimate the total dollars required for the Cost 
of Instruction for undergraduate programs at the University of Washington. Consistent with the 
results of our recent experience study, we then increase that amount by an assumed long-term 
inflationary growth factor of 5 percent per year.

2. State Funding — Represents the increase or decrease in the percent of total dollars assumed to 
come from the state versus tuition. Historically, this percentage has decreased from approximately 
80 percent (in 1990) to 37 percent (in 2020). This decrease has put upward pressure on tuition 
since tuition increased to compensate for lower levels of state funding. We assume state funding 
will continue to decline to approximately 30 percent starting in the next biennium and subsequently 
level out. As a result, we project that tuition will increase above long-term inflationary levels during 
the period when state funding is assumed to decrease. In Step 2, we assume every lost dollar of state 
support is replaced by an increased dollar from tuition. We use the resulting 
growth rates as the basis for Step 3.

All Years 4.75%

2020-21 2.4%
2021-29 5.5%
2029-31+ 5.0%

Key Economic Assumptions

Tuition Growth
(Excludes Differential Tuition)

Investment Returns 

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

42

Appendix A ★ Assumptions, Methods, and Data
3. Scaling Factor — Represents an adjustment to the increase or decrease in assumed tuition 
in response to a corresponding decrease or increase in state funding. For every dollar decrease 
(increase) in state funding, we scale the assumed tuition increases (decreases) by a fraction of that 
dollar, because past experience indicates that not every dollar of state funding is replaced by an 
increased dollar of tuition growth. Our scaling factor assumption is 75 percent. In Step 3 of the 
model, we adjust the tuition growth rates after state funding by our scaling factor assumption, but 
not below our long-term assumption of 5 percent. Lastly, we set the first two years of tuition growth 
rates consistent with the recently enacted state budget for higher education and smooth the growth 
rates for years thereafter.

We combine these three steps of the model to inform our expectations for the future and rely on 
professional judgment in setting the best estimate tuition growth assumptions.

Chapter 36, Laws of 2015, 3rd Special Legislative Session, also established a policy to limit resident, 
undergraduate tuition growth rates to no more than the annual growth rate in the median state 
wage. If future Legislatures continue this policy, we would expect future tuition growth rates closer 
to 3-4 percent per year. However, the current Legislature cannot obligate a future Legislature. The 
long-term sustainability of the current higher education budget is not certain, and past experience 
consistently demonstrates that higher education tuition policy changes typically remain for short-
term periods consistent with business cycles. Because of historical experience, legislative past 
practice, and significant revenue shortfalls due to COVID-19 impacts, we have assumed tuition 
growth rates that we believe are more reflective of long-term practices and consistent with our 
expectations for the future. We will continue to monitor future tuition policy and update our tuition 
growth assumptions with actual tuition growth experience.

The program’s funded status is highly sensitive to short-term changes in tuition growth. For 
example, under an alternate tuition scenario (as shown in the following table), we assume the 
recently enacted tuition policy changes hold indefinitely. Under that scenario, the funded status, 
measured at June 30, 2020, would rise from 131 percent to 
152 percent and the reserve would increase from $369 million 
to $537 million.

The tuition growth assumption does not consider the potential 
impacts of differential tuition. The impact from differential tuition 
could vary based on how it interacts with the current contracts. If 
the payout value is tied to the highest rate of differential tuition, 
the tuition growth assumption would likely increase. However, if 
the payout value were tied to the lowest rate of differential tuition, 
the tuition growth assumption could decrease, as base tuition may 
not need to increase as fast with higher differential tuition making 
up the difference.

School 
Year

Annual Tuition
Growth

2021-22 2.3%
2022-23 2.4%
2023-24 2.5%
2024-25 2.6%
2025-26 2.7%
2026-27 2.8%
2027-28 2.9%
2028-29 3.1%
2029-30 3.2%
2030-31 3.4%
2031-32+ 3.5%

Tuition Growth Assumption 
Alternate Growth Scenario

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  43

Appendix A ★ Assumptions, Methods, and Data

BEHAVIORAL ASSUMPTIONS

We’ve made the following assumptions for GET contract holders.

 ❖ Rate of Redemption — The following shows what percent of a contract holder’s total units 
we expect will be used upon reaching college (or their “use year”).

All Years 20%

Redemption Rate

As a result of the last experience study, we removed the Rate of Monthly Payment Default and 
Rate of Refund from our model. We found those assumptions unnecessary (and not material) for 
the purposes of this measurement. However, those assumptions could be necessary for another 
measurement. Please see the 2015 GET Experience Study for further details.

While this valuation does not consider the impact of future unit sales, Appendix D of this report 
outlines the best estimate unit price for the prior and upcoming enrollment periods, the price-
setting guidelines used to determine the best estimate, and the unit price adopted by the WA529 
Committee. The best estimate is based on the expected investment returns and tuition growth 
discussed in the Economic Assumptions subsection. We assumed that neither the Legislature nor 
the WA529 Committee will make changes to the program over the enrollment period.

MISCELLANEOUS

For purposes of the valuation, we assume mid-valuation year timing on payments in and out 
of the fund.

METHODS

We valued the current unredeemed units and asset values in the GET program by estimating the 
future tuition payments (cash outflow from unit redemptions), administrative expenses (cash 
outflow), and monthly contract payments (cash inflow). The estimation of future cash flows required 
assumptions about:

 ❖ When the contract holder will redeem their units (based on the reported “use year”).

 ❖ What tuition will be in future years.

 ❖ What administrative expenses will be over time.

 ❖ The payment amount and payments due for each monthly contract.

We discounted these cash flows to today’s value in order to calculate the plan’s funded status at the 
valuation date. Discounting the cash flows to today’s value requires an assumption for how invested 
money will grow over time. In this case, we’ve assumed a growth rate of 4.75 percent, which means 
$1 today is worth $1.0475 next year due to investment earnings. Discounting moves the opposite 
way and states that $1.0475 a year from now will be worth $1 today. Discounting all the cash flows 
to one common year allows for an apples-to-apples comparison of all cash flows.

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

44

Appendix A ★ Assumptions, Methods, and Data

DATA

We used the contract data file provided by WA529 staff. We relied on this data as accurate and 
complete, and valued each entry in the file. We did not perform an audit of this data but reviewed 
the data and believe it is reasonable for the purposes of our work. We used data entries such as:

 ❖ Program Year — The contract holder’s entry year into the program.

 ❖ Use Year — When the contract holder expects to start using units for tuition (or other 
qualified expenses).

 ❖ Payment Amount — The monthly amount the contract holder owes on their payment plan.

 ❖ Payments Due — The number of monthly payments left on contract holder’s monthly 
payment plan.

 ❖ Units Outstanding — The number of units the contract holder currently owns, and units 
still being paid for under a monthly payment plan.

To set our tuition growth assumption, we studied the historical tuition data in the following table. 
We also examined average tuition growth and standard deviation over different time periods.

Year
Tuition 
Growth Year

Tuition 
Growth

1982-83 11.0% 2002-03 16.0% 
1983-84 11.2% 2003-04 7.0% 
1984-85 0.0% 2004-05 6.6% 
1985-86 22.7% 2005-06 6.8% 
1986-87 0.0% 2006-07 6.9% 
1987-88 7.9% 2007-08 6.8% 
1988-89 3.8% 2008-09 6.8% 
1989-90 1.7% 2009-10 13.1% 
1990-91 6.9% 2010-11 13.1% 
1991-92 11.5% 2011-12 19.0% 
1992-93 3.4% 2012-13 15.2% 
1993-94 12.4% 2013-14 0.0% 
1994-95 14.8% 2014-15 0.0% 
1995-96 3.9% 2015-16 (5.0%)
1996-97 4.0% 2016-17 (9.1%)
1997-98 3.9% 2017-18 2.1% 
1998-99 4.0% 2018-19 2.1% 
1999-00 3.7% 2019-20 2.3% 
2000-01 3.4% 2020-21 2.4% 
2001-02 7.1% 

Historical Tuition Growth
Time Period Average Standard Deviation

5-Years (0.2%) 4.9% 
10-Years 2.6% 8.5% 
20-Years 5.7% 6.9% 
39-Years 6.2% 6.4% 

Historical Tuition Growth

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  45

Appendix B ★ Assets
The table below provides information on the types of asset investments, or asset classes, and 
WSIB 2019 CMAs. In late 2019, WSIB adopted a new asset allocation. The target asset allocation 
was moved to 40 percent global equity and 60 percent fixed income (the percentages were reversed 
under the prior allocation). This resulted in a more conservative program portfolio. For additional 
information on the program’s assets, see the Best Estimate Results section.

Asset Return
Standard 
Deviation Weight

Fixed Income 4.40% 6.00% 60%
Global Equities 8.50% 18.50% 40%
Portfolio 6.04% 8.70% 100%
Correlation Fixed Income
Fixed Income 1.00
Global Equities 0.15

Capital Market Assumptions

Global Equities

1.00

The average 6.04 percent portfolio return is a one-year arithmetic return. When compounded over a 
15-year period, the arithmetic return decreases to a 5.45 percent median geometric return.

In past valuations, we selected a best estimate assumption that approximated the 45th percentile of 
simulated annual returns over a 15-year period to represent a margin for “adverse deviation” given 
the large degree of uncertainty with future returns. Under the more conservative asset allocation, 
we no longer believe this margin is needed.

However, we believe the actions taken 
by the Federal Reserve in the wake 
of COVID-19 will result in lower 
investment yields over the next 
15 years. This reduction could have a 
material impact on future returns for 
the GET portfolio due to the larger 
allocation to fixed income investments 
from the new investment policy.

Taking into consideration the more 
conservative asset allocation, the 
removal of the margin for “adverse 
deviation”, and future expectations 
around long-term economic impacts 
from COVID-19, we used our 
professional judgment to select 
an assumed 4.75 percent rate of investment return per year (down from 5.25 percent). We will 
continue to monitor the program’s investment returns, investment policy, and will review and 
potentially update the return assumption after we receive updated CMAs from WSIB in the 
Spring of 2021.

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

46

Appendix B ★ Assets
The following tables shows the historical rates of investment return and program funded status for 
the GET trust fund since the inception of the program.

Fiscal 
Year

Funded 
Status

1999 110.1% 
2000 113.4% 
2001 104.9% 
2002 89.6% 
2003 98.4% 
2004 104.5% 
2005 108.1% 
2006 108.8% 
2007 117.4% 
2008 109.5% 
2009 84.2% 
2010 86.2% 
2011 79.1% 
2012 78.5% 
2013 94.1% 
2014 105.8% 
2015 140.1% 
2016 135.6% 
2017 132.8% 
2018* 130.2% 
2019* 131.3% 
2020 131.0% 

Historical Funded 
Status

*Includes the impacts of
  ESB 6087 (C 188, L 2018).

Fiscal 
Year

Investment 
Return

1999* 4.96% 
2000 10.25% 
2001 (1.63%)
2002 (2.79%)
2003 7.56% 
2004 16.00% 
2005 10.07% 
2006 8.94% 
2007 14.77% 
2008 (0.70%)
2009 (16.02%)
2010 12.68% 
2011 20.46% 
2012 0.07% 
2013 9.59% 
2014 16.36% 
2015 0.83% 
2016 0.61% 
2017 10.92% 
2018 6.35% 
2019 5.29% 

2020 7.40% 
*Represents 9-month
  return.

Historical Investment 
Returns

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  47

Appendix C ★ Contract Data
The following tables summarize units and contracts by the contract enrollment year and initial 
contract use year.

Enrollment 
Year Unit Price Units Sold

1998-99 $35 1,374,095
1999-00 38 615,327
2000-01 41 523,702
2001-02 42 2,463,500
2002-03 52 2,099,531
2003-04 57 1,896,635
2004-05 61 2,108,360
2005-06 66 2,146,191
2006-07 70 2,339,431
2007-08 74 2,102,305
2008-09 76 3,177,699
2009-10 101 2,624,367
2010-11 117 2,697,696
2011-12 163*  1,503,962**
2012-13 172* 1,038,773
2013-14 172* 741,701
2014-15 172* 618,367
2015-16*** - 0
2016-17*** - 0
2017-18 113 770,665
2018-19 113 639,646
2019-20 $121 505,222

Number of Units
Sold by Unit Price

**Restated number of units sold.
***Unit sales suspended.

*Price includes amortization component that
  was subsequently refunded.

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

48

Appendix C ★ Contract Data

Use Year
Expected Unit 

Value
Units Starting

 to be Used
2020* $111 2,808,498
2021 117 803,298
2022 124 808,960
2023 130 790,208
2024 138 775,161
2025 145 765,091
2026 153 728,113
2027 162 603,848
2028 170 519,547
2029 179 367,904
2030 188 304,508
2031 197 239,347
2032 207 189,459
2033 217 148,081
2034 228 126,857
2035 240 114,429
2036 252 104,396
2037 264 66,296
2038 278 25,058
2039 291 8
2040 $306 0

Number of Units
Outstanding by Use Year

*Includes contracts that already started using
  units.

Use Year
Expected 
Unit Value

Contracts Starting
 to be Used

2020* $111 20,578
2021 117 4,058
2022 124 4,165
2023 130 4,130
2024 138 4,260
2025 145 4,237
2026 153 4,189
2027 162 3,653
2028 170 3,357
2029 179 2,622
2030 188 2,400
2031 197 2,074
2032 207 1,736
2033 217 1,379
2034 228 1,152
2035 240 1,112
2036 252 1,067
2037 264 723
2038 278 260
2039 291 1
2040 $306 0

Number of Contracts
Outstanding by Use Year

*Includes contracts that already started using
  units.

DRAFT



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

  49

Appendix D ★ Price-Setting Guidelines
In 2011, the GET Committee adopted new price-setting guidelines that determine how we price 
future units. These guidelines address the new tuition-setting policy established by the Legislature 
at that time and were intended to return the program to a fully funded status. The price-setting 
guidelines adopted in 2011 include the following four parts:

 ❖ Expected Cost — Covers the expected cost of future tuition and applicable 
state-mandated fees.

 ❖ Expenses — Contributes to the payment of administrative expenses. We calculate this 
amount as the present value of expected administrative expenses per outstanding unit and 
adjust forward for one year of interest.

 ❖ Reserve — Covers unexpected future costs such as above-expected tuition growth or below-
expected investment returns. This component can be increased or decreased to alter the 
probability that a unit will ever create an unfunded liability in the future.

 ❖ Amortization — An optional component that covers unexpected past costs from 
significant program or policy changes. This component did not apply to the most recent 
price-setting analysis.

The WA529 Committee, at their September 2020 meeting, adopted a new unit price of $133 
for future sales starting on November 1, 2020. For further details, including sensitivity and 
risk analysis, please see the presentation titled, 2020-21 GET Unit Price-Setting, in the WA529 
September meeting material located on the WSAC website.

2019-20 Enrollment
Unit Price Best Estimate Range* Best Estimate Best Estimate
Expected Cost $116.91 $102.86
Expenses 3.03 2.78
Reserve 17.99 15.85
Amortization N/A N/A
Total Unit Price $129.00 - $147.00 $137.00 $121.00

$133.00 $121.00

**Unit price adopted by the WA529 Committee.

GET Unit Price Information
2020-21 Enrollment

Unit Price Adopted** 
Note:  Totals may not agree due to rounding.
*Best estimate range based on tuition growth rates shown in this report.DRAFT

https://wsac.wa.gov/get


GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION PROGRAM

50

Appendix D ★ Price-Setting Guidelines
To determine the best estimate unit price and range, we estimate the future payout value of a single 
unit based on assumptions for future tuition growth and holding periods for the unit (the duration 
between purchase and redemption). We calculate the present value of this unit by discounting the 
future payout value using the expected rate of investment return.

This calculation is performed using economic assumptions for tuition growth and investment return 
matching those used in the valuation. Please see Appendix A for more information.

The holding periods for the unit are based on demographic assumptions about new enrollments. We 
use the new entrant profile outlined in the table below to estimate the present value cost of future 
unit payouts associated with the sale of a single unit. Please see the 2015 GET Experience Study for 
further details.

Length in 
Program 
(Years)

% Lump 
Sum

Lump Sum 
Units 

Purchased
% Monthly 

Payment Plan

Monthly Payment 
Plan 

Units Purchased

Length of 
Monthly Payment 

Plan (Months)
2 0.2% 94 0.0% 0 0
3 1.6% 78 0.2% 76 25
4 1.0% 77 0.4% 79 37
5 1.5% 82 0.7% 78 48
6 1.9% 80 0.9% 101 59
7 2.2% 89 1.2% 93 69
8 2.7% 99 1.3% 106 80
9 2.9% 93 1.4% 113 92

10 3.1% 84 1.5% 110 102
11 3.0% 97 1.7% 108 114
12 3.3% 87 1.8% 119 125
13 3.6% 89 1.7% 120 132
14 5.0% 79 2.5% 114 144
15 4.8% 62 2.2% 111 156
16 5.5% 63 2.6% 115 163
17 6.5% 56 2.7% 121 175
18 12.0% 59 4.2% 123 190
19 8.3% 76 3.9% 133 199
20 0.0% 7 0.0% 133 112

Total 69.1% 74 30.7% 115 142

Future Purchaser Cohort Assumption

DRAFT



DRAFT



NOVEMBER 2020

2020
ACTUARIAL
VALUATION
REPORT

Guaranteed Education Tuition ProgramDRAFT



    

Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College Savings www.wastate529.wa.gov 

 
DRAFT 

Washington College Savings Plans Rollover 
Report to the Governor and the Legislature 

December 2020 
 

Introduction 
The Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College Savings operates two 529 
college savings plans: The Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) program and the 
DreamAhead College Investment Plan. Per the plans’ enabling statute, Chapter 28B.95 
RCW, GET and DreamAhead were established to encourage savings and enhance the 
ability of Washington citizens to obtain financial access to institutions of higher 
education. The plans are also designed to complement one another to save towards the 
full cost of attending college. 
 
Washington is one of 49 states, along with the District of Columbia, that offers one or 
more 529 college savings plans to the public. These tax-advantaged savings vehicles 
offer tax-deferred growth and tax-free withdrawals when a qualifying distribution is 
made. Qualifying distributions include those to cover qualified higher education 
expenses such as tuition, fees, room and board, books, and supplies. They also include 
rollover distributions to other 529 or 529A (ABLE) plans. 
 
Statute, RCW 28B.95.045(2), requires the WA529 Committee to report annually to the 
Governor and the appropriate committees of the Legislature on:  
 

(a) The number of accounts that have been rolled into the Washington college 
savings program from out of state and 

(b) The number of accounts rolled out of the Washington college savings program to 
529 plans into other states. 

 
This statutory requirement only applies to DreamAhead (known statutorily as the 
“Washington College Savings Program”). However, for additional context, the following 
report provides these rollover statistics for both GET and DreamAhead for State Fiscal 
Year 2020. 
 
WA529 Rollovers  
Table 1 below provides an overview of these GET to DreamAhead rollovers, as well as 
rollovers between GET and out-of-state plans and DreamAhead and out-of-state plans. 
  



 

Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College Savings Page 2 
 

TABLE 1: GET and DreamAhead Rollovers – State Fiscal Year 2020 

Rollover Type Number of 
Accounts 

Incoming Rollovers From Out-of-State Plans 
Rollovers into GET 63 
Rollovers into DreamAhead 61 

Outgoing Rollovers to Out-of-State Plans 
Rollovers from GET 68 
Rollovers from DreamAhead 558 

Rollovers between GET and DreamAhead 
  Rollovers from GET to DreamAhead 28 

Rollovers from DreamAhead to GET 29 
 

Additional Notes 

• Of the 558 rollovers from DreamAhead to out-of-state plans, 469 (84%) of them 
were for accounts that originally rolled over from GET as part of the incentive 
program offered by Senate Bill 6087 (2018). 

• Additional details underlying these rollovers (dollar amounts, sending/receiving 
plans, etc.) are available upon request to WA529 Director, Luke Minor at 
lucasm@wsac.wa.gov. 

• The WA529 Committee will provide an update to this report by December 1, 
2021. 

mailto:lucasm@wsac.wa.gov


    

Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College Savings www.wastate529.wa.gov 

 
DRAFT 

DreamAhead College Investment Plan Program Fees 
Report to the Governor and the Legislature 

December 2020 
 

Introduction 
The DreamAhead College Investment Plan is the state’s 529 college investment plan, 
opened in April 2018. Per the plan’s enabling statute, Chapter 28B.95 RCW, 
DreamAhead is intended to complement the Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) 
prepaid tuition program to help families save towards the full cost of college. 
 
Washington is one of 49 states, along with the District of Columbia, that offers a direct-
sold 529 college investment plan directly to the public without an intermediary such as 
an investment advisor or broker. Unlike prepaid tuition plans such as GET, which 
typically permit only savers who reside within the plan’s home state, college investment 
plans are typically available to savers nationwide.  
 
Accordingly, in order to ensure DreamAhead is competitive nationally, the Legislature 
has set statutory limitations on investment fees charged to plan participants. 
Specifically, RCW 28B.95.087(3) states: “beginning January 1, 2018, fees charged to 
the owner may not exceed one-half of one percent for any investment option on an 
annual basis.” Additionally, the Legislature requires the WA529 Committee to report to 
the Governor and the appropriate committees of the Legislature regarding the total fees 
charged to each investment option offered by DreamAhead. 
 
The following report provides the fees charged for each investment portfolio, as of 
December 1, 2020.  
 

DreamAhead Fee Review 
DreamAhead has no commissions, loads, or sales charges. As of December 1, 2020, 
total annual asset-based fees vary from 0.254% to 0.330%, depending upon the 
Portfolio(s) a participant chooses. See Table 1 below for an overview of the asset-based 
fees charged for each of the 37 different investment portfolios, as well as fee reductions 
that have taken place within the last year. 
  



 

Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College Savings Page 2 

TABLE 1: ANNUAL DREAMAHEAD ASSET-BASED FEES BY INVESTMENT 
PORTFOLIO (EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2020) 

 

Portfolio name Underlying 
fund fee 

Service 
fee 

State 
Administrative 

fee 

Total 
Annual 
Asset-

Based Fee 

Change 
since 

12/1/19 
(in bps)3 

Static      
Growth 0.034% 0.120% 0.100% 0.254% -0.1 bps 
Moderate Growth 0.053% 0.120% 0.100% 0.273% -0.2 bps 
Conservative Growth 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
Balanced 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
Income & Growth 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
Income  0.070% 0.120% 0.100% 0.290% -1.9 bps 
Cash Preservation 0.110% 0.120% 0.100% 0.330% -7.0 bps 

Conservative Year of Enrollment  
20381 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.1 bps 
2036 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
2034 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
2032 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
2030 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
2028 0.066% 0.120% 0.100% 0.286% -1.5 bps 
2026 0.070% 0.120% 0.100% 0.290% -1.9 bps 
2024 0.089% 0.120% 0.100% 0.309% -3.6 bps 
2022 0.089% 0.120% 0.100% 0.309% -3.6 bps 
College Enrolled2 0.089% 0.120% 0.100% 0.309% -3.6 bps 

Moderate Year of Enrollment  
20381 0.043% 0.120% 0.100% 0.263% -0.1 bps 
2036 0.043% 0.120% 0.100% 0.263% -0.1 bps 
2034 0.053% 0.120% 0.100% 0.273% -0.2 bps 
2032 0.053% 0.120% 0.100% 0.273% -0.2 bps 
2030 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
2028 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
2026 0.055% 0.120% 0.100% 0.275% -0.5 bps 
2024 0.059% 0.120% 0.100% 0.279% -0.8 bps 
2022 0.066% 0.120% 0.100% 0.286% -1.5 bps 
College Enrolled2 0.074% 0.120% 0.100% 0.294% -2.2 bps 

Growth Year of Enrollment  
20381 0.044% 0.120% 0.100% 0.264% -0.1 bps 
2036 0.044% 0.120% 0.100% 0.264% -0.1 bps 
2034 0.043% 0.120% 0.100% 0.263% -0.1 bps 
2032 0.043% 0.120% 0.100% 0.263% -0.1 bps 
2030 0.054% 0.120% 0.100% 0.274% -0.2 bps 
2028 0.053% 0.120% 0.100% 0.273% -0.2 bps 
2026 0.053% 0.120% 0.100% 0.273% -0.2 bps 
2024 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
2022 0.052% 0.120% 0.100% 0.272% -0.2 bps 
College Enrolled2 0.074% 0.120% 0.100% 0.294% -2.2 bps 

 

1The 2038 Year of Enrollment portfolios are new portfolios introduced on July 1, 2020. 
2On July 1, 2020, the 2018 and 2020 Year of Enrollment portfolios moved into the new College Enrolled ‘terminal’ portfolios. On July 
1 of every even numbered year beginning in 2022, that year’s portfolios will move into the College Enrolled portfolios. 
3One basis point is equal to 1/100th of one percent. Total underlying fund fees for each Year of Enrollment portfolio can differ year-
to-year as the portfolios adjust asset allocations over time. Accordingly, fee changes are calculated based on comparing current 
fees charged for each portfolio as of December 1, 2020 to fees that were charged (or would have been charged) for the 
corresponding asset allocation as of December 1, 2019. 



 

Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment and College Savings Page 3 

Additional Notes 
 

• On October 27, 2020, investment ratings outlet, Morningstar, released it’s 2020 
529 plan ratings. For the first time, Morningstar included DreamAhead in its 
coverage. DreamAhead received a “Bronze Medal” rating which, according to 
Morningstar, makes DreamAhead a “best-in-class” 529 savings plan. As part of 
this rating, Morningstar determined that DreamAhead’s fees were “Below 
Average,” which garnered a “Positive” rating in their “Price” pillar.  

• DreamAhead continues to be rated highly by savingforcollege.com, based on 
their “5-cap” rating system. As of November 1, 2020, DreamAhead was rated 5 
out of 5 caps for in-state residents and 4.5 out of 5 caps for out-of-state 
residents, with a “Fee Score” of 4.5 out of 5. 

• Since this report was last updated in December 2019, DreamAhead has again 
been able lower asset-based fees for participants (see Table 1 above for 
reduction amounts). The most notable decreases occurred in the more 
conservative investment options, primarily due to a change in the underlying 
money market fund. Notable decreases include: 

o Seven basis point (7 bps) reduction to the Cash Preservation Portfolio; 
o 3.6 bps reduction to the 2024, 2022, and College Enrolled Conservative 

Year of Enrollment Portfolios; 
o 2.2 bps reduction to the College Enrolled Growth and College Enrolled 

Moderate Year of Enrollment Portfolios;  
o 1.9 bps reduction to the Static Income Portfolio and the 2026 Conservative 

Year of Enrollment Portfolio; and 
o 1.5 bps reduction to the 2028 Conservative and 2022 Moderate Year of 

Enrollment Portfolios. 
• DreamAhead also charges an Annual Account Maintenance Fee of $35 to each 

Account. As stated in the DreamAhead College Investment Plan: Policy Goals, 
Objectives, and Performance Measures Update report to the Legislature dated 
January 2020, the WA529 Committee is committed to eliminating the plan’s 
account maintenance fee as soon as possible, as plan assets grow. 

• The WA529 Committee will provide an update to this report before December 1, 
2021. 

https://www.morningstar.com/articles/1006084/the-top-529-college-savings-plans-of-2020
https://www.morningstar.com/articles/1006084/the-top-529-college-savings-plans-of-2020
https://www.savingforcollege.com/529-plans/washington/dreamahead-college-investment-plan

	0 - 11.12.20_WA529 Committee Meeting Agenda
	WA529 Committee Meeting

	0 - 11.12.2020 Committee Meeting Packet Contents
	WA529 Committee Meeting

	0 - WA529 Committee Meeting Main Slide Deck 11.12.2020
	1 - 09.09.20 WA529 Committee Meeting Minutes
	2 - 2021 Proposed Committee Meeting Calendar
	Background

	3 - GET 2020 Third Quarter Committee Report
	4 - GET Q3 2020 Investment Report
	5 - DreamAhead 2020 Third Quarter Committee Report
	6 - DreamAhead Investment Advisory Report Q3 2020
	Contents
	Executive Summary
	Five Trends to Consider

	WIN
	Whip Up Some Inflation Now
	The Biden Plan
	The Trump Plan
	Wartime Footing
	How to Cut Debt
	No Fiscal Discipline
	Monetary Policy: At Zero Until Next Presidential Election Cycle
	Currency Volatility
	Rough September
	Unusual Technical and Volatility Market Setup
	COVID-19 Is Global
	U.S.
	Need Immediate Money
	Performance Review
	Static Portfolio Review
	Conservative Year of Enrollment Portfolio Review
	Moderate Year of Enrollment Portfolio Review
	Growth Year of Enrollment Portfolio Review
	DreamAhead College Investment Plan Mutual Fund Evaluations
	Presented by Lockwood Advisors, Inc.

	Fidelity Emerging Markets Index Fund (FPADX)
	Fidelity International Index Fund (FSPSX)
	Fidelity Total Market Index Fund (FSKAX)
	Fidelity U.S. Bond Index Fund (FXNAX)
	Schwab Total Stock Market Index Fund® (SWTSX)
	Schwab® Treasury Inflation Protected Securities Index Fund (SWRSX)
	Vanguard Emerging Markets Government Bond Index Fund Institutional Shares (VGIVX)
	Vanguard Federal Money Market Fund (VMFXX)
	Vanguard Long-Term Treasury Index Fund Institutional Shares (VLGIX)
	Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Fund Institutional Plus Shares (VBMPX)
	Important Disclosures

	7 - Draft.2020.GAVR
	Acknowledgments
	Table of Contents
	Letter of Introduction
	Executive Summary
	Intended Use
	Comments on 2020 Results
	Funded Status of Current Contracts
	Risks Inherent in Actuarial Measurements
	Projection of Current Contracts
	Key Assumptions
	Contract Data

	Actuarial Certification
	Background
	Program History and Goals
	Plan Description

	Best Estimate Results
	Participant Data
	Actuarial Liabilities
	Program Assets
	Funded Status
	Program Projections

	Sensitivity of Best Estimate Results
	Closed Program Scenario Sensitivity
	Actuarial Fund Value Sensitivity
	Terminated Program Scenario Cash Flows
	Terminated Program Scenario Sensitivity

	Appendices
	Appendix A ★ Assumptions, Methods, and Data
	Economic Assumptions
	Behavioral Assumptions
	Miscellaneous
	Methods
	Data

	Appendix B ★ Assets
	Appendix C ★ Contract Data
	Appendix D ★ Price-Setting Guidelines

	8 - DRAFT WA529 FY20 Rollover Report
	9 - DRAFT DreamAhead FY20 Fee Report



